

# CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

**Integrated Development Environment** 

User's Manual: Analysis

Target Device 78K0 Microcontroller RL78 Family 78K0R Microcontroller R8C Family V850 Family RX Family

All information contained in these matenals, including products and product specifications, represents information on the product at the time of publication and is subject to change by Renesas Electronics Corp. without notice. Please review the latest information published by Renesas Electronics Corp. through various means, including the Renesas Electronics Corp. website (http://www.renesas.com).

#### Notice

- 1. Descriptions of circuits, software and other related information in this document are provided only to illustrate the operation of semiconductor products and application examples. You are fully responsible for the incorporation of these circuits, software, and information in the design of your equipment. Renesas Electronics assumes no responsibility for any losses incurred by you or third parties arising from the use of these circuits, software, or information.
- 2. Renesas Electronics has used reasonable care in preparing the information included in this document, but Renesas Electronics does not warrant that such information is error free. Renesas Electronics assumes no liability whatsoever for any damages incurred by you resulting from errors in or omissions from the information included herein.
- 3. Renesas Electronics does not assume any liability for infringement of patents, copyrights, or other intellectual property rights of third parties by or arising from the use of Renesas Electronics products or technical information described in this document. No license, express, implied or otherwise, is granted hereby under any patents, copyrights or other intellectual property rights of Renesas Electronics or others.
- 4. You should not alter, modify, copy, or otherwise misappropriate any Renesas Electronics product, whether in whole or in part. Renesas Electronics assumes no responsibility for any losses incurred by you or third parties arising from such alteration, modification, copy or otherwise misappropriation of Renesas Electronics product.
- 5. Renesas Electronics products are classified according to the following two quality grades: "Standard" and "High Quality". The recommended applications for each Renesas Electronics product depends on the product's quality grade, as indicated below.

"Standard": Computers; office equipment; communications equipment; test and measurement equipment; audio and visual equipment; home electronic appliances; machine tools; personal electronic equipment; and industrial robots etc.

"High Quality": Transportation equipment (automobiles, trains, ships, etc.); traffic control systems; anti-disaster systems; anticrime systems; and safety equipment etc.

Renesas Electronics products are neither intended nor authorized for use in products or systems that may pose a direct threat to human life or bodily injury (artificial life support devices or systems, surgical implantations etc.), or may cause serious property damages (nuclear reactor control systems, military equipment etc.). You must check the quality grade of each Renesas Electronics product before using it in a particular application. You may not use any Renesas Electronics product for any application for which it is not intended. Renesas Electronics shall not be in any way liable for any damages or losses incurred by you or third parties arising from the use of any Renesas Electronics product for which the product is not intended by Renesas Electronics.

- 6. You should use the Renesas Electronics products described in this document within the range specified by Renesas Electronics, especially with respect to the maximum rating, operating supply voltage range, movement power voltage range, heat radiation characteristics, installation and other product characteristics. Renesas Electronics shall have no liability for malfunctions or damages arising out of the use of Renesas Electronics products beyond such specified ranges.
- 7. Although Renesas Electronics endeavors to improve the quality and reliability of its products, semiconductor products have specific characteristics such as the occurrence of failure at a certain rate and malfunctions under certain use conditions. Further, Renesas Electronics products are not subject to radiation resistance design. Please be sure to implement safety measures to guard them against the possibility of physical injury, and injury or damage caused by fire in the event of the failure of a Renesas Electronics product, such as safety design for hardware and software including but not limited to redundancy, fire control and malfunction prevention, appropriate treatment for aging degradation or any other appropriate measures. Because the evaluation of microcomputer software alone is very difficult, please evaluate the safety of the final products or systems manufactured by you.
- 8. Please contact a Renesas Electronics sales office for details as to environmental matters such as the environmental compatibility of each Renesas Electronics product. Please use Renesas Electronics products in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations that regulate the inclusion or use of controlled substances, including without limitation, the EU RoHS Directive. Renesas Electronics assumes no liability for damages or losses occurring as a result of your noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- 9. Renesas Electronics products and technology may not be used for or incorporated into any products or systems whose manufacture, use, or sale is prohibited under any applicable domestic or foreign laws or regulations. You should not use Renesas Electronics products or technology described in this document for any purpose relating to military applications or use by the military, including but not limited to the development of weapons of mass destruction. When exporting the Renesas Electronics products or technology described in this document, you should comply with the applicable export control laws and regulations and follow the procedures required by such laws and regulations.
- 10. It is the responsibility of the buyer or distributor of Renesas Electronics products, who distributes, disposes of, or otherwise places the product with a third party, to notify such third party in advance of the contents and conditions set forth in this document, Renesas Electronics assumes no responsibility for any losses incurred by you or third parties as a result of unauthorized use of Renesas Electronics products.
- 11. This document may not be reproduced or duplicated in any form, in whole or in part, without prior written consent of Renesas Electronics.
- 12. Please contact a Renesas Electronics sales office if you have any questions regarding the information contained in this document or Renesas Electronics products, or if you have any other inquiries.
- (Note 1) "Renesas Electronics" as used in this document means Renesas Electronics Corporation and also includes its majorityowned subsidiaries.
- (Note 2) "Renesas Electronics product(s)" means any product developed or manufactured by or for Renesas Electronics.

# How to Use This Manual

This manual describes the role of the CubeSuite+ integrated development environment for developing applications and systems for RX family, V850 family, R8C family (Localised support), RL78 family, 78K0R microcontrollers, 78K0 microcontrollers, and provides an outline of its features.

CubeSuite+ is an integrated development environment (IDE) for RX family, V850 family, R8C family (Localised support), RL78 family, 78K0R microcontrollers, 78K0 microcontrollers, integrating the necessary tools for the development phase of software (e.g. design, implementation, and debugging) into a single platform.

By providing an integrated environment, it is possible to perform all development using just this product, without the need to use many different tools separately.

Readers	This manual is intended for users who wish to understand the functions of the CubeSuite+ and design software and hardware application systems.				
Purpose	This manual is intended to give users an understanding of the functions of the CubeSuite+ to use for reference in developing the hardware or software of systems using these devices.				
Organization	This manual can be broadly divided into the following units.				
	CHAPTER 1 GENERAL CHAPTER 2 FUNCTIONS CHAPTER 3 CAUTIONS APPENDIX A WINDOW REFERENCE APPENDIX B INDEX				
How to Read This Manual	It is assumed that the reader logic circuits, and microconti	rs of this manual have general knowledge of electricity, rollers.			
Conventions	Data significance: Active low representation: Note: Caution: Remark: Numeric representation:	Higher digits on the left and lower digits on the right XXX (overscore over pin or signal name) Footnote for item marked with Note in the text Information requiring particular attention Supplementary information Decimal XXXX Hexadecimal 0xXXXX			

#### **Related Documents**

The related documents indicated in this publication may include preliminary versions. However, preliminary versions are not marked as such.

Document Nan	Document Name		
CubeSuite+	Start	R20UT2133E	
Integrated Development Environment	V850 Design	R20UT2134E	
User's Manual	R8C Design	R20UT2135E	
	RL78 Design	R20UT2136E	
	78K0R Design	R20UT2137E	
	78K0 Design	R20UT2138E	
	RX Coding	R20UT0767E	
	V850 Coding	R20UT0553E	
	Coding for CX Compiler	R20UT2139E	
	R8C Coding	R20UT0576E	
	RL78, 78K0R Coding	R20UT2140E	
	78K0 Coding	R20UT2141E	
	RX Build	R20UT0768E	
	V850 Build	R20UT0557E	
	Build for CX Compiler	R20UT2142E	
	R8C Build	R20UT0575E	
	RL78, 78K0R Build	R20UT2143E	
	78K0 Build	R20UT0783E	
	RX Debug	R20UT2175E	
	V850 Debug	R20UT2144E	
	R8C Debug	R20UT0770E	
	RL78 Debug	R20UT2145E	
	78K0R Debug	R20UT0732E	
	78K0 Debug	R20UT0731E	
	Analysis	This manual	
	Message	R20UT2147E	

Caution The related documents listed above are subject to change without notice. Be sure to use the latest edition of each document when designing.

All trademarks or registered trademarks in this document are the property of their respective owners.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# CHAPTER 1 GENERAL ... 7

1.1 Summary ... 7
1.1.1 What is analyzed ... 7
1.1.2 Types of analysis information ... 7
1.2 Features ... 10

# CHAPTER 2 FUNCTIONS ... 14

- 2.1 Overview ... 14
- 2.2 Display Function Information ... 19
- 2.3 Display Variable Information ... 20
- 2.4 Display Calling Relationships between Functions (Call Graph) ... 21
- 2.5 Display Class/Function/Variable Information ... 26
- 2.6 Customize Display Method ... 28
  - 2.6.1 Set the columns to display ... 28
  - 2.6.2 Change the order of the columns to display ... 30
  - 2.6.3 Lock the specific column to display ... 31
  - 2.6.4 Sort the analysis information ... 31
  - 2.6.5 Filter the analysis information ... 31
- 2.7 Jump to Defined Location ... 34
- 2.8 Jump to Declared Location ... 36
- 2.9 Set Break Events ... 37
  - 2.9.1 Set a breakpoint to a function ... 37
  - 2.9.2 Set a break event to a variable ... 37
- 2.10 Register Watch-Expressions ... 39
- 2.11 Display List of Referencing Location ... 40
- 2.12 Import or Export Information File ... 41
- 2.13 Display Analysis Information in Chart ... 45
  2.13.1 Graph transitions in values ... 45
  2.13.2 Chart the function execution time ratios ... 59
- 2.14 Save Analysis Information ... 61

# CHAPTER 3 CAUTIONS ... 63

- 3.1 Changing Active Project ... 63
- 3.2 Coverage Results ... 63
- 3.3 Trace Data Analysis ... 63
- 3.4 When the Panel Is Opened during Execution of Program ... 63

# APPENDIX A WINDOW REFERENCE ... 65

A.1 Description ... 65

APPENDIX B INDEX ... 175

# CHAPTER 1 GENERAL

This chapter describes an overview of the analyze tool (Program Analyzer).

#### 1.1 Summary

The analyze tool is a component provided by CubeSuite+. It supports the analysis of the behavior of programs developed for RX family, V850 family, R8C family (Localised support), RL78 family, 78K0R microcontrollers, 78K0 microcontrollers.

#### Remark Localised support

"Localised support " refers to specific regions support only.

CubeSuite+ for R8C (including NC30) is shipped and supported to the following regions only.

- Renesas Electronics Hong Kong Limited
- Renesas Electronics (China) Co., Ltd.
- Renesas Electronics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

#### 1.1.1 What is analyzed

The analyze tool only analyzes C/C++ source files (including header files) in a project being set to the active project in the Project Tree panel.

Consequently, assembler source files are not analyzed. Note, however, that symbols defined in assembler source files that are referenced from C/C++ source files are analyzed.

#### Cautions 1. C++ source files are only supported by CC-RX.

- 2. The analyze tool cannot be used in the debug-dedicated project (see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Start").
- 3. [CA850] Files in K&R format are not analyzed.
- **Remark** It is possible to forcibly display the function/variable information for C/C++ source files and header files in a project other than the active project by importing information files (function list file (\*.mtfl)/variable list file (\*.mtvl)) (see "2.12 Import or Export Information File" for details).

#### 1.1.2 Types of analysis information

The analyze tool acquires, analyzes, and displays the following two types of information.

#### (1) Static analysis information

This is the function information/variable information that can be displayed when a build has completed without any compiler or assembler errors. This is the result of analyzing the load module and cross reference information generated by the build tool.

For this reason, in order to acquire static analysis information, you should configure your build tool to generate cross reference information when performing the build. The analyze tool does, however, provide the following property that forces the build tool to generate cross reference information:

- Property panel >> [Settings] tab >> [General] category >> [Enable static analysis information] property

By setting this property to [Yes], it is possible to generate cross reference information regardless of the build tool's configuration. Note that if this property is set to [No] (default), the current setting in the build tool will take precedence.



### (2) Dynamic analysis information

This is the function information/variable information provided as a result of analyzing trace, real-time RAM monitoring, or coverage data acquired by the debug tool.

For this reason, you should enable Trace function, RRM function/pseudo RRM function, or Coverage function to acquire dynamic analysis information. The analyze tool does, however, provides the following property that automatically enables all of the above functions of the debug tool.

- Property panel >> [Settings] tab >> [General] category >> [Enable dynamic analysis information] property

By setting this property to [Yes], it is possible to use the above debug tool's functions regardless of the debug tool's configuration. Note that if this property is set to [No] (default), the current setting in the debug tool will take precedence.

# Cautions 1. You must connect to the debug tool after the completion of the setting above. It is necessary to re-connect to the debug tool if you change this setting during debugging.

Functions that the debug tool does not support cannot be enabled.
 For some debug tools, the following functions are mutually exclusive. In that case, the priority is as follows:

Trace function > RRM function/pseudo RRM function > Coverage function

3. The dynamic analysis information cannot be acquired when the program analyzer tool or task analyzer tool provided by "RI series" is used.

The dynamic analysis information that each debug tool's function provides to the analyze tool is as follows.

#### (a) Trace function

This function is used to collect an execution history of the program as a trace data. The trace function provides the following dynamic analysis information:

- Execution time (including a proportion of total execution time and average execution time)
- Execution count (including access type (read count, write count, and so on))
- Variable values (including maximum values and minimum values)
- Graph data (when the method for acquiring the graph data is Trace data analysis)

#### Cautions 1. [IECUBE][Simulator]

Perform the following setting on the Property panel of the debug tool to acquire the execution time correctly:

- [Debug Tool Settings] tab >> [Trace] category >> [Clear trace memory before running] property >> [Yes] (default)
- [IECUBE[V850E1][V850ES]][E20[RX]]
   If [Start Trace]/[Stop Trace] from the context menu on the Trace panel is selected during execution of a program, then an invalid value will be displayed as the execution time.
- [IECUBE[78K0]]
   Since the trace time tag feature is not supported, execution time of functions and graphs by Trace data analysis cannot be displayed.

# 4. [E1/E20[RL78]][EZ Emulator[RL78]] Since branch origin addresses can only be acquired from the trace data, only the [Execution Count] item in the Function List panel/Call Graph panel is supported.

#### Remarks 1. [IECUBE[V850E1][V850ES]]

Some of the trace functions, RRM functions and coverage functions are mutually exclusive.

For this reason, it is necessary to specify the function to take precedence in the [Use for trace data] property of the [Trace] category. When doing so, if this property is set to other than [Trace] ([RRM] or [Coverage]), the trace functions necessary to acquire dynamic analysis information will still be enabled.

# 2. [IECUBE2]

Some of the trace functions, timer functions and coverage functions are mutually exclusive. For this reason, it is necessary to specify the function to take precedence in the [Use for trace data] property of the [Trace] category. When doing so, if this property is set to other than [Trace] ([Timer] or [Coverage]), the trace functions necessary to acquire dynamic analysis information will still be enabled.

# (b) RRM function/pseudo RRM function

This function permits you to read the contents of memory (variables/registers/ addresses) in real-time while executing the program.

The RRM function/pseudo RRM function provides the following dynamic analysis information:

- Graph data (when the method for acquiring the graph data is Real-time sampling analysis<sup>Note</sup>)

#### Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

If the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC and the debug tool is in the Data collection mode, graph data is not acquired through real-time sampling analysis. Instead a sampling method specific to Smart Analog is used to acquire data and display graphs.

Remark The target area from which you can read using the RRM function/pseudo RRM function varies depending on the microcontroller being selected in the project and the debug tool used. For details on the relationship between the RRM function/pseudo RRM function and their target area, see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug".

#### (c) Coverage function

This function is used to perform coverage measurements. The coverage function provides the following dynamic analysis information:

- Code coverage
- Data coverage

# Caution [IECUBE[V850]][IECUBE2[V850E2]] A data coverage measurement does not supported.



# 1.2 Features

The features of the analyze tool are shown below.

#### - Displaying function information

The following information about functions is displayed:

Static analysis information (e.g. function name, file name, attribute, return type, reference count, etc.) and Dynamic analysis information (e.g. execution count, execution time, code coverage, etc.).

Function Nam 🛛	'⊨ File Name 🖓 H	🖻 Attribute 🖓 🗗	Return Type 🖓 🗗	Arguments ⊽+⊐	1
🗉 AD_Init	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	
🖕 AD_Read	CG_ad.c	-	unsigned short	unsigned short * buffer	
💊 AD_Start	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	-
💊 AD_Stop	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	
MD_INTAD	CG_ad_user.c	-	void	void	
💊 TMP0_Start	CG_timer.c	-	void	void	
🚽 TMP1_Start	CG_timer.c	-	void	void	
👽 ad_receive	(No Definition)	-	-	-	
🖕 func1	CG_main.c	-	void	void	
👽 func1a	CG_main.c	-	void	void	
👽 func2	CG_main.c	-	void	void	
🖕 func2a	CG_main.c	-	void	void	-
				>	

# - Displaying variable information

The following information about variables is displayed:

Static analysis information (e.g. variable name, file name, attribute, type, reference count, etc.) and Dynamic analysis information (e.g. read count, write count, data coverage, etc.).

Va	riable List						×
2	1 式 🧶 🕵 🕅	8					
P	Variable Name ⊽+¤	File Name ⊽+	Attribute 🖓 🗗	Туре	74	Members ⊽+Þ	Address ⊽+⊐
•	🔋 g_ad_data	CG_main.c	-	unsigned sh	ort	-	0x03ffb116
	👽 g_ad_finish	CG_main.c	-	unsigned ch	ar	-	0×03ffb114
	👽 g_count_10ms	CG_main.c	-	unsigned int		- 1	0×03ffb110
	👽 g_count_1 ms	CG_main.c	-	unsigned int		- 1	0x03ffb10c
	👽 g_flag_detect	CG_main.c	-	unsigned sh	ort	-	0x03ffb118
	😜 _S_romp	CG_systeminit.c	-	-		-	-
	*Total*	CG_main.c	-	-		-	-
	*Total*	CG_systeminit.c	<u></u>	-		-	lanananananana.
<					toutoutoris		>



# - Displaying the call graph

A tree-structured chart (call graph) indicating calling relationships between functions in the program is displayed.

all Graph	
<ul> <li>2</li></ul>	
main main.c (55)	<
main_sub01 main.c (166) <static></static>	
sub01 sub01.c (9)	
2 (2) 1 (2) sub01_sub01 sub02.c (14)	
2 (2) sub02 sub01.c (23)	
	~

- Displaying class information/function information/variable information

The class information **[CC-RX]**, function information and variable information in the program are displayed in a tree structure.





#### - Linked operation with debug tool

The following operations can be performed on the debug tool from the various panels of the analyze tool.

- Jump to the location where the specified function or variable is defined Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Class/Member panel
- Set a break event at the specified function or variable Function List panel/Variable List panel
- Register a watch expression for the specified variable Variable List panel

#### - View list of locations referencing function/variable

You can find and display a list of locations referencing a function/variable.



#### - Graph analysis information

- A line chart indicating changes in values of variables or of data collected for Smart Analog **[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]** is displayed.





- A pie chart indicating function execution time ratios is displayed.





# **CHAPTER 2 FUNCTIONS**

This chapter describes the main features and operating procedures of the analyze tool.

#### 2.1 Overview

The analysis information acquired by the analyze tool is displayed on the following panels.

Panel	Description				
Function List panel	Displays the function information.				
Variable List panel	Displays the variable information.				
Call Graph panel	Displays calling relationships between functions (call graph).				
Class/Member panel	Displays the class information <b>[CC-RX]</b> <sup>Note 1</sup> , function information and variable information in a tree structure.				
Analysis Chart panel	Displays charts of the function information and the variable information.				
	[Variable Value Changing Chart] tab	Displays changes in values of variables or data collected for Smart Analog <b>[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]</b> <sup>Note 2</sup> , (line chart).			
	[Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] Displays function execution time ratios (pie chart). tab				
Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel	Zooms in on the chart displayed in the	Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.			

Table 2-1. Panels Displaying Analysis Information

# Notes 1. [CC-RX]

The class information is provided only when C++ source files are subject to analysis.

# 2. [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

Data collection for Smart Analog is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC.

In the each panel, the following types of function/variable are subject to analysis.

Tahla 2-2	Types of	Functions/Variables	That Are Sub	ject to Analysis
Table 2-2.	Types of	Functions/variables	That Are Sub	Ject to Analysis

Types			Panel		
	Function List	Variable List	Call Graph	Class/Member	Analysis Chart Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in)
Global function	✓	-	✓	✓	-
Static function	✓	-	✓	✓	-
Member function [CC-RX] <sup>Note 1</sup>	✓	-	✓	✓	-
Global variable	-	~	✓	✓	1
Static variable inside a file	-	~	✓	✓	1
Static variable inside a function	-	✓	✓	-	1
Local variable	-	-	-	-	-



Types		Panel						
	Function List	Variable List	Call Graph	Class/Member	Analysis Chart Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in)			
IOR/SFR <sup>Note 2</sup>	-	✓	✓	-	1			
Class variable [CC-RX] <sup>Note 1</sup>	-	✓	✓	✓	1			
Instance variable [CC-RX] <sup>Note 1</sup>	-	-	-	✓	✓			

# Notes 1. [CC-RX]

This is a function/variable that exists only in C++ source files.

2. IOR [RX][V850] SFR [R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]

By validating this analysis information, it is possible to search for unused functions and variables, and processing that is creating bottlenecks, allocate memory effectively to reduce code size, and the like.

The basic operation sequence of the analyze tool is as follows:

#### (1) Start CubeSuite+

Launch CubeSuite+ from the [Start] menu of Windows<sup>®</sup>.

**Remark** For details on "Start CubeSuite+", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Start".

#### (2) Set a project

Create a new project, or load an existing one.

**Remark** For details on "Set a project", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Start".

#### (3) Create a load module

Create a load module by running a build after setting of the active project and the build tool to be used.

- Caution Run a build after setting the [Enable static analysis information] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel to [Yes], in order to generate the cross reference information required for the analyze tool without depending on the configuration of the buildtool being used (see "(1) Static analysis information").
- **Remarks 1.** For details on "Create a load module", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Build" of the compiler to use.
  - 2. If the build completes without compiler or assembler errors, then at this point the Static analysis information can be displayed in the Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Class/ Member panel.

#### (4) Execute downloading

Connect CubeSuite+ to the debug tool after configuring the operational environment of the debug tool, and then download the load module created in steps (3) to the debug tool.



# CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

- Caution Connect to the debug tool after setting the [Enable dynamic analysis information] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel to [Yes], in order to acquire the dynamic information necessary for the analyze tool without depending on the configuration of the debug tool being used (see "(2) Dynamic analysis information").
- **Remark** For details on "Execute downloading", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug" of the microcontroller used.

#### (5) Execute programs

Execute the program on the debug tool.

**Remark** For details on "Execute programs", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug" of the microcontroller used.

#### (6) Display Function Information

Display the Function List panel in order to validate the acquired function information. The Function List panel can be operated as follows, in accordance with the purpose. Note that if the program is modified during debugging, the operation is repeated via (3), above.

#### (a) Customize Display Method

Change the display method (e.g. set which columns to display and the sorting order) on the panels.

#### (b) Jump to Defined Location

Jump to the location where the function on the panel has been defined.

(c) Set a breakpoint to a function Set a breakpoint to the function on the panel.

#### (d) Display List of Referencing Location

Find and display a list of locations referencing the function on the panel.

Remark It is also possible to display the function information defined in other than the active project. For detailed instructions on displaying function information, see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".

#### (7) Display Variable Information

Display the Variable List panel in order to validate the acquired variable information. The Variable List panel can be operated as follows, in accordance with the purpose. Note that if the program is modified during debugging, the operation is repeated via (3), above.

#### (a) Customize Display Method

Change the display method (e.g. set which columns to display and the sorting order) on the panels.

#### (b) Jump to Defined Location

Jump to the location where the function on the panel has been defined.

#### (c) Set a break event to a variable

Set a break event with access condition to the variable on the panel.



#### (d) Register Watch-Expressions

Register variables to the Watch panel (Watch1) as watch-expressions.

#### (e) Display List of Referencing Location

Find and display a list of locations referencing the variable on the panel.

Remark It is also possible to display the function information defined in other than the active project. For detailed instructions on displaying function information, see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".

#### (8) Display Calling Relationships between Functions (Call Graph)

Display the Call Graph panel in order to validate the relationship between functions. The Call Graph panel can be operated as follows, in accordance with the purpose.

- (a) Jump to Defined Location Jump to the location where the function/variable on the call graph has been defined.
- (b) Search for a function/variable

Search for an arbitrary function/variable existing in the call graph.

#### (9) Display Class/Function/Variable Information

Display the Class/Member panel in order to validate the class information [CC-RX], function information and variable information.

The Class/Member panel can be operated as follows, in accordance with the purpose.

#### (a) Jump to Defined Location

Jump to the location where the class/function/variable on the tree has been defined.

#### (b) Jump to Declared Location

Jump to the location where the class/function/variable on the tree has been declared.

#### Remark [CC-RX]

The class information is provided only when C++ source files are subject to analysis.

#### (10) Display Analysis Information in Chart

Display acquired function information/variable information in a chart. Note that if the program is modified during debugging, the operation is repeated via (3), above.

#### (a) Graph transitions in values

Display the relationship between values of variable/register/address or of data collected for Smart Analog<sup>Note</sup> and time in a line chart.

#### Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

This feature is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC.

#### (b) Chart the function execution time ratios

Display a pie chart of the function execution time ratios.

#### (11) Save Analysis Information

Save the acquired analysis information to a file.



# (12) Save the project file

Save the setting information of the project to the project file.

**Remark** For details on "Save the project file", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Start".



### 2.2 Display Function Information

Display the function information (function name, file name, attribute, reference count, execution count, code coverage, etc.) in the program.

The latest function information that can currently be displayed (see "1.1.2 Types of analysis information") is displayed on the following Function List panel, which is opened by clicking the solution on the Main window's toolbar. See the Function List panel for details on each of the function information items displayed.

#### Caution [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

When a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents currently being displayed in this panel will be cleared.

		OP 1. Hat at The	200		
oar –	🖻 🗔 🙈 100 🗞	Unit of Tim	e▼		
	📳 Function Nam 🔽-	🛱 File Name 🖓-	🖻 Attribute 🖓	🖷 Return Type 🖓-	⊨ Arguments ⊽+⊧
	AD_Init	CG_ad.c	-	void	void
	AD_Read	<u>CG_a</u> d.c	-	unsigned short	unsigned short * buffer
	Current row m	nark d.c	-	void	void
		- va_ad.c	-	void	void
	💊 MD_INTAD	CG_ad_user.c	-	void	void
	💊 TMP0_Start	CG_timer.c	-	void	void
	🔰 💊 TMP1_Start	CG_timer.c	-	void	void
	💊 ad_receive	(No Definition)	-	-	-
	💊 func1	CG_main.c	-	void	void
	🗾 💊 func1a	CG_main.c	- -	void	void
	🗾 💊 func2	CG_main.c	-	void	void
	🗾 🖕 func2a	CG_main.c	-	void	void
	<	4 0.70			

Figure 2-1. Display Function Information (Function List Panel)

- Remarks 1. The display contents are updated each time program execution is stopped. Note, however, that if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Yes] (default), the information will be updated in accordance with the setting on the Property panel.
  - 2. The value of the information that has been changed because of the execution of a program is shown highlighted (the color depends on the configuration in the [General Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box). To reset the highlighting, click the button on the toolbar.
  - 3. The current row mark ( ▶ ) indicates the current row.

The following operations can be performed on the function with the current row mark.

- Jump to Defined Location
- Set Break Events
- Display List of Referencing Location
- Information for functions defined outside the active project, and which are never referenced from the active project, is ordinary not displayed in the Function List panel.
   For detailed instructions on displaying function information in this case, see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".

#### 2.3 **Display Variable Information**

Display the variable information (variable name, file name, attribute, read count, write count, data coverage, etc.) in the program.

The latest variable information that can currently be displayed (see "1.1.2 Types of analysis information") is displayed on the following Variable List panel, which is opened by clicking the 🔛 button on the Main window's toolbar. See the Variable List panel for details on each of the variable information items displayed.

#### Caution [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

When a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents currently being displayed in this panel will be cleared.

Figure 2-2.	Display	Variable Information	(Variable List Panel)
-------------	---------	----------------------	-----------------------

	Var	riable List					
Toolbar —	2	2 🛞 🔊 🦻	8				
	P	Variable Name ⊽+₽	File Name ⊽+₽	Attribute 🖓 🛱	Type ⊽+Þ	Members 🖓 🛱	Address ⊽+¤
(	1	●g_ad_data	CG_main.c	-	unsigned short	-	0×03ffb116
1		e ad finish	CG_main.c	-	unsigned char	-	0×03ffb114
		Current row mar	k <sub>main.c</sub>	-	unsigned int	-	0x03ffb110
		👽 g_count_1ms	CG_main.c	-	unsigned int	- 1	0x03ffb10c
		👽 g_flag_detect	CG_main.c	-	unsigned short	-	0×03ffb118
		S_romp	CG_systeminit.c	-	-	-	-
		*Total*	CG_main.c	-	-	-	-
		*Total*	CG_systeminit.c	1-		-	-
	<			Anno ann an ann an ann an an an an an an an			>

Remarks 1. The display contents are updated each time program execution is stopped. Note, however, that if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Yes] (default), the information will be updated in accordance with the setting on the Property panel.

- 2. The value of the information that has been changed because of the execution of a program is shown highlighted (the color depends on the configuration in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box). To reset the highlighting, click the 🦃 button on the toolbar.
- The current row mark ()) indicates the current row. 3. The following operations can be performed on the function with the current row mark.
  - - Jump to Defined Location
    - Set Break Events
    - Display List of Referencing Location
    - Graph transitions in values
- 4. Information for functions defined outside the active project, and which are never referenced from the active project, is ordinary not displayed in the Variable List panel. For detailed instructions on displaying function information in this case, see "2.12 Import or Export

Information File".



# 2.4 Display Calling Relationships between Functions (Call Graph)

You can display a tree-structured chart (call graph) that represents calling relationships between functions in the program based on the acquired function information.

The latest call graph that can currently be displayed (see "1.1.2 Types of analysis information") is displayed on the following Call Graph panel, which is opened by clicking the button on the Main window's toolbar. See the Call Graph panel for details on the call graph displayed.

- Cautions 1. If the debug tool used does not support the Trace function, or if the debug tool's trace function is not enabled, then the Dynamic analysis information (e.g. the execution count/read count/ write count) cannot be displayed in the call graph.
  - 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0] If a clean is executed in the build tool, the call graph currently being displayed will be erased.



Figure 2-3. Display Calling Relationships between Functions (Call Graph Panel: Whole View)

The following operations can be performed on the call graph displayed.

# (1) Change a parent function

By default, the first function to appear named "main<sup>Note</sup>" or containing the word "main" is considered to be the parent function, and that function is placed on the left edge of the call graph in a box format (function box). Select a function from the drop-down list of the [Parent Function Name] combo box to change the parent function to be displayed in call graph.

Note main: [V850][RL78][78K0R][78K0] reset: [RX] start: [R8C(Localised support)]



#### Remark [V850E2]

If the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core, you can select "PEn" in the [Parent Function Name] combo box. In this case, the call graph will only be displayed for the functions executed in the selected PEn.

# (2) Display the parent and child functions of the specified function

By clicking the we button on the panel control area, the call graph is switched to the details view that displays the parent functions and child functions of the function currently being specified with the [Target Function Name] combo box.

In the details view, when global variables, static variables inside a file or static variables inside a function accessed from the target function exist, these variables are also displayed as variable boxes.

To switch to the default view mode (whole view), click the witten again.





#### (3) Jump to defined location

By double-clicking on a function box/variable box in the call graph, you can jump to the location of the source text where that function/variable is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").

#### (4) Pop-up display of the function/variable information

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a function box/variable box in the call graph, information about that function/variable appears in a pop-up.

# Caution This function cannot be used while scrolling via the mouse dragging is being enabled by the button on the panel control area.



#### Figure 2-5. Pop-up Display of Function/Variable Information



#### (5) Search for a function/variable

You can search for an arbitrary function/variable existing in the call graph.

To do this, click the button on the Call Graph panel's toolbar to open the Call Graph Search dialog box. In this dialog box, follow the steps below.



#### Figure 2-6. Search for Functions (Call Graph Dialog Box)

# (a) Specify [Function/Variable Name]

Specify a function name/variable name to search.

You can either type character strings directly into the text box (up to 2046 characters), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

Next, to specify conditions for the specified character strings, select the desired conditions in the [Condition] combo box ([contains] is selected by default).

Searches are case-insensitive if the [Case-sensitive] check box is selected.

**Remark** You can also specify the function name/variable name with any one of the following methods.

- Drag and drop an arbitrary row of the Function List panel/Variable List panel to this area.
- Drag and drop an arbitrary character strings to this area.



# (b) Specify [Class Name] [CC-RX]

If required as a search parameter for a function/variable, you can specify the class name to which a member function/member variable to search belongs.

You can either type character strings directly into the text box (up to 2046 characters), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

Next, to specify conditions for the specified character strings, select the desired conditions in the [Condition] combo box ([contains] is selected by default).

Searches are case-insensitive if the [Case-sensitive] check box is selected.

**Remark** You can also specify the class name with any one of the following methods.

- Drag and drop an arbitrary character strings to this area.

#### (c) Specify [Parent Count]

If required as a search parameter for a function, you can specify the number of parent functions to search. You can either type a value directly into the text box (settable range: 0 to 65535), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

Next, to specify conditions for the specified value, select the desired conditions in the [Condition] combo box ([equals] is selected by default).

#### (d) Specify [Child Count]

If required as a search parameter for a function, you can specify the number of child functions to search. You can either type a value directly into the text box (settable range: 0 to 65535), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

Next, to specify conditions for the specified value, select the desired conditions in the [Condition] combo box ([equals] is selected by default).

#### (e) Click the [Search Backward]/[Search Forward] button

When the [Search Backward] button is clicked, the search uses the specified conditions, starting from the function name/variable name at the bottom of the call graph, and proceeding upward. The corresponding function box/variable box is highlighted.

When the [Search Forward] button is clicked, the search uses the specified conditions, starting from the function name/variable name at the top of the call graph, and proceeding downward. The corresponding function box/variable box is highlighted.

If a function box/variable box has been selected on the Call Graph panel, then the search starts from the corresponding function, moving upward/downward.



#### Figure 2-7. Location Where Function Has Been Found

**Remarks 1.** The display contents are updated each time program execution is stopped.

Note, however, that if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings]



tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Yes] (default), the information will be updated in accordance with the setting on the Property panel.

2. A function/variable whose source file does not exist in the project can be displayed in the call graph if the [Display the function/variable without definition at Call Graph panel] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes].



# CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

# 2.5 Display Class/Function/Variable Information

You can display the class information, function information and variable information in the program by using a tree structure.

These information is displayed on the following Class/Member panel, which is opened by clicking the the Main window's toolbar.

See the Class/Member panel for details on the tree displayed.

#### Cautions 1. [CC-RX]

The class information is provided only when C++ source files are subject to analysis.

#### 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents of this panel being displayed will be erased.

Figure 2-8. Display Class Information (Class/Member Panel)

	Class/Member 🛛 🛛 🔀
Toolbar -	[View Setting] combo box
Panel control area	Category group
	Global Functions and Variables
	Namespaces     Classes     Classes     Struct Types     Union Types     Four Types
	<pre>=w tempfunc02<t:2>0 =w tempfunc02<t:2>(char, short) =w tempfunc02<t:2>(short, int)</t:2></t:2></t:2></pre>
	<ul> <li>templatetest01 (void)</li> <li>templatetest02 (void)</li> <li>✓ Functions/variables list area</li> <li>Variables</li> </ul>
	AAA Fixed_Vectors BTBL

The acquired information is displayed in the classes/categories tree area (top) and the functions/variables list area (bottom). When a node on the tree displayed in the classes/categories tree area is selected, the information of the node (e.g. function names/variable names defined in the selected node) will be displayed in the functions/variables list area.

You can use the [View Setting] combo box in the panel control area to classify the items in the classes/categories tree into the following five groups.

Items of List	Description	
Category group (default)	Classifies and displays classes, interfaces, and other types.	
Access group	lassifies and displays nodes by their access specifiers specified in their classes, etc	
Namespace group	Classifies and displays nodes by namespaces in which the class and other elements are defined	
File group	Classifies and displays nodes by the files in which the class and other elements are defined.	
Alphabet group	Displays nodes in alphabetical order.	

Table 2-3. Classification Methods for Tree on Class/Member Panel



**Remarks 1.** The following operations can be performed on the node currently being selected.

- Jump to Defined Location

- Jump to Declared Location

# 2. [CC-RX]

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a node (except for a category node), "*Namespace name*" to which the node belongs appears in a pop-up.



#### 2.6 Customize Display Method

The following operations will enable you to customize the displaying of items (columns) and the analysis information on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

All operations refer to the header area of each panel (the area where the column labels are displayed).

- Set the columns to display
- Change the order of the columns to display
- Lock the specific column to display
- Sort the analysis information
- Filter the analysis information

**Remark** In the Column Chooser dialog box, click the [Default] button to return all the customizations you have performed via the operations above to the default values.

#### 2.6.1 Set the columns to display

You can show or hide any of the items (columns) displayed on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

- (1) Restricting the columns displayed
- (2) Adding columns to display

#### (1) Restricting the columns displayed

There are two ways to perform this operation, as shown below.

#### (a) Performing the operation from the panel

Use the mouse to drag and drop the items to hide off of the panel.

#### Figure 2-9. Restricting Columns Displayed (Operation from Panel)

a 🕄 🧇 🕱 🌋 🕷	Unit of Time -	Attribute 7-1
Function Name	⊽≠ File Name ⊽≠	Attribute 7- Return Type
TMP0_Start	CG_timer.c	void
🔪 main	CG_main.c	void
🗾 👽 PORT_Init		void
🤍 💊 CG_ReadReset	to hide off panel void	
💊 CLOCK_Init		

#### (b) Performing the operation from the Column Chooser dialog box

On the left edge of the panel's header area, click the 🛃 button to open the Column Chooser dialog box, and then clear the check boxes of the names of the items to hide.



# Figure 2-10. Restricting Columns Displayed (Operation from Column Chooser Dialog Box)

				Colur	nn Chooser	2
ſ	Click this button to o	pen the Column			Function Name	^
	Chooser dialog box.		$\square$		File Name	
F	uction List				File Path	
G	2 2 2 3 3	📧   Unit of Time <del>-</del>			Import	
					Attribute	
	Function Name	¬ + File Name	∀-Þ Retu	1	Return Type	
	TMP0_Start	CG_timer.c	void		A	
	💊 main	CG_main.c	void		Arguments Count	
	💊 PORT_Init	CG_port.c	VP /		Arguments	~
	🖕 CG_ReadReset	Clear the check box	es 🖌		Default	Close
		of the items to hide				01030

#### (2) Adding columns to display

On the left edge of the panel's header area, click the 🛃 button to open the Column Chooser dialog box, and then select the check boxes of the names of the columns to display, or drag and drop them directly from the dialog box to the information display area on the panel using the mouse.

# Figure 2-11. Adding Columns to Display (Clearing Check Boxes in Column Chooser Dialog Box)



#### Figure 2-12. Adding Columns to Display (Dragging and Dropping from Column Chooser Dialog Box)

			Column Chooser	×
Click this button to open the	ne Column		Function Name	>
Chooser dialog box.	Letter and the second sec		🔽 File Name	=
Filiction List		V	🔲 File Path	
	Unit of Time <del>-</del>		Import	0
	Eile Name VI	, Rotu	Attribute	
TMP0 Start	CG timero	void	Return Type <sup>1</sup>	
w main	C Attribute		Arguments Count	
PORT_Init	CG_port.c	void	Arguments	~
🗾 💊 CG_ReadReset	CG_system_user.c	void	Drag and drop using the mouse	se



#### 2.6.2 Change the order of the columns to display

You can change the display order of the items (columns) displayed on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

There are two ways to perform this operation, as shown below.

There are two ways to perform this operation, as shown below.

- (1) Performing the operation from the panel
- (2) Performing the operation from the Column Chooser dialog box

#### (1) Performing the operation from the panel

Use the mouse to drag and drop the column name to move directly to an arbitrary column (header area).

Figure 2-13. Change the Order of Displayed Items (Operation from Panel)



#### (2) Performing the operation from the Column Chooser dialog box

On the left edge of the panel's header area, click the 🛃 button to open the Column Chooser dialog box, and then drag and drop the column names to move directly to the desired column (header area) on the panel using the mouse.

#### Figure 2-14. Change the Order of Displayed Items (Operation from Column Chooser Dialog Box)





#### 2.6.3 Lock the specific column to display

You can set specified items (columns) to always be displayed on the Function List panel/Variable List panel, even if the screen display is scrolled.

To do this, use the mouse to click the lock display icons (+ / +) of the desired column name (clicking repeatedly toggles the item display between locked and unlocked).

Columns configured for locked display are locked at the leftmost column, so they will not be scrolled even if the user scrolls horizontally.

The meanings of the lock display icons are as follows:

#### Table 2-4. Lock Display Icons

lcon	Description
-12	Indicates that the display is not locked (default).
Р	Indicates that the display is locked.

- **Remarks 1.** You can also lock the display of a column by dragging and dropping it between two items with locked displays, or to the rightmost column.
  - 2. You can also unlock the display of a locked item by dragging and dropping it between two items with unlocked displays.

#### 2.6.4 Sort the analysis information

You can sort the information values on the Function List panel/Variable List panel by column, and in ascending or descending order.

To do this, use the mouse to click the desired column name (clicking repeatedly toggles the sort order between ascending and descending).

If the items to sort are numbers (decimal or hexadecimal), then the information is sorted by numerical value. For other types of data (e.g. strings), the information is sorted by character code.

The following mark appears by the column name of the column that the information is sorted on:

Table 2-5.	Marks that	Indicate	Sorted	Display
------------	------------	----------	--------	---------

Mark	Description
Δ	Indicates that the information is being sorted in ascending order. Click again with the mouse to sort in descending order.
$\nabla$	Indicates that the information is being sorted in descending order. Click again with the mouse to sort in ascending order.

Remark Click while holding down the [Shift] key to sort on multiple columns.

#### 2.6.5 Filter the analysis information

You can set filters for displaying information on the Function List panel/Variable List panel. The following types of filters are available.

- (1) Filtering via custom settings for each column
- (2) Filtering results linked to panel
- Caution The Filtering via custom settings for each column and the Filtering results linked to panel are mutually exclusive functions. For this reason, the two filtering functions described here cannot be



enabled simultaneously (when one of the filters is active, setting the other filter will disable the first one).

#### (1) Filtering via custom settings for each column

Configure a custom filter for each column, and display the acquired information.

To do this, click on the filter icon ( $\nabla$  /  $\nabla$ ) of the target column name, then select the following menu item.

Table 2-6.	Filter	Display	Settings
------------	--------	---------	----------

ltem	Description
(All)	Does not set filter (resets filter display). Displays all information.
(Custom)	Opens the Filter Settings dialog box to set detailed filtering conditions. Only information matching the conditions specified in this dialog will be displayed.
(Blanks)	Displays empty ("-") fields.
(NonBlanks)	Does not display empty ("-") fields.
Information list	All acquired information is displayed in a list as strings. Only values matching the string selected from the list are displayed.

Select [(Custom)] to open the Filter Settings dialog box. Use this dialog box to set up to two condition groups. Both conditions can be linked into a single filtering condition via the logical operator buttons ([AND] / [OR]). Use the top condition-specification area if you only wish to specify one filtering condition.



Figure 2-15. Filtering via Custom Settings for Each Column (Filter Settings Dialog Box)

The meanings of the filter icons are as follows:

Table 2-7. Filter Icons

lcon	Description
Y	Indicates that no filtering is taking place (default).
<b>T</b>	Indicates that the information is being filtered.



#### (2) Filtering results linked to panel

- (a) Linking with the Project Tree panel
- (b) Linking with the Editor panel
- (c) Linking with the Debug Manager panel [V850E2]
- Caution If "(1) Filtering via custom settings for each column" is configured while the information is being filtered via the method described below, linking displays that have been taking place will be reset.

Remark The three filtering functions described below can be used simultaneously.

#### (a) Linking with the Project Tree panel

Only display values for functions/variables in a file/category selected in the Project Tree panel. To do this, click the with button on the Function List panel/Variable List panel toolbar to enable this filtering function, then from the Project Tree panel, select the desired file(s)/category(s). Click this button again to disable this function. The relationship between the selections in the Project Tree panel and the filtered functions/ variables is as follows:

Selection	Display
Single file in active project	Functions/variables defined in single file
Multiple files in active project	Functions/variables defined in multiple files
Single category in active project	Functions/variables defined in single category
Multiple categories in active project	Functions/variables defined in multiple categories
Combination of files and categories in active project	Functions/variables defined in the selected files and categories
Other than the above	All functions/variables defined in files included in the active project

#### Table 2-8. Filtering Linked to Project Tree Panel

#### Caution Assembler source files cannot be analyzed.

**Remark** If a header file is selected, then functions/variables defined in that header file are displayed.

#### (b) Linking with the Editor panel

Only display information for functions/variables starting with the word at the caret position in the Editor panel. To do this, click the starting button on the Function List panel/Variable List panel toolbar to enable this filtering function, then move the caret to the desired function/variable name in the Editor panel. Click this button again to disable this function. Note, however, that if there is no word at the caret position (e.g. if it is at a space or tab character), then the display will not be filtered linked to the Editor panel.

# (c) Linking with the Debug Manager panel [V850E2]

Only display information for functions/variables in the common region and PE selected in the Debug Manager panel.

To do this, click the *solution* button on the Function List panel/Variable List panel toolbar to enable this filtering function. Click this button again to disable this function. Note, however, that if the selected microcontroller version does not support multi-core, then this function will be invalid.



#### 2.7 Jump to Defined Location

You can jump to the location where the function, variable, or class **[CC-RX]**, etc. on the Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Class/Member panel is defined.

#### Cautions 1. [CC-RX]

When C++ source files are subject to analysis, the defined location information on member functions defined in a template function or a template class cannot be obtained. Therefore, the following operation is invalid for them; except however, when the template function is defined with a static declaration, and defined outside a class.

2. [CC-RX]

If the target of the following operation is a member of an enumeration type, then a jump will be made to the defined location of the enumeration type. Note, however, that it is not possible to jump to the defined location of a member of an anonymous enumeration type via the member node.

3. [CX][NC30(Localised support)]

It is not possible to jump to the defined location of a type via a struct type/union type/enum type node. Furthermore, it is not possible to jump to the defined location of a member of a struct type/ union type via the member node.

4. [CA850]

This jump function may not be performed correctly if "#pragma directive" (like examples below) is described following "#include statement" in the source text.

In this case, move "#pragma directive" before the description of "#include statement".

Examples 1. #pragma task TASK\_A

2. #pragma interrupt INTP0 functionA

#### (1) Jump to the Editor panel

When the jump is executed, the source file in which the target is defined opens in the Editor panel, and the caret moves to the line where it is defined.

To do this, perform the following operation.

Panel	Target	Operation
Function List panel	A line of function	Double-click
Variable List panel	A line of variable	
Call Graph panel	- A function box - A variable box	Double-click <sup>Note</sup>



Panel	Target	Operation
Class/Member panel	On the classes/categories tree area - A namespace node [CC-RX] - A class name node [CC-RX] - An interface name node [CC-RX] - A struct type name node - An union type name node - An enum type name node	Select [Jump to Source] from the context menu.
	On the functions/variables list area - A <i>function name</i> node - A <i>variable name</i> node - A <i>macro name</i> node - An <i>alternative name</i> node - An <i>enum member name</i> node	Double-click

**Note** If scrolling via the mouse dragging is being enabled by the ation cannot be used. In this case, select [Jump to Source] from the context menu after selecting the target, or disable the scroll function temporarily, then perform the operation above.

# (2) Jump to the Disassemble panel/Memory panel

When the jump is executed, the disassembly data/memory list corresponding to the starting address of the target opens in the Disassemble panel (Disassemble1)/Memory panel (Memory1), and the caret moves to the corresponding location (note, however, that this is only possible while connecting to the debug tool). To do this, perform the following operation.

Panel	Target	Operation
Function List panel	A line of function	<ul> <li>Jump to the Disassemble panel: Select [Jump to Disassemble] from the context menu.</li> <li>Jump to the Memory panel: Select [Jump to Memory] from the context menu.</li> </ul>
Variable List panel	A line of variable <sup>Note1</sup>	
Call Graph panel	- A function box - A variable box	
Class/Member panel	On the functions/variables list area <sup>Note2</sup> - A <i>function name</i> node - A <i>variable name</i> node - A <i>macro name</i> node - An <i>alternative name</i> node - An <i>enum member name</i> node	

- Notes 1. You can jump to only the Memory panel.
  - 2. Neither a node on the classes/categories tree area nor a node of an instance variable can be target for this function.



# 2.8 Jump to Declared Location

You can jump to the location of the source text where the function, variable, or class [CC-RX], etc. on the Class/Member panel is declared.

#### Caution [CC-RX]

When C++ source files are subject to analysis, the reference information for functions/variables that are referenced in a member function defined in a template function or a template class cannot be obtained. Therefore, the following operation is invalid for them; except however, when the template function is defined with a static declaration, and defined outside a class.

When the jump is executed, the source file in which the target is declared opens in the Editor panel, and the caret moves to the line of the function prototype declaration (for C source files) or the line of the function prototype declaration inside class declaration (for C++ source files).

To do this, perform the following operation.

Target	Operation
On the classes/categories tree area	Select [Jump to Declaration of Source] from the context menu.
- A namespace node [CC-RX]	
- A class name node [CC-RX]	
- An interface name node [CC-RX]	
- A struct type name node	
- An <i>union type name</i> node	
- An <i>enum type name</i> node	
On the functions/variables list area	
- A function name node	
- A variable name node	
- A macro name node	
- An alternative name node	
- An enum member name node	

**Remark** The line to which the caret moves may be the same as the line of the result of selecting [Jump to Source] (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").


#### 2.9 Set Break Events

You can set a break event in the debug tool at a function/variable on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

- Set a breakpoint to a function
- Set a break event to a variable

#### 2.9.1 Set a breakpoint to a function

Set a breakpoint at the start of the function on the Function List panel (the first executable line in the function). To do this, select the row in which the target function is displayed (make sure that the current row mark ()) appears to the left of the selected row), then from the context menu, select [Set Break to Function].

#### This operation is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool. Caution

A breakpoint set via this operation is managed in the Events panel as an event whose name is "Break at start of function".

Name         Detail	
Name / Detail	
🔽 🙆 Hassa ditional Tassa	Comm····
	-
🔽 🗐 Run-Break Timer 🛛 🛛 Total:2244000 ns	
🌔 🗹 🐝 Break at start of function0001 🛛 Execution CG ad.o	:#61 0x6d0



Remarks 1. If there is already a breakpoint set at the corresponding location, the behavior is as follows:

- If a breakpoint in a valid state is set:
- No effect - If a breakpoint in an invalid state is set: Sets the breakpoint to a valid state

#### [CC-RX] 2.

If the target function is a template function and multiple addresses corresponding to its template function exist, then the breakpoints will be set to all the addresses.

#### 2.9.2 Set a break event to a variable

Set a break event with access condition to a variable on the Variable List panel.

To do this, select the row in which the target variable is displayed (make sure that the current row mark ()) appears to the left of the selected row), then from the context menu, select one of the following and then press the [Enter] key.

- [Access Break] >> [Set Variable Read Break to]: Sets a break event with read access condition.
- [Access Break] >> [Set Variable Write Break to]: Sets a break event with write access condition.
- [Access Break] >> [Set Variable R/W Break to]: Sets a break event with read/write access condition.

Note that at this time, you can specify the value in the text box in the context menu.

In this case, execution will only break if it is accessed with the specified value. If you press [Enter] key without entering a value in the text box, then execution will break when the target variable is accessed, regardless of the value.



Variable List					8
Image: Second static global_a       main.h         global_b       main.h         global_c       main.h <th>After setting the v value in [Access E context menu, the Here, the program variable "global_b</th> <th>ariable "g Break] &gt;&gt; n press th n will brea ".</th> <th>lobal_b" to the current row enter a [Set Variable Write Break to] from the he [Enter] key. Ik when the value "0xb" is written to the</th>		After setting the v value in [Access E context menu, the Here, the program variable "global_b	ariable "g Break] >> n press th n will brea ".	lobal_b" to the current row enter a [Set Variable Write Break to] from the he [Enter] key. Ik when the value "0xb" is written to the	
static_global_cc P1 P3 double_a		Access B Register t Jump to S	reak to Watch1 jource	•	Set Variable <u>R</u> ead Break to Set Variable <u>W</u> rite Break to Set Variable R/W Break to
	53	Jump to N	<u>M</u> emory		

Figure 2-17. Example of Setting Break Event on Variable

Cautions 1. This operation is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.

2. For combination break events, this function is available only when the combination condition is "OR".

A break event set via this operation is managed in the Events panel as an event whose name is "Access break to variable".



Events		8
× 🖲 🗑 🖬 🖏 🖗		
Name	🔬 Detail	Comm···
Image: Second transformed and the second transformed and	ace - r Total:2244000 ns	-
🗹 🐝 Access break to	variable0001 Read @_ad_data 0x3ft	fb116 - 0x3ffb117
Concernent and		

**Remark** If there is already a breakpoint set at the corresponding location, the behavior is as follows:

- If a break event in a valid state is set: No effect
- If a break event in an invalid state is set: Sets the break event to a valid state



## 2.10 Register Watch-Expressions

You can register variables on the Variable List panel as watch-expressions in the Watch panel (Watch1).

To do this, drag and drop the row of the target variable (multiple selections possible) directly onto the Watch panel (Watch1).

#### Cautions 1. This operation is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.

#### 2. This operation is disabled for the [\*Total\*] row.

- **Remark** The name of the watch-expression registered in the Watch panel differs depending on the type of the target variable, as follows:
  - Global variable: "variable name"
  - Static variable inside a file: *"file name#variable name"*
  - Static variable inside a function: "file name#function name#variable name"
  - Class variable: "class name::variable name"



## 2.11 Display List of Referencing Location

You can find and display a list of locations referencing a function/variable on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

To do this, select the row in which the target function/variable is displayed (multiple selections possible), then from the context menu, select [Find All References].

The results of the search are output to the next Output panel's [Find References] tab.

Figure 2-19. Sample List of Locations Referencing Function (Output Panel)

Output	
Start of finding all references.	^
Target: sub01, Definition: sub01.c(9): int sub01(int arg_a, int arg_b, int arg_c), Reference(Execution Count 0): sub01.h(9): int sub01(int, int, int);, Reference(Execution Count 0): main.c(38): int sub01(int, int, int);, Reference(Execution Count 0): main.c(38): →result = sub01(local a, local_b, local_c);, Reference(Execution Count 0): main.c(129): →result = sub01(slobal_a, global_b, global_c); ,	
A list of the functions which are being called by function sub01:,	-
sub01_sub01_	
لم list of the variables doing a reference (read / write) by function sub01:ل global_aل End of finding all references.	
[EOF]	¥
All Messages 🖌 Program Analyzer \lambda Find References 🖌 Debug Tool 🖌 Build Tool 🦯	•

The following information about the referencing locations is output to the list as the search results. For details on the output format, see the section of the Output panel's [Find References] tab.

- Performing the operation from the Function List panel
  - Location where target function is defined
  - List of locations referencing the target function
  - List of functions called within the target function
  - List of variables referenced (read/write) inside the target function
- Performing the operation from the Variable List panel
  - Location where target variable is defined
  - List of locations referencing the target variable
- Caution Code in C/C++ source files that is referenced but is eliminated by the preprocessor during compilation (e.g. via "#if" or "#ifdef" statements) is not output as referenced locations.
- **Remarks 1.** When the function name/variable name on this panel is double-clicked, the Editor panel appears and the caret moves to the line where the function/variable is defined.
  - 2. You can save the contents displayed on this Output panel's [Find References] tab to a text file (\*.txt) by selecting [Save Output-Find References As...] from the [File] menu.



# 2.12 Import or Export Information File

Information for functions or variables defined outside the active project, and which are never referenced from the active project, is ordinary not displayed in the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

In this case, it is possible to force this information to be displayed by importing an information file that saves the information about a function/variable you need.

The following types of information files are available.

Table 2-9. Types of Information	Files
---------------------------------	-------

Information File Name	Contents
Function list file(*.mtfl)	Stores the information about the following items on the Function List panel. [Function Name], [Class Name][CC-RX], [Namespace][CC-RX], [File Name], [File Path], [PE Information] <sup>Note</sup> , [Access Specifier][CC-RX], [Attribute], [Return Type], [Arguments Count], [Arguments], [Code Size[Bytes]], [Stack Size[Bytes]]
Variable list file(*.mtvl)	Stores the information about the following items on the Variable List panel. [Variable Name], [Class Name][ <b>CC-RX</b> ], [Namespace][ <b>CC-RX</b> ], [File Name], [Function Name], [File Path], [PE Information] <sup>Note</sup> , [Access Specifier][ <b>CC-RX</b> ], [Attribute], [Type], [Members], [Size[Bytes]]

Note This item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.

The procedure for doing this is as follows:

#### (1) Generate (Export) information file

#### (a) Export an information file manually

This operation will generate an information file with only the functions/variables needed to be imported. To do this, first make the project in which the target functions/variables are defined the active project, then display the necessary information of the target functions/variables in the Function List panel/Variable List panel. Next, select all the rows displaying the target functions/variables in this panel (multiple rows can be selected by holding down the [Shift]/[Ctrl] key while selecting), then from the [File] menu, select [Save Function List Data As...]/[Save Variable List Data As...]. The following Save As dialog box opens.

Figure 2-20. Export Information File Manually (Example of Function List File)

Save As				2 🛛
Save in:	🚞 ORG		🔽 🔾 🖉	
My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents My Computer	DefaultBuild			
My Network	File <u>n</u> ame:	FuncList Sub2.mtfl	~	Save
	Files of type:	Function List File (*.mtfl)	<u> </u>	Cancel



In the [Save in] area of the above dialog box, select a folder of your choice in which to save the generated information file, then select "Function List File (\*.mtfl)" or "Variable List File (\*.mtvl)" from the drop-down list in the [Files of type] area.

Next, enter a file name of your choice for the information file in the [File name] area. Note, however, that the file extension must be "mtfl" for a function list file, and "mtvl" for a variable list file.

Click the [Save] button to generate the information file in the specified folder, with the specified file name.

**Remark** If you also need information about functions/variables defined outside the active project specified here, then generate a separate information file using the same procedure.

### (b) Export information files automatically

This operation will automatically generate information files with all the functions/variables displayed in the Function List panel/Variable List panel each time a build/rebuild is executed.

To do this, specify [Yes] with the [Export the functions and variables] property in the [Import / Export] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel, and then specify a file name of your choice for the information files in the [Export file name for functions]/[Export file name for variables] property. Note, however, that the file extension must be "mtfl" for a function list file, and "mtvl" for a variable list file. If you specify a relative path, specify the project folder as the base.

#### Figure 2-21. [Import / Export] Category

# Import/Export

	Import/ Export				1
Ŧ	Import files		Import files[0]		1
	Export the functions and variables	/	Yes	*	l
	Export file name for functions		FuncList_Sub2.mtfl		)
	Export file name for variables		VarList_Sub2.mtvl	/	1

The above setting completes the automatic export of the information file. Execute a build/rebuild to generate the information file automatically in the specified folder, with the specified file name.

Caution Only the current active project is subject to this export.

**Remark** The following placeholders are supported in the [Export file name for functions]/[Export file name for variables] property.

- %ProjectName%: Replaces itself with the project name.
- %ActiveProjectName%: Replaces itself with the active project name.

#### (2) Import the information file

Import the information file you generated (exported).

To do this, set the [Import files] property in the [Import / Export] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel. When the [Import files] property is selected, a [...] button appears. When this button is clicked the following Path Edit dialog box opens.

#### Figure 2-22. [Import files] Property in [Import / Export] Category





6ActiveProjectDir%\F	FuncList_Sub2.mtfl		-
Browse		>	2
Placeholder	Value	Description	^
	C:\Test\Sample	Absolute path of the active p Active project name	
ActiveProjectDir ActiveProjectName MainProjectDir MainProjectName	C:\Test\Sample 78KOR_LH3 us	Absolute path of the main pro Main project name	~

Figure 2-23. Specification of Import Files (Path Edit Dialog Box)

In the Path Edit dialog box, in the [Path(One path per one line)] area, specify the names of the information files generated in (1) (including the path), one path per line (up to 259 characters per line/up to 64 lines). If you specify a relative path, specify the project folder as the base.

You can also use the [Browse...] button to specify information files. After you have entered the names of all the files to import, click the [OK] button. The specified paths appear as sub-properties of the [Import files] property.



🗆 Import		
Import files	Import files[2]	
[0]	C:\Test\Sample\FuncList_Sub2.mtfl	)
[1]	C:\Test\Sample\VarList_Sub2.mtvl	

The above setting completes the import of the information file.

**Remarks 1.** The following placeholders are supported in the Path Edit dialog box.

- %ProjectName%: Replaces itself with the project name.
- %MicomToolPath%: Replaces itself with the absolute path of the CubeSuite+ install folder.
- 2. The information files that have been exported by CubeSuite (CubeSuite function list file (\*.csfl)/ CubeSuite variable list file (\*.csvl)) can also be imported.
- **3.** If a function/variable with the same name exists in a import file and an active project, the determination is made according to the following rules.

#### C source files:

- If the file names are different, and "static" (only lower case) is included in the attribute in the import file, then it is interpreted as a static function/static variable, and loaded as different function information/variable information.
- If the file names are the same and the function names are different, and "static" (only lower case) is included in the attribute in the import file, then it is interpreted as a static variable in a function, and loaded as different variable information.

- Functions/variables other than the above are interpreted as a global function/global variable or a static function/static variable with the same name in a file, and merged as identical function information/variable information.

## C++ source files [CC-RX]:

- [Class Name], [Namespace], [File Name], and [Arguments] are compared. If any one of these does not match, then it is loaded as different function information.
- [Class Name], [Namespace], [Function Name], [File Name], and [Arguments] are compared. If any one of these does not match, then it is loaded as different variable information.
- Functions/variables other than the above are merged as identical function information/variable information.

The rules for determining merging as identical function information/variable information are as follows:

Ite	ms	Rules
Function	Variable	
[Class Name] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [Namespace] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [Function Name] [File Pass] [PE Information] <sup>Note</sup>	[Class Name] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [Namespace] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [File Name] [Function Name] [File Path]	The precedence is as follows: "Active project value" > "Import file value" Note, however, that if there is function information/variable information from multiple import files to merge, then the function
[Stack Size[Bytes]] [Arguments Count] [Arguments] [Return Type] [Access Specifier] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [Attribute]	[PE Information] <sup>Note</sup> [Access Specifier] <b>[CC-RX]</b> [Attribute] [Type] [Members]	information/variable information of the last file to be imported is loaded. If a value does not exist in either the active project or import file, then it is left blank ("-").
[Code Size[Bytes]]	[Size[Bytes]]	The precedence is as follows: "Import file value" > "Active project value" Note, however, that if there is function information/variable information from multiple import files to merge, then the function information/variable information of the last file to be imported is loaded. If a value does not exist in either the active project or import file, then it is left blank ("-").

Note This item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.

#### (3) Cancel the file import

To cancel the file import, delete the import files on the Path Edit dialog box.



# 2.13 Display Analysis Information in Chart

You can display the acquired function information and variable information (including the data information for Smart Analog<sup>Note</sup>) in a chart.

To display a chart, click the with button on the Main window's toolbar to open the Analysis Chart panel. The following content is graphed in the Analysis Chart panel.

- Graph transitions in values
- Chart the function execution time ratios

#### Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

This feature is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC.





#### 2.13.1 Graph transitions in values

Display the relationship between registered variable/register/address/other values and time by a graph (line chart). Furthermore, when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC, by enabling Data collection mode on the debug tool, it is possible to display the collected data for Smart Analog by a graph [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]].

Graphs are displayed in the Analysis Chart panel's [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.

See the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab for details on each of the area displayed.

# Caution [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

To graph the collected data for Smart Analog, a monitor program for collecting data must be linked to the execution program.





Figure 2-26. Graph of Transition in Variable Values

- **Remarks 1.** You can change the display range of the cursor information area and channel information area by moving the splitter with the mouse. In addition, these areas can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of their splitters.
  - 2. Data collection mode

This mode is the debug tool's feature that is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]].

When the debug tool is in this mode, the data for Smart Analog can be collected while a program is executed. This mode becomes valid by performing the following setting on the Property panel of the debug tool:

[Debug Tool Settings] tab >> [Smart Analog] category >> [Collect data during the execution] property >> [Yes]

The procedure for displaying the chart is as follows:

#### (1) Register graphing targets

Register the item to graph.

- (a) When graphing variable/register/address/other values
- (b) When graphing the data collected for Smart Analog [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

#### Caution Graphing targets cannot be registered in the condition below:

- During execution of a program
- When the [Analysis method] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel is set to [Load from file] (i.e. when graphs are restored from the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac))

#### (a) When graphing variable/register/address/other values

- The following types of items can be registered.
  - Global variable
  - Static variable inside a file
  - Static variable inside a function
  - Class variable (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)
  - CPU register
  - IOR [RX][V850]

Offset 1

Color 1

- SFR [R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]
- Address

There are three ways to register graphing targets, shown below.

When the registration is completed, the name of the registered graphing target will be displayed at the Variable name check box corresponding to the channel number in the channel information area.

- <1> Registering targets separately (on the Property panel)
- <2> Registering targets separately (from the other panel)
- <3> Reflecting the Watch panel (auto registration)
- Caution You can register graphing targets for up to 16 channels, one target per channel. Note, however, that there may be restrictions on the number and size of targets that can be graphed, depending on the debug tool used and the method by which the graph data was acquired (see "(2) Select the method for acquiring the graph data").

#### <1> Registering targets separately (on the Property panel)

Enter the name of the target directly from the keyboard into the [Variable/Address 1 - 16] property in the [Channel 1 - 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

Ξ	Channel 1	
(	Variable/Address 1	g_count_1ms
	Type/Size 1	Auto
	Value per grid[Val/Div] 1	6553.5

0

#### Figure 2-27. [Channel1 - 16] Category

In addition, the following detailed conditions can be specified with the [Channel 1 - 16] category for each target (see "(4) Display graphs").

192, 255, 10, 79

- [Type/Size 1 - 16]:	Type and size
- [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16]:	Value per grid unit in graph
- [Offset 1 - 16]:	Offset value of graph
- [Color 1 - 16] property:	Rendering color of graph

- **Remarks 1.** To delete the registered graphing target, delete the value of the above [Variable/Address 1 - 16] property.
  - 2. The registered graphing target name is displayed at the Variable name check box on the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.



#### <2> Registering targets separately (from the other panel)

From the following panel, drag and drop the target directly onto the Channel number or Variable name check box in this tab.

- Variable List panel<sup>Note</sup>
- Editor panel
- CPU register panel
- IOR panel [RX][V850]
- SFR panel [R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]
- Watch panel
- **Note** The name of the graphing target displayed differs depending on the type of the variable, as follows:
  - Global variable:
- "variable name"
- Static variable inside a file:
- Static variable inside a function:
- "file name#variable name
- function: "file name#function name#variable name"
- Class variable: "class name::variable name"
- Remarks 1. Other than the above, on the Variable List panel or the Editor panel, you can also register the selected variable as a graphing target, by selecting [Register to Analysis Chart] from the context menu.
  - 2. To delete the registered graphing target, delete the value of the [Variable/Address 1 16] property in the [Channel 1 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### <3> Reflecting the Watch panel (auto registration)

By clicking the [Reflect] button on this tab, you can automatically register watch-expressions currently being registered in the Watch panel (Watch1) as graphing targets.

Up to 16 watch-expressions in the Watch panel (Watch1), from top to bottom can be registered. If fewer than 16 watch-expressions have been registered, only the registered number are registered.

# Caution Clicking the [Reflect] button will cause the information of graphing targets being registered to be deleted (the graph being displayed will be erased).

- **Remarks 1.** Categories themselves are not registered, but variables and other elements within categories are.
  - **2.** If a variable has child nodes (e.g. arrays and structures), expanded variables and the like, such as structure members and array indices, are not registered.
  - **3.** If a name matches a graphing target that has already registered, then it will be registered twice.

#### (b) When graphing the data collected for Smart Analog [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

This feature is enabled only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC. First, set the debug tool used to Data collection mode.

Next, specify the channel numbers in which the data is received from a device with the [Data collection channel] property in the [Smart Analog] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel. In the drop-down list, select the check box of the channel number to be used (up to 8 channels can be selected).

# Caution The [Smart Analog] category appears only when the debug tool is set in Data collection mode.



Figure 2-28. [Smart Analog] Category

Ξ	Smart Analog		
/	Sampling interval[ms]	10	
(	Data collection channel	Mch1 Mch2 Mch3 Mch4 Mch5 Mch6 Mch7 Mch8	~
		Ch1	^
		Ch2 ch2	
		Ch3	≡
		Ch4	
		🗖 chБ	_
		Ch6	~

In addition, the following detailed conditions can be specified with the [Channel 1 - 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel for each channel (see "(4) Display graphs").

- [Variable/Address 1 - 16]:Character strings that are displayed at the Variable name check box- [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16]:Value per grid unit in graph- [Offset 1 - 16]:Offset value of graph- [Color 1 - 16] property:Rendering color of graph

# Figure 2-29. [Channel1 - 16] Category [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

Ξ	Channel 1	
	Variable/Address 1	AN_01
	Value per grid[Val/Div] 1	25.5
	Offset 1	-2048
	Color 1	192, 255, 10, 79

# (2) Select the method for acquiring the graph data

There are three ways to acquire the data for graphing, as shown below.

Specify the method with the [Analysis method] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### Cautions 1. The method for acquiring the graph data cannot be changed during execution of a program.

- 2. If graph data has already been acquired, then changing this setting will cause the stored graph data to be deleted (the graph being displayed will be erased).
- 3. When Trace data analysis is specified, also see "3.3 Trace Data Analysis".

#### Figure 2-30. [Analysis method] Property

🗆 General		
Analysis method	Real-time sampling	Y
Start/stop real-time sampling	Real-time sampling	
Time per grid[Time/Div]	Analysis of trace data	
Chart type	Load from file	
	N	/



Method for Acquiring Graph Data	Description
Real-time sampling analysis	Select [Real-time sampling] in this property.
	This method displays graphs based on the data acquired via the RRM function/ pseudo RRM function of the debug tool (default).
	Note, however, that if the debug tool is set in Data collection mode, then the data will be collected using a sampling method <sup>Note</sup> for Smart Analog. Therefore, select this item When graphing the data collected for Smart Analog [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]].
Trace data analysis	Select [Analysis of trace data] in this property.
	This method displays graphs based on the trace data acquired via the Trace function of the debug tool.
	This item does not appear when any one of the following:
	- The debug tool does not support the trace function.
	- The debug tool is set in Data collection mode <sup>Note</sup> .
Load from file	Select [Load from file] in this property.
	This method restores graphs by loading the analysis chart data file (*.mtac) that have been saved (see "(6) Save the graph data to restore the graph).

#### Table 2-10. Method for Acquiring Graph Data

# Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

The following property setting on the Property panel is required.

- [Variable Value Changing] tab >> [Smart Analog] category >> [Sampling interval[ms]] property

The differences depending on the method for acquiring graph data are as follows:

Table 2-11.	Differences Depe	nding on Metho	d for Acquirin	g Graph Data

Differences	Real-time Sampling Analysis	Trace Data Analysis
Graph display	Possible when the debug tool is in any of the following states: - RRM function/pseudo RRM function is enabled - Data collection mode	Possible when Trace function of the debug tool is enabled
Chart type	One of the following <sup>Note 1</sup> - Step-plot line chart - Normal line chart	Step-plot line chart (fixed)
Registration of graphing targets	Before execution of a program	Not dependent on the execution timing because analysis is based on trace data
Number of targets that can be graphed	Dependent on the size of the target area of RRM function <sup>Note 2</sup> .	If Point Trace events are used: Dependent on the maximum number of enabled events <sup>Note 3</sup> in the debug tool
Size of targets that can be graphed	- Less than or equal to 4 bytes	<ul> <li>Less than or equal to 4 bytes [RX][V850]</li> <li>Less than or equal to 2 bytes [RL78][78K0R][78K0]</li> </ul>
Time display range	The execution time, from the start to the end of program execution (Run-Break time)	Time registered as trace data
Time display format	XXXsXXXms	XXXsXXXmsXXXµsXXXns
Real-time update	Possible	Impossible



Differences	Real-time Sampling Analysis	Trace Data Analysis
Transition points of value	Not possible to identify accurate time/change points, because they depend on the specified sampling interval <sup>Note 4</sup> .	Matches actual timing (can be checked from Pop-up display)
Note	<ul> <li>It may not be possible to identify the sampling interval, depending on the number of graphing targets registered.</li> <li>It may not be possible to acquire graph data. if acquiring data has failed, lines between transition points are not displayed but only the time information is displayed (see "(a) Graph").</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>It is not possible to analyze changes in values in the following case:</li> <li>In regions where the variable is assigned to a register via compiler optimizations</li> <li>When a 2-byte region is written in units of 1 byte, or a 4-byte region is written in units of 1 or 2 bytes</li> <li>When the external trace/OCD internal trace of the debug tool being used does not support trace data of the access type (read/write) (because the graph is rendered by analyzing trace data of the access type.)</li> </ul>

**Notes 1.** This depends on the following setting on the Property panel:

- [Variable Value Changing] tab >> [General] category >> [Chart type] property

- 2. [E20(JTAG)[RX600 Series]][IECUBE[V850]][MINICUBE2[78K0]][EZ Emulator[78K0]] Some restrictions apply to the size and the number of the target area for the RRM function. For details on "the target area for the RRM function", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug" of the microcontroller used.
- 3. The number of events that can be set to "valid state" simultaneously differs depending on the microcontroller and the debug tool. For details on "Maximum number of enabled events", see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug" of the microcontroller used.
- 4. If RRM function/pseudo RRM function is used:
  - Debug tool's Property panel >> [Debug Tool Settings] tab >> [Access Memory While Running] category >> [Display update interval[ms]] property
  - If the debug tool is in Data collection mode:
    - Property panel >> [Variable Value Changing] tab >> [Smart Analog] category >> [Sampling interval[ms]] property

# (3) Use the trigger function

If you specify Real-time sampling analysis, you can control the timing with which the graph is displayed in response to the specified trigger. You can use this trigger function to display the graph with the appearance of an oscillio-scope.

The trigger function can be configured in the [Trigger] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

Your configuration contents will be listed on this tab as the trigger information.

Caution The properties in the [Trigger] category cannot be changed during execution of a program.



Figure 2-31. Setting of Trigger Function ([Trigger] Category)

Ξ	Trigger	
	Use trigger function	Yes
	Trigger mode	Auto
	Trigger source	ch1
	Trigger level	0
	Direction of trigger edge	Rising
	Trigger position	Os
	Trigger-mark color	Orange

#### (a) [Use trigger function]

Specify whether to use the trigger function from the drop-down list. Select [Yes] to use the trigger function ([No] is selected by default).

#### (b) [Trigger mode]

Specify the trigger mode (the timing at which graphs are updated) from the drop-down list.

Auto	Updates the graph display cyclically in real time (default).
	When a trigger signal is received, the data immediately prior to the trigger signal is graphed to the left of the trigger position, and the data immediately after the trigger signal is graphed to the right of the trigger position. When the graph reaches the right edge of the graph area, the graph resumes scrolling to the left, and the graph display is updated.
Single	Only updates the graph display upon the first trigger signal from the start of sampling. When a trigger signal is received, the data immediately prior to the trigger signal is graphed to the left of the trigger position, and the data immediately after the trigger signal is graphed to the right of the trigger position. When the graph reaches the right edge of the graph area, the graph display stops updating and sampling <sup>Note</sup> .
Normal	Only updates the graph display upon trigger signals. When a trigger signal is received, the data immediately prior to the trigger signal is graphed to the left of the trigger position, and the data immediately after the trigger signal is graphed to the right of the trigger position. When the graph reaches the right edge of the graph area, the graph display stops updating. Because sampling does not stop, the graph display is updated upon the next trigger signal.

- **Note** The sampling is stopped regardless of whether [Sync] or [Manual] is selected in the [Start/stop real-time sampling] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.
- **Remark** Triggers are suspended while the graph is being updated in response to a trigger signal. A trigger signal received during this time will not cause the graph display to be updated. In [Auto] and [Single] modes, trigger signals are ignored while triggers are suspended. In [Normal] mode, the graph is updated in response to the latest trigger signal when trigger suspension is lifted.

### (c) [Trigger source]

Specify the variable (channel) that is the source of trigger signal. Select a channel between ch1 and ch16 from the drop-down list ([ch1] is selected by default).

#### (d) [Trigger level]

Specify the threshold value for determining as a trigger signal.

The variable (channel) specified for [Trigger source] determines whether a trigger signal is recognized, according to whether the value exceeds the threshold set here.

Directly enter a value with a decimal or hexadecimal number in the range "minimum trigger source" to "maximum trigger source" (floating-point decimals allowed) ([0] is selected by default).

**Remark** The trigger level is displayed on the right part of graphs as the trigger mark ( < ). The trigger level can be changed by dragging on this trigger mark (note, this operation is disabled during execution of a program).

#### (e) [Direction of trigger edge]

Specify the direction of the threshold value specified with [Trigger level] from the drop-down list. The variable (channel) specified for [Trigger source] determines whether a trigger signal is recognized, according to whether the value exceeds the threshold in the direction set here.

Rising	Generates a trigger signal when the value of [Trigger source] changes from less than [Trigger level]	
	to greater than or equal to [Trigger level] (default).	
Falling	Generates a trigger signal when the value of [Trigger source] changes from greater than [Trigger	
	level] to less than or equal to [Trigger level].	
Both	Generates a trigger signal when both "Rising" and "Falling".	

#### (f) [Trigger position]

Specify the position on the X axis for rendering the location at which the trigger signal occurred (i.e. position where the data is graphed after a trigger signal occurs).

Specify this by directly entering the value in decimal number within the following range ([0s] is selected by default). Note that if the unit (s, ms, us, ns: case insensitive) is omitted, it will be handled as "ms".

- 0 to "(the value of the [Time per grid[Time/Div]] property) x 10"

# (g) [Trigger mark color]

Specify the color of the trigger marks (  $\checkmark$  /  $\checkmark$  ) that indicate the trigger level and the trigger position. Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter the value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:") ([Color Orange] is selected by default).

# (4) Display graphs

After you have executed<sup>Note</sup> and stopped the program, the latest graph for the registered graphing target is displayed (default).

Note, however, that no graphs will be displayed if the corresponding data could not be acquired. Graphs are updated when:

#### - [Real-time sampling analysis]

Each time of the specified sampling interval, even if a program is running.

You can control (toggle) the start/stop of a real-time sampling manually via the [Sampling] button on this tab, by performing the following setting on the Property panel.

- [Variable Value Changing] tab >> [General] category >> [Start/stop real-time sampling] property >> [Manual]

### - [Trace data analysis]

Each time program execution is stopped. Note, however, that if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Yes] (default), the information will be updated in accordance with the setting on the Property panel.

### Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

Click the button on the debug toolbar to operate the debug tool in Data collection mode (all executionrelated buttons other than the button are disabled). For details on Smart Analog function, see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug".

- Cautions 1. If the acquired graph data exceeds the buffer capacity (10000 plots), then the oldest graph data is overwritten by the new graph data (ring buffer system). In this case, part of the graph rendering will be blank.
  - When Real-time sampling analysis is selected, if acquiring graph data has failed, lines between transition points are not displayed but only the time information is displayed (see "(a) Graph").
  - 3. [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

If you run the program by the debug tool in the Data collection mode, change the [Data collection channel] property in the [Smart Analog] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel, and run the program again in the data collection mode, the first transition point in the graph may be incorrect.

RemarkThere are limitations to the trace memory area of the debug tool.Consequently, if the graph is displayed via Trace data analysis, then we recommend setting a PointTrace event for the graphing target in the Watch panel, in order to display transitions of values over a

The display of this graph can be configured as follows.

#### (a) Selection of channels

wider range.

You can select the graph to be displayed.

To hide a graph, clear the Variable name check box corresponding to its channel number. In the default condition, all graphs of channels where the graphing target is being registered are displayed.

#### (b) Selection of the chart type

When Real-time sampling analysis is selected, you can select the chart type to be displayed. To change the chart type, set the [Chart type] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel (note, however, that if Trace data analysis is selected, then the chart type is fixed to [Step line chart]).

Line chart	Creates a graph linking each plot via straight lines (default).
Step line chart	Creates a graph linking each plot via perpendicular lines (step-plot chart).



#### Figure 2-32. Chart Type



**Remark** You can also specify the rendering color of a graph for each channel individually. To make the setting, set the [Color *1-16*] property in the [Channel *1-16*] category on the same tab.

#### (c) Setting the display range

The graph is displayed by dividing the X and Y axes into a 10 x 10 grid.

- Time (X axis)

You can specify the time per unit grid for all channels. To make the setting, set the [Time per grid[Time/ Div]] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel. - Value (Y axis)

You can specify the value per unit grid for each channel individually. To make the setting, set the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] property in the [Channel 1 - 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

In addition, you can also specify an offset value of Y axis for each channel individually. To make the setting, set the [Offset 1-16] property in the [Channel 1-16] category on the same tab.

Remarks 1. You can also adjust the offset in the Y axis for each channel by clicking and vertically dragging the mouse while pressing the [Shift] key with the mouse cursor placed over any of the transition points in the graph (the mouse cursor transforms into the <i >16] property described above reflects this change.

Note, however, that this operation is disabled during execution of a program.

2. Double-clicking Val/Div on the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel automatically adjusts the values of the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] and [Offset 1-16] properties so that the graph for the selected channel will be shown in the entire rendering area (the upper and lower limits of the display area indicate the maximum and minimum values of the graph data, respectively).

Note, however, that this operation is disabled during execution of a program.

#### (5) Validate the graph data

You can perform the following operations on the displayed graph as needed.

#### Caution These operations below are disabled during execution of a program.

#### (a) Pop-up display at a transition point

Check the information about transition points in the graph.

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a transition point on the graph, information about that location appears in a pop-up.

Note, however, that the content displayed will differ depending on the method for acquiring the graph data (see "(g) Pop-up display").



# Figure 2-33. Pop-up Display at Transition Point



**Remark** When the [Location] information is shown in a pop-up, you can display the applicable location in the Editor panel by double-clicking the transition point (except for a graph that was restored by loading the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac)).

#### (b) Cursor measurement

You can check the time and value at the position of Cursor-A/Cursor-B on the graph. You can get a cursor measurement for the X axis (Time) or Y axis (Value).

Measurements appear in a list in the cursor information area on this tab (see "(4) Cursor information area"). To perform this measurement, first use the cursor selection button ([X Axis (Time)] button/[Y Axis (Value)] button) to select the target axis to measure. Then, set Cursor-A and Cursor-B to the desired location on the graph by using the following operations (the cursors are hidden by default).

Cursor	Setting (Show)	Clear Setting (Hide)
Cursor-A	[Ctrl] key + click	[Ctrl] key + double-click
Cursor-B	[Ctrl] key + right-click	[Ctrl] key + right-double-click

**Remark** You can change the color of each cursor via the [Cursor-A color]/[Cursor-B color] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### (c) Zoom

You can zoom in on any location on the graph.

In the graph control area, select the zoom 1 - 4 check boxes (multiple selections allowed) to open the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel for the checked number(s), and view the specified range in a zoomed display (you can open up to four Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panels).



Zoom	Zoom1	1	2 🔽 1	2	3	4	
[Zoom] c	combo box		Zoom 1	- 4 che	ck box	]	

To set the zoom range, select the number of the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel in the [Zoom] combo box, then click and drag with the mouse to select the zoom area (during this time, you can reset the zoom range by using the same operation, as long as Zoom frame appears indicating the drag region displayed on the graph).

To clear the range, double-click somewhere in the graph area (a transition point is not included). See the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel for details on zoomed views.



Figure 2-35. Zoom (Variable Value Changing Chart (zoom in) Panel)

- **Remarks 1.** You can set separate zoom ranges for each of four Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel views.
  - 2. You can change the color of each zoom frame via the [Zoom-1 4 color] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### (6) Save the graph data to restore the graph

You can restore the graph currently being displayed by loading the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) which saves the data of the graph.

The procedure for restoring the graph is as follows:

#### (a) Save the graph data

- For the graph on the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab

When the graph to be saved are being displayed on this tab, select [Save Analysis Chart Data As...] from the [File] menu to open the Save As dialog box.

On this dialog box, select "Analysis Chart Data (\*.mtac)" in the [Save as type] area and specify the name of new file in the [File name] area, and then click the [Save] button (note that the file extension must be "mtac").

- For the graph on the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel

When the graph to be saved are being displayed on this panel, select [Save] button to open the Save As dialog box.

On this dialog box, select "Analysis Chart Data (\*.mtac)" in the [Save as type] area and specify the name of new file in the [File name] area, and then click the [Save] button (note that the file extension must be "mtac").

However, the graph data saved on the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel is limited to the zoom range.

### (b) Load the graph data

On the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel, select [Load from file] in the [Analysis method] property in the [General] category (see "(2) Select the method for acquiring the graph data").

Then, specify the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) that was saved previously with the [Analysis chart data file] property in the same category.

🗆 General	
Analysis method	Load from file
Analysis chart data file	C:\Test\Sample\Chart_01.mtac 🤜
Time per grid[Time/Div]	1ms
Chart type	Line chart
Specify foreground color and background color	No
Cursor-A color	PaleGreen
Cursor-B color	PaleTurquoise
Zoom-1 color	64, 255, 10, 79
Zoom-2 color	64, 91, 228, 22
Zoom-3 color	64, 5, 109, 239
Zoom-4 color	64, 255, 84, 28

# Figure 2-36. Load Graph Data ([General] Category)

At this time, data items to be saved/restored are as follows:

Data Item		Restored Location					
Graph data for	each channel						
Value		- The graph display area					
Time		- The channel information area					
Information	about display or non-display						
The values of the	ne properties on the [Variable Valu	e Changing] tab in the Property panel					
Time per un	it grid	[General] category >> [Time per grid[Time/Div]] property					
The name of channel	f variable registered in each	[Channel 1 - 16] category >> [Variable/Address 1 - 16] property					
Type/size fo	or each channel	[Channel 1 - 16] category >> [Type/Size 1 - 16] property					
Value per u	nit grid for each channel	[Channel 1 - 16] category >> [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] property					
Offset value	for each channel	[Channel 1 - 16] category >> [Offset 1 - 16] property					
Sampling in	terval [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]	[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]] [Smart Analog] category >> [Sampling interval[ms]] property Note that saving is possible only when the selected microcontroller incorporates a Smart Analog IC and the debug tool has collected graph data in the Data collection mode.					

# Caution Channels without graph data are not saved, regardless of whether the graph is visible. In this case, the default values of the properties for that channel are applied.

**Remark** See "2.14 Save Analysis Information" for details about saving graph data for purposes other than restoring graphs.

### 2.13.2 Chart the function execution time ratios

Display a pie chart of the function execution time ratios.

The chart is displayed in the Analysis Chart panel's [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab, based on the currently acquired Dynamic analysis information (equivalent to [Execution Time(Percentage)[%]] in the Function List panel). If the trace memory is empty, the message "There is no execution time information." will appear.

See the [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab for details on each of the area displayed.

# Cautions 1. When the debug tool to use does not support the Trace function, or when the debug tool's trace function is not enabled, this chart cannot be displayed.

2. [IECUBE [78K0]] Because the trace time tag function is not supported, this chart cannot be displayed.





The following operations can be performed on the call graph displayed.

#### (1) Specify the number of functions to display

You can change the number of functions displayed in the chart.

To do this, specify the number in the [The number of functions displaying in the Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] property in the [Analysis Chart] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel (set to [10] by default). The targets are graphed in ranking order of highest proportion of execution time taken. Functions exceeding the number specified here are displayed together under "Others".

#### (2) Pop-up display of execution time

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a function, information about that function's execution time appears in a pop-up.





Figure 2-38. Pop-up Display of Execution Time

Remark The display contents are updated each time program execution is stopped. Note, however, that if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Yes] (default), the information will be updated in accordance with the setting on the Property panel.



### 2.14 Save Analysis Information

You can save the contents of the Function List panel, Variable List panel, Call Graph panel, Analysis Chart panel and Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel to a file.

#### (1) Save function information

To do this, with the focus on the Function List panel, select [Save Function List Data As...] from the [File] menu. The Save As dialog box opens; perform the operation from this dialog.

The following file formats can be specified when saving the information.

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format
Function List file (*.mtfl)	File format to import the function information (see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".)

#### Caution Only the items/analysis information currently displayed in the panel can be saved.

#### (2) Save variable information

To do this, with the focus on the Variable List panel, select [Save Variable List Data As...] from the [File] menu. The Save As dialog box opens; perform the operation from this dialog.

The following file formats can be specified when saving the information.

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format
Variable List file (*.mtvl)	File format to import the variable information (see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".)

#### Caution Only the items/analysis information currently displayed in the panel can be saved.

#### (3) Save call graph information

To do this, with the focus on the Call Graph panel, select [Save Call Graph Data As...] from the [File] menu. The Save As dialog box opens; perform the operation from this dialog.

The following file formats can be specified when saving the information.

Note that when "(Only the visible part)" is selected, only the part currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.

Bitmap(Only the visible part) (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)
JPEG(Only the visible part) (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)
PNG(Only the visible part) (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)
Bitmap (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)
JPEG (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)
PNG (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)
EMF (*.emf)	EMF format (graphic file format)



# Caution All part of the call graph may not successfully be saved as a graphic file format if the project is too big.

**Remark** If the zoom function has been applied, then the image will be saved at the current zoom ratio (except for EMF format).

#### (4) Save graph information

To do this, with the focus on the Analysis Chart panel, select [Save Analysis Chart Data As...] from the [File] menu, or with the focus on the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel, click the [Save] button. The Save As dialog box opens; perform the operation from this dialog.

The following file formats can be specified when saving the information.

Text file (*.txt)	Text format			
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format			
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format			
Analysis Chart Data (*.mtac) <sup>Note</sup>	Analysis chart data file			
Bitmap (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)			
JPEG (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)			
PNG (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)			
EMF(*.emf)	EMF format (Graphic file format)			

- Notes 1. This format is only applied to the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel.
  - 2. Only the area of graph rendering is saved (trigger marks, channel information, etc. cannot be saved).
- Cautions 1. For the Analysis Chart panel, only the contents of the currently displayed tab will be saved.
  When the graphic file format is selected, only the part currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.



# **CHAPTER 3 CAUTIONS**

This chapter describes cautions for using the analyze tool.

## 3.1 Changing Active Project

If you change the active project, it is possible that nothing will be shown in the Function List panel/Variable List panel/ Call Graph panel/Class/Member panel, because no cross reference file has been generated.

If this happens, rebuild after setting the [Enable static analysis information] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel to [Yes]. The contents of the panel will be updated.

#### 3.2 Coverage Results

The results of code coverage and data coverage store the program's execution results. If you repeatedly download, execute, and stop your program, then the results for the repeated actions will be displayed.

To clear the coverage results, select [Clear Coverage Information] from the context menu of the Editor panel/Disassemble panel, and then click the select the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

If you change the program and execute a build, the allocation addresses of the functions and variables may differ from those of the previous builds. If this happens, coverage ratio will appear for functions that have not been executed, and for variables that have not been read or written.

#### 3.3 Trace Data Analysis

Notes on acquisition of graph data through Trace data analysis are listed below.

- If you mix a Point Trace event and a Trace event specified sections, then the instruction line at the end of the Trace event specified section may be applied to subsequent Point Trace event. For this reason, although [Location] in the pop-up display on the graph should be "-", an invalid file name and line number may appear.
- bit-type, Boolean-type, and \_Bool-type variables and structure bit-fields are analyzed in byte units. In cases where bit-type, Boolean-type, and \_Bool-type variables and structure bit-fields are allocated to the same address, even a point where access to a single variable or structure bit-field occurs is recorded as a transition point in the graph.
   Double-clicking on the transition point will jump to the source line of another variable that is allocated to the same address.

If a structure bit-field is assigned to several bytes, some of the information on the byte access is not included in the output trace data. This portion is displayed as a lost section (see "(a) Graph") in the graph since the value of the variable cannot be analyzed.

# 3.4 When the Panel Is Opened during Execution of Program

#### (1) Function List panel/Variable List panel

The updated static analysis information will be displayed. The dynamic analysis information is not updated.

#### (2) Call Graph panel

- If this panel has been never opened since CubeSuite+ was launched: The updated static analysis information will be displayed. The dynamic analysis information is not updated.

- If this panel has been opened once since CubeSuite+ was launched: The previous display contents will be displayed.

#### (3) Class/Member panel

The updated static analysis information will be displayed. The dynamic analysis information is not updated.

#### (4) Analysis Chart panel

- If this panel has been never opened since CubeSuite+ was launched:

[Variable Value Changing Chart] tab	Nothing will be displayed.
[Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab	Nothing will be displayed.

#### - If this panel has been opened once since CubeSuite+ was launched:

[Variable Value Changing Chart] tab	<ul> <li>Real-time sampling analysis:</li> <li>The graph will be updated at the specified sampling interval.</li> </ul>
	- Trace data analysis: The previous display contents will be displayed.
[Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab	The previous display contents will be displayed.

# (5) Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel

The previous display contents will be displayed.



# APPENDIX A WINDOW REFERENCE

Appendix A provides detailed explanations of windows/panels/dialog boxes used by the analyze tool.

# A.1 Description

The analyze tool has the following windows, panels and dialog boxes.

Window/Panel/Dialog Box Name	Description
Main window	This is the first window to open when CubeSuite+ is launched.
Project Tree panel	Displays the components of the project in a tree structure.
Property panel	Displays detailed information on the analyze tool and changes the settings of the informa- tion.
Function List panel	Displays the acquired function information.
Variable List panel	Displays the acquired variable information.
Call Graph panel	Displays calling relationships between functions (call graph).
Class/Member panel	Displays the acquired class information <b>[CC-RX]</b> <sup>Note</sup> , function information and variable information in a tree structure.
Analysis Chart panel	Displays charts of the acquired function information and variable information.
Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel	Zooms in on the specified range on the chart.
Output panel	Displays operation logs for various components provided by CubeSuite+ and the reference list for functions/variables.
Path Edit dialog box	Specifies the information file (function list file (*.mtfl)/variable list file (*.mtvl)) to import.
Open File dialog box	Selects a file to restore graphs.
Column Chooser dialog box	Changes the order of the display items and the setting of display/non-display for the Func- tion List panel/Variable List panel.
Call Graph Search dialog box	Searches for a function/variable exists in the call graph displayed in the Call Graph panel.
Filter Settings dialog box	Specifies the filter conditions to display the information on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.
Save As dialog box	Saves the contents of the Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Analy- sis Chart panel to a file with a name. Generates the information file (function list file (*.mtfl)/variable list file (*.mtvl)).

Table A-1. Window/Panel/Dialog Box List

# Note [CC-RX]

The class information is provided only when C++ source files are subject to analysis.



## Main window

This is the first window to open when CubeSuite+ is launched. In this window. you can open panels for the analyze tool.



🙆 Test02 – CubeSuite+ – [Project Tree]								C	
1) — <u>File Edit Yiew Project Build Debug Tool Window</u>	Help								
ି 🚳 Start । 🔚 🗿 🖁 💥 🐚 🖄 । ୬ ୧୦   ନ	£1. ∰ ∰ ∰.		100%	*		1 m m		J   SE CE S	言義
2) — 🔽 🖓 🖉 🤻 🔵									
Project Tree # X	🗹 CG_ma	in.c   🗹 CG_ad_us	er.c 🗹 (	G_timer_user.c	Propert	ty			- x
2 0 2 2	< Progra	m Analyzer Propert	у						- +
🖃 🗖 Test02 (Project)	🗆 General	land an an and							^
Rupp70E3743 (Microcontroller)	Enable s	static analysis infor	mation				Yes		
😨 🖉 Pin Configurator (Design Tool)	Enable o	lynamic analysis in	formation				Yes		
🖫 🥮 Code Generator (Design Tool)	Accumu	late result of analys	SIS	ataranaa			No		
CASED (Build Teel)	Befresh	at program stop	ation as i	elerences			Yes		
S 1000 Simulator (Debug Teel)	Unit of t	time					ns		
	Delimits	arguments by new	line				No		
Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool/	Display	the SFR / IOR					No		
	Display	the function/variab	le without	definition at Cal	ll Graph pane	d.	No		-
	Output f	unction information	at progra	m stop			No		
	Ask whether cancel the result of analysis or not when out of memory error occurred Yes								
	🗆 Import / Export 👱								
	General								
(3) —	Setting	s 🖉 Variable Valu	e Changir	na /					*
	Function Lis	st							ņχ
	2 71 4	1 🔊 🐼 🔊 1	Unit of T	ime≁					
		Function Name	- 77	File Name	⊽-¤ Attribu	te ⊽-p Return T	vpe ⊽+¤	Arguments	^
	AD I	nit	C	à_ad.c	-/	void	void		
	👘 👡 AD_I	Read	00	à_ad.c	-	unsigned s	hort unsign	ed short * buffe	er
	AD_S	Start	CC	à_ad.c	-	void	void		
	av AD_S	Stop	CC	à_ad.c	-	void	void		
	👘 🛶 MD J	INTAD	CC	à_ad_user.c	-	void	void		
	-v CG_F	ReadResetSource	CO	à_system_user.c	-	void	void		
	CLOCK_Init		CO	à_system.c		void	void		
	MD J	INTTPOCCO	00	à_timer_user.c	-	void	void		
	👘 🛶 MD I	INTTP1CC0	00	à timer user.c	-	void	void		~
	<		jult:						>
< > >	- Function	n List 🔝 Output							
F7 F2 F3 F4	FS	FG	F7	FB	FS	FID	FN	FR2	
								DISCONN	IECT

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]

## [How to open]

- From the Windows [start] menu, select [All Programs] >> [Renesas Electronics CubeSuite+] >> [CubeSuite+].



# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Menubar

#### (a) [View]

The [View] menu for the analyze tool provides the following items and functions (default).

Output		Opens the Output panel.	
Program Analyzer		The following cascade menus are displayed to open panels for the analyze tool.	
	Function List	Opens the Function List panel.	
	Variable List	Opens the Variable List panel.	
	Analysis Chart	Opens the Analysis Chart panel.	
	Call Graph	Opens the Call Graph panel.	
	Class/Member	Opens the Class/Member panel.	

# (2) Toolbar

The toolbar for the analyze tool provides the following items and functions (default).

<b>\$</b>	Opens the Function List panel. The function of this item is the same as that of [Function List] in the [View] menu.
4	Opens the Variable List panel. The function of this item is the same as that of [Variable List] in the [View] menu.
	Opens the Analysis Chart panel. The function of this item is the same as that of [Analysis Chart] in the [View] menu.
₹¥	Opens the Call Graph panel. The function of this item is the same as that of [Call Graph] in the [View] menu.
<b>4</b> 73	Opens the Class/Member panel. The function of this item is the same as that of [Class/Member] in the [View] menu.

#### (3) Panel display area

This area consists of multiple panels, each dedicated to a different purpose. See the following sections for details on a panel used by the analyze tool.

- Project Tree panel
- Property panel
- Function List panel
- Variable List panel
- Call Graph panel
- Class/Member panel
- Analysis Chart panel
- Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel
- Output panel



# **Project Tree panel**

This panel is used to display components of the project (microcontroller, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) in a tree structure.





The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Context menu]

# [How to open]

- From the [View] menu, select [Project Tree].



# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Project tree area

Project components are displayed in tree view with the following given node.

Node	Description
Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool)	This is the analyze tool to use.

**Remark** When the node is selected, the detailed information (property) is displayed in the Property panel, and you can change the settings.

The Property panel can be opened by double-clicking on the node when the Property panel is not opened.

# [Context menu]

The following context menu items are displayed by right clicking the mouse on [Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool)] node.

Function List	Opens the Function List panel.		
Variable List	Opens the Variable List panel.		
Analysis Chart	Opens the Analysis Chart panel.		
Call Graph	Opens the Call Graph panel.		
Class/Member	Opens the Class/Member panel.		
Property	Opens the Property panel containing the information for the analyze tool.		



#### **Property panel**

This panel is used to display the detailed information on the analyze tool and change the settings of the information.

Figure A-3.	Property Panel	(Example of	Using [V850])
-------------	----------------	-------------	---------------

	Pr	operty	8
	đ	Program Analyzer Property	-+
Г		General	
		Enable static analysis information	No
		Enable dynamic analysis information	No
		Accumulate result of analysis	No
		Include the prototype declaration as references	Yes
		Refresh at program stop	Yes
		Unit of time	ns
		Delimits arguments by new line	No
(1)—		Display the SFR / IOR	No
		Display the function/variable without definition at Call Graph panel	No
		Output function information at program stop	No
		Ask whether cancel the result of analysis or not when out of memory error occurred	Yes
	Ξ	Import / Export	
	Ð	Import files	Import files[0]
		Export the functions and variables	No
	Ξ	Analysis Chart	
L		The number of functions displaying in the Execution Time(Percentage) Chart	10
	G	eneral	
(2)	1	Settings / Variable Value Changing /	•

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [[Edit] menu (Property panel-dedicated items)]
- [Context menu]

#### [How to open]

- On the Project Tree panel, select the [Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool)] node, and then select [Property] from the [View] menu.
- On the Project Tree panel, select the [Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool)] node, and then select [Property] from the context menu.
- **Remark** If the Property panel has been opened, the detailed information on the analyze tool is displayed by selecting the [Program Analyzer (Analyze Tool)] node on the Project Tree panel.

# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Detailed information display/change area

In this area, the detailed information on the analyze tool is displayed by category in the list. Also, you can directly change its settings.

For details on the information/how to setup in the category and property items contained in it, see the section explaining the corresponding tab.

# (2) Tab selection area

Categories for the display of the detailed information are changed when each tab is selected. In this panel, a following tab is contained (see the section explaining the tab for details on the display/setting).

- [Settings] tab

- [Variable Value Changing] tab

# [[Edit] menu (Property panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Undo	Undoes the latest property value editing being done.	
Cut Deletes the selected character string(s) and copies them to the clipboard property value.		
Сору	Copies the contents of the selected range to the clipboard as character string(s).	
Paste	Pastes the contents of the clipboard to the property value while editing the property value.	
Delete	Deletes the selected character string(s) while editing the property value.	
Select All Selects all the character strings in the selected property while editing the		

#### [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

#### (1) While not editing the property value

Reset to Default	Restores the selected setting of the property item to default value.	
Reset All to Default	Restores all the selected settings of the property items on the tab to default value.	

#### (2) While editing the property value

Undo	Undoes the latest property value editing being done.		
Cut	Deletes the selected character string(s) and copies them to the clipboard while editing the property value.		
Copy Copies the contents of the selected range to the clipboard as character string(s			
Paste	Pastes the contents of the clipboard to the property value while editing the property value.		
Delete Deletes the selected character string(s) while editing the property value.			
Select All Selects all the character strings in the selected property while editing the prop			



# [Settings] tab

The [Setting] tab is used to display the detailed information categorized by the following and the configuration can be changed.

- (1) [General]
- (2) [Import / Export]
- (3) [Analysis Chart]

Pr	operty	8		
4	Program Analyzer Property	- +		
	General			
	Enable static analysis information	No		
	Enable dynamic analysis information	No		
	Accumulate result of analysis	No		
	Include the prototype declaration as references	Yes		
	Refresh at program stop	Yes		
	Unit of time	ns		
	Delimits arguments by new line	No		
	Display the SFR / IOR	No		
	Display the function/variable without definition at Call Graph panel	No		
	Output function information at program stop	No		
	Ask whether cancel the result of analysis or not when out of memory error occurred	Yes		
Ξ	Import / Export			
Ŧ	Import files	Import files[0]		
	Export the functions and variables	No		
Ξ	🗆 Analysis Chart			
	The number of functions displaying in the Execution Time(Percentage) Chart	10		
G	eneral			
1	Settings / Variable Value Changing /	-		

# Figure A-4. Property Panel: [Settings] Tab (Example of Using [V850])

# [Description of each category]

# (1) [General]

The general information on the analyze tool is displayed and its configuration can be changed.

Enable static analysis information	Specify whether the analyze tool should force output of cross reference information when per- forming a build in order to obtain the cross-reference information necessary to acquire Static analysis information, ignoring the property setting <sup>Note 1</sup> on the build tool specifying whether to output cross reference information.			
	Default	No		
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.		
	Available values	Yes	Ignores the build tool's property settings, and forces the output of cross reference information.	
	·	No	Gives priority to the build tool's property settings.	


Enable dynamic analysis information	Specify whether to forcibly enable the functions of the debug tool <sup>Note 2</sup> ignoring the property settings (enabled/disabled) of those functions that are necessary for the analyze tool to acquire the Dynamic analysis information.				
	Default	No			
	Modifying	Select from t	he drop-down list.		
	Available values	Yes	Ignores the debug tool's property settings, and enables the debug tool's functions forcibly.		
		No	Gives priority to the debug tool's property settings.		
Accumulate result of	Specify whet	her to display the cumulative value for each program execution for the execution			
analysis	count and ex	xecution time as the analysis information.			
	The target items for this property are as follows:				
	- Function List panel				
	[Execution	Count]/[Execu	tion Time[ <i>unit</i> ]]		
	- Variable Li	st panel			
	[Read Cou	nt]/[Write Cour	nt]/[Read/Write Count]/[Minimum Value]/[Maximum Value]		
	- Call Graph	panel			
	Execution	count]/Read co	ount/Write count		
	Default	No			
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.			
	Available values	Yes	Displays the sum of the measurements from the last program execution and from this one.		
		No	Displays the measurements for each program execution.		
			If the value is changed from [Yes] to [No], then the current anal- ysis results will be cleared, and the measured values displayed.		
Include the prototype declaration as references	Specify wheth ences when a erencing Loc	pecify whether to target the prototype declaration as the information of the function refer- nces when displaying a list of locations referencing a function (see "2.11 Display List of rencing Location").			
	Default	Yes			
	Modifying	[CA850][CA	78K0R][CA78K0]		
		Changes not allowed			
		[CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]			
		Select from the drop-down list.			
	Available	Yes	Displays the prototype declaration.		
	values	No	Does not display the prototype declaration.		
Refresh at program stop	Specify wheth Graph panel/	Specify whether to update the contents of the Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Analysis Chart panel/ when the program stops executing.			
	Default	Yes			
	Modifying	Select from t	he drop-down list.		
	Available values	Yes	Updates the contents of the panel after the program execution is stopped.		
	-	No	Does not update the contents of the panel even if the program execution is stopped.		
		Specify individually	Enables the <u>the</u> button on each panel (updates the contents of the panel by clicking this button).		



Unit of time	Specify the ti	Specify the time unit for the analyze tool.				
	Default	ns				
	Modifying	Select from the	he drop-down list.			
	Available	ns	Displays the time in nanosecond units.			
	values		The value is rounded to integer number.			
		μs	Displays the time in microsecond units.			
			The value is rounded to three decimal places.			
		ms	Displays the time in millisecond units.			
			The value is rounded to three decimal places.			
		s	Displays the time in second units.			
			The value is rounded to three decimal places.			
		h:min:s	Displays the time as "hours, minutes (0 - 59), seconds (0 - 59)".			
Delimits arguments by	Specify wheth	Specify whether to display the [Arguments] items in the Function List panel with newlines.				
new line	Default	No				
	Modifying	Select from the	Select from the drop-down list.			
	Available	Yes	Displays in multiple lines, one value per line.			
	values	No	Displays without newlines, comma (",") separated.			
Display the SFR/IOR	Specify whet	her to display the	he SFR/IOR on the Variable List panel by treating it as a variable.			
	Default	No				
	Modifying	[CA850][CX]	[[CA78K0R][CA78K0]			
		Select from the drop-down list.				
		[CC-RX][NC30(Localised support)]				
		Changes n	iot allowed			
	Available	Yes	Displays the SFR/IOR.			
	Values	No	Does not display the SFR/IOR.			
Display the function/vari- able without definition at	Specify wheth whose sourc	her to display the file does not a	he function/variable without definition (i.e. a function/variable exist) in the Call Graph panel.			
Call Graph panel	Default	No				
	Modifying	Select from the	he drop-down list.			
	Available	Yes	Displays the function without definition.			
	values	No	Does not display the function without definition.			



Output function informa- tion at program stop [V850]	Specify whether to output the information file for STF <sup>Note 2</sup> to the folder specified with "[Common Options] tab >> [Output File Type and Path] category >> [Intermediate file output folder] property" on the property panel of the build tool to use.			
	Default	No		
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.		
	Available values	Yes	<ul> <li>When [Yes] is selected, the contents of the Function List panel currently being displayed is output to a file (if the Function List panel is not displayed, the information acquired from the last trace data is output).</li> <li>Thereafter, the information acquired from the last trace data is output to the file each time program execution is stopped.</li> <li>Note that the file is always overwritten.</li> </ul>	
		No	Does not output the information file for STF.	
Ask whether cancel the result of analysis or not when out of memory error occurred	Specify whether to save the memory capacity by deleting the result of analysis or to display the incomplete result of analysis without deleting it when an insufficient memory error occurs during a processing of analysis. Note, however, that the operation of CubeSuite+ may become unstable if the result of analysis is not deleted.			
	Default	Yes		
	Modifying	Select from the	ne drop-down list.	
	Available values	Yes	Displays a message dialog box prompting you to select whether or not to delete the result of analysis when an insufficient memory error occurs.	
		No	Does not display a message dialog box and deletes the result of analysis when an insufficient memory error occurs.	

Notes 1. The settings on the following property of your build tool's Property panel.

- [CC-RX][NC30(Localised support)]

[Compile Options] tab >> [Others] category >> [Output cross reference information] property

- [CX]

[Common Options] tab >> [Output File Type and Path] category >> [Output cross reference information] property

- [CA850]

[Cross Reference Options] tab >> [Cross Reference Tool] category >> [Output cross reference information] property

- [CA78K0R][CA78K0]

[Compile Options] tab >> [List File] category >> [Output cross reference list file] property

- 2. This applies to the following debug tool's functions (in the order of priority).
  - Trace function
  - Real-time display update function (RRM function/pseudo RRM function)
  - Coverage function

The corresponding property settings differ depending on the selected microcontroller and debug tool. For details on how to enable these functions, see "CubeSuite+ Integrated Development Environment User's Manual: Debug" of the microcontroller used.

**3.** The same information as the content on the Function List panel is output to the STF information file (FuncInfo.csv) (including information for items that are currently hidden).

# (2) [Import / Export]

The detailed information on import/export functions is displayed and its configuration can be changed. For details on the import/export function, see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".

Import files	Specify the file	e to import.			
	The following placeholders are supported:				
	%ProjectName%: Replaces itself with the project name.				
	%MicomToolPath%: Replaces itself with the absolute path of the CubeSuite+ install folder				
	The reference point of the relative path is the project folder. Note that if the same file is specified, only the file that is first specified will be imported.				
	The name of the file to import is displayed as the subproperty.				
	Default	Import files [0]			
	Modifying	Modifying Specify with the Path Edit dialog box.			
		The Path E right by sele panel).	dit dialog box is opened when clicking the [] button appears at acting this property (you cannot specify the file to download on this		
	Available values	Up to 64 files			
Export the functions and variables	Specify whether to generate the information files (function list file (*.mtfl)/variable list file (*.mtvl)) with the contents of the Function List panel/Variable List panel when a build or rebuild is performed.				
	Default	No			
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.			
	Available values	Yes	Generates the information files.		
		No	Does not Generate the information files.		
Export file name for func- tions	Specify the na not be change	ame of the fur ed. If the exte	nction list file (*.mtfl) to be generated. The extension (*.mtfl) can- ension is omitted, "mtfl" is appended.		
	Note that if thi	s property is	left blank, no files will be generated.		
	The following	placeholders	are supported:		
	%ProjectNa	ame%:	Replaces itself with the project name.		
	%ActivePro	jectName%:	Replaces itself with the active project name.		
	The reference	point of the	relative path is the project folder.		
	Note that if this property is left blank, no files will be generated.				
	This property appears only when the [Export the functions and variables] property is set to [Yes].				
	Default	%ProjectNa	ame%.mtfl		
	Modifying	Directly ente	er from the keyboard.		
	Available values	Up to 259 characters			



Export file name for vari- ables	Specify the name of the variable list file (*.mtvl) generated. The extension (*.mtvl) cannot be changed. If the extension is omitted, "mtvl" is appended.				
	Note that if thi	s property is le	eft blank, no files will be genera	ted.	
	The following	placeholders a	are supported:		
	%ProjectNa	ime%: F	Replaces itself with the project r	name.	
	%ActivePro	roject name.			
	The reference point of the relative path is the project folder.				
	This property	appears only w	when the [Export the functions a	and variables] property is set to	
	[Yes].				
	Default	Default %ProjectName%.mtvl			
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard.			
	Available values	Up to 259 characters			

# (3) [Analysis Chart]

The detailed information on analysis graphs is displayed and its configuration can be changed. For details on the analysis graph, see "2.13 Display Analysis Information in Chart".

# Caution The contents of the Analysis Chart panel is updated automatically if you change the setting of the property in this category.

The number of functions displaying in the Execu- tion Time(Percentage) Chart	Specify the number of the functions displayed on the [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel. The function with a large ratio of the execution time is displayed in the graph by priority, and the remainder is collectively displayed as "Others".			
	Default	10		
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard.		
	Available values	Integer number between 1 and 100		



# [Variable Value Changing] tab

The [Variable Value Changing] tab is used to display the detailed information on graphs displayed in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel categorized by the following and the configuration can be changed.

- (1) [General]
- (2) [Trigger]
- (3) [Smart Analog] [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]
- (4) [Channel 1 16]

#### Figure A-5. Property Panel: [Variable Value Changing] Tab (Example of Using [E1[RL78]])

	Property	
	Program Analyzer Property	-+
(1)	🗆 General	
	Analysis method	Real-time sampling
	Start/stop real-time sampling	Sync
	Time per grid[Time/Div]	1ms
	Chart type	Line chart
	Specify foreground color and background color	No
	Cursor-A color	PaleGreen
	Cursor-B color	PaleTurquoise
	Zoom-1 color	64, 255, 10, 79
	Zoom-2 color	64, 91, 228, 22
	Zoom-3 color	64, 5, 109, 239
	Zoom-4 color	64, 255, 84, 28
(2)>	🗆 Trigger	
	Use trigger function	No
(3)	🖂 Smart Analog	
	Sampling interval[ms]	10
	Data collection channel	[O]ch1 [O]ch2 [X]ch3 [X]ch4 [X]ch5 [X]ch6 [X]ch7 [X]ch8
	🗆 Channel1	
	Variable/Address 1	
	Value per grid[Val/Div] 1	25.5
	Offset 1	0
	Color 1	192, 255, 10, 79
	H Channel 2	
	H Channel 3	
	⊞ Channel 4	
	E Channel 5	
(4) —		
	E Channel 10	
	E Channel 11	
	Channel 12	
	🗄 Channel 13	
	🗄 Channel 14	
	🗄 Channel 15	
L	⊞ Channel16	
	General	
	Settings Variable Value Changing /	<b>•</b>



# [Description of each category]

# (1) [General]

The general information on graphs is displayed and its configuration can be changed.

Analysis method	Specify the method for acquiring the graph data (see "(2) Select the method for acquiring the graph data").						
	Default	Real-time	sampling				
	Modifying	Select fro Note that	Select from the drop-down list. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.				
	Available values	Real-time	e sampling	Displays graphs based on the data acquired via the RRM function/pseudo RRM function of the debug tool. Note, however, that if the debug tool is set in Data collection mode <sup>Note 1</sup> , then the data will be collected using a sampling method for Smart Analog.			
		Analysis of trace data		Displays graphs based on the trace data acquired via the Trace function of the debug tool. This does not appear when any one of the following: - The debug tool does not support the trace function. - The debug tool is set in Data collection mode <sup>Note 1</sup> .			
		Load from	n file	Displays graphs by loading the analysis chart data file (*.mtac) that has been saved.			
Analysis chart data file	Specify the analysis chart data file (*.mtac) to restore graphs. The following placeholders are supported: %ProjectName%: Replaces itself with the project name. %MicomToolPath%: Replaces itself with the absolute path of the CubeSuite+ install folder. The reference point of the relative path is the project folder. This property appears only when the [Analysis method] property is set to [Load from file].						
	Default	Blank					
	Modifying	Specify with the Open File dialog box. The Open File dialog box is opened when clicking the [] button appears at right by selecting this property.					
	Available values	One file (*.mtac)					
Start/stop real-time sam- pling	Specify whether the start/stop of the real-time sampling synchronizes to the start/stop of a pro- gram execution. This property appears only when the [Analysis method] property is set to [Real-time sam- pling].						
	Default	Sync					
	Modifying	Select fro	om the drop-	down list.			
Av va	Available	Sync Synchronizes to the start/stop of a program execution.					
	values	Manual	Does not s can be cor Changing	synchronize to the start/stop of a program execution. It ntrolled via the [Sampling] button on the [Variable Value Chart] tab.			



Time per grid[Time/Div]	Specify the time for each of the 10 units (grid segments) that the grid area is divided into.						
	Default	1ms Note that is specifi	1ms Note that the value loaded from the file is set to this property if [Load from fill is specified with the [Analysis method] property.				
	Modifying	Directly e	Directly enter from the keyboard.				
	Available values	Any one of the following (1ns to 10s: in decimal number) <sup>Note 2</sup> . - 1 to 10s - 1 to 10000ms - 1 to 10000000us - 1 to 1000000000ns					
Chart type	Specify the c	Specify the chart type (i.e. the format of lines between transition points).					
	Default	Depends - When Line ch - When Step lir	Depends on the specification of the [Analysis method] property. - When [Real-time sampling] is specified: Line chart - When [Analysis of trace data] is specified: Step line chart (fixed)				
	Modifying	Depends on the specification of the [Analysis method] property. - When [Real-time sampling] is specified: Select from the drop-down list. - When [Analysis of trace data] is specified: Changes not allowed					
	Available	Line chart		Displays the graph in a normal line chart.			
	values	Step line chart		Displays the graph in a step-plot line chart.			
Specify foreground color	Specify whether to select the foreground color and background color of the graph.						
and background color	Default	No					
	Modifying	Select fro	Select from the drop-down list.				
	Available	Yes	Yes Selects the foreground color and background color of th				
	values	No	No Does not select the foreground color and background color of the graph (i.e. uses the default color of CubeSuite+).				
Background color	Specify the b This property erty is set to	Specify the background color <sup>Note 3</sup> of the graph. This property appears only when the [Specify foreground color and background color] prop- erty is set to [Yes].					
	Default	The default background color specified with the Option dialog box.					
	Modifying	Specify w	vith the color	selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard.			
	Available values	When dir The value the color	When directly enter from the keyboard: The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").				



Foreground color	Specify the foreground color <sup>Note 3</sup> of the graph.					
	This property appears only when the [Specify foreground color and background color] property is set to [Yes].					
	Default	The default color (font color) specified with the Option dialog box.				
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard.				
	Available values	When directly enter from the keyboard: The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").				
Cursor-A color	Specify the co	olor of the Cursor-A.				
	Default	PaleGreen				
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard.				
	Available values	When directly enter from the keyboard: The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").				
Cursor-B color	Specify the color of the Cursor-B.					
	Default	PaleTurquoise				
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboa				
	Available values	When directly enter from the keyboard: The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").				
Zoom-1 - 4 color	Specify the color of the Zoom-1 to the Zoom-4.					
	Default	Zoom-1: 64, 255,10,79 Zoom-2: 64, 91, 228, 22 Zoom-3: 64, 5, 109, 239 Zoom-4: 64, 255, 84, 28				
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard.				
	Available values	When directly enter from the keyboard: The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").				

# Notes 1. [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]].

This feature is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates Smart Analog IC.

- 2. If the unit (case insensitive) is omitted, when [Real-time sampling] is selected in the [Analysis method] property, it will be handled as "ms". In other cases, it will be handled as "ns". When this property is changed, if the value of the [Trigger position] property is greater than "the value of this property x 10", then "the value of this property x 10" is automatically specified to the [Trigger position] property.
- **3.** The color specified in this property will also be reflected to the foreground color/background color of the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel.



# (2) [Trigger]

The information on the trigger function is displayed and its configuration can be changed (see "(3) Use the trigger function").

Use trigger function	Specify whether to display the graphs by using the trigger function.					
	Default	No				
	Modifying	Depends - When [ Select f - When [ Change Note that	on the specification of the [Analysis method] property. Real-time sampling] is specified: from the drop-down list. [Analysis of trace data] or [Load from file] is specified: es not allowed			
	Available	Yes	/es Uses the trigger function.			
	values	No	Does not use the trigger function.			
Trigger mode	Specify the tr This property	rigger mode / appears or	the timing at which graphs are updated). nly when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].			
	Default	Auto				
	Modifying	Select fro Note that	Select from the drop-down list. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.			
	Available values	Auto	Re-renders the graph cyclically. Also clears and re-renders the graph upon receipt of a trigger signal.			
		Single	Only renders the graph upon the first trigger signal from the start of sampling.			
		Normal	Only re-renders the graph upon receipt of a trigger signal.			
Trigger source	Specify the v This property	Specify the variable (channel) that is the source of a trigger signal. This property appears only when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].				
	Default	ch1				
	Modifying	Select fro Note that	Select from the drop-down list. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.			
	Available values	Any one of the channels (ch1 to ch16)				
Trigger level	Specify the tr This property	Specify the trigger level (i.e. the threshold value for determining as a trigger signal). This property appears only when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].				
	Default	0				
	Modifying	Select fro Note that	Select from the drop-down list. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.			
	Available values	The value "The m mum va Values in	The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number within the following range: <i>"The minimum value of the trigger variable</i> (Trigger source)" to <i>"The maxi- mum value of the trigger variable</i> (Trigger source)" Values in floating point notation can also be specified.			



Direction of trigger edge	Specify the direction of the trigger edge.				
	This property appears only when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].				
	Default	Rising			
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.			
		Note that	changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available values	Rising	Generates a trigger signal when the value of Trigger source changes from less than Trigger level to greater than or equal to Trigger level.		
		Falling	Generates a trigger signal when the value of Trigger source changes from greater than Trigger level to less than or equal to Trigger level.		
		Both	Generates a trigger signal when both "Rising" and "Falling".		
Trigger position	Specify the trigger position (i.e. the horizontal position that indicates the location at which a trigger signal has been generated).				
	I his property appears only when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].				
	Default	0s			
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard.			
		Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a progr			
	Available	The value in decimal number within the following range <sup>Note</sup> .			
	values	- 0 to "(the value of the [Time per grid[Time/Div]] property) x 10"			
Trigger mark color	Specify the co This property	olor of the tr appears or	igger marks that indicate trigger level and the trigger position. Ily when the [Use trigger function] property is set to [Yes].		
	Default	Color Ora	nge		
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.			
	Available	When dire	ectly enter from the keyboard:		
	values	The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) of the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").			

Note If the unit (s, ms, us, ns: case insensitive) is omitted, it will be handled as "ms".

If the specified value is greater than "the value of [Time per grid[Time/Div]] x 10", then "the value of [Time per grid[Time/Div]] x 10" is automatically specified to this property.



# (3) [Smart Analog] [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

The information on the Smart Analog function is displayed and its configuration can be changed.

# Caution This category appears only when the selected microcontroller incorporates Smart Analog IC and the debug tool is set to Data collection mode.

Sampling interval[ms]	Specify the sampling interval in ms unit to collect the data by using Smart Analog function. Before the debug tool starts acquiring data in the Data collection mode, the value of the symbol (r_dbg_graph.c#static_e1_waveout_rate) is replaced with the value specified for this property.			
	Default	10		
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard.		
		Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available values	0 to 1000 in decimal number		
Data collection channel	Specify channels to collect the data. Before the debug tool starts acquiring data in the Data collection mode, the value of the symbol (r_dbg_graph.c#static_e1_waveout_flag) is replaced with the value specified for this property.			
	Default	All check boxes are not selected		
	Modifying	Select check boxes from the drop-down list. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available	ch1 to ch8 (multiple selections possible)		

#### (4) [Channel 1 - 16]

The information on the graphing target that is registered in each channel is displayed and its configuration can be changed (see "(1) Register graphing targets").

# Caution If [Load from file] has been specified with the [Analysis method] property, then the values loaded from the file are reflected to the properties in this category and these values cannot be changed.

Variable/Address 1 - 16	Specify the name of a variable or an address expression that is registered as a graphing tar (see "(1) Register graphing targets").			
	Note that the values of all properties in this category will be changed to the default value if the value of this property is changed.			
	[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]			
	When the debug tool is in Data collection mode, character strings specified in this property are only displayed as a label for the Variable name check box (they are not handled as a graphing target).			
	Default Blank			
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard. Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available values	Up to 2046 characters <sup>Note 1</sup>		



Type/Size 1 - 16	Specify the type and size of the variable/address to register.			
	[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]			
	This proper	ty does not appear when the debug tool is in Data collection mode.		
	Default	Auto		
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.		
		Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available	Any one of the following:		
	values	- Auto <sup>Note 2</sup>		
		- signed 1byte(8bits)		
		- signed 2bytes(16bits)		
		- signed 4bytes(32bits)		
		- unsigned 1byte(8bits)		
		- unsigned 2bytes(16bits)		
		- unsigned 4bytes(32bits)		
Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 -	Specify the va	alue for each of the 10 units (grid segments) that the grid area is divided into.		
16	Default	("The maximum value of the variable" - "The minimum value of the variable") / 10		
		[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]		
		When the debug tool is in Data collection mode: 409.5		
	Modifying	Select from the drop-down list.		
		Note that changes cannot be made during execution of a program.		
	Available	The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number within the following range:		
	values	"The minimum positive value of the variable" to		
		("The maximum value of the variable" - "The minimum value of the variable")		
		Values in floating point notation can also be specified.		
Offset 1 - 16	Specify the offset of the graph.			
	The graph of	the variable value to which this offset value is added is rendered.		
	Default	0		
		[E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]		
		When the debug tool is in Data collection mode: -2048		
	Modifying	Directly enter from the keyboard.		
	Available	The value in decimal number within the following range:		
	values	"The minimum value of the float type (Approx3.4028235e+38)" to		
		"The maximum value of the float type (Approx. 3.4028235e+38)"		
		Values with decimals can also be specified.		
Color 1 - 16	Specify the rendering color of the graph.			
	Default	Depends on the number (1 - 16) <sup>Note 3</sup>		
	Modifying	Specify with the color selection combo box or directly enter from the keyboard.		
	Available	When directly enter from the keyboard:		
	values	The value in decimal number/hexadecimal number (prefix "0x" is needed) or the color name (see "About the specification of the color:").		

**Notes 1.** The input format is as follows (same as the input format of the Watch panel):

Note the following, however, when registering items.

- If the variable name of a structure, union, or array is registered, it cannot be graphed. For structures, unions, and arrays, the member name or element must be specified.
- Immediate addresses are registered with a size of 1 byte.

Input Format	Value to be Acquired
Variable name of C language	Value of C language variable
Variable-expression[Variable-expression]	Element of array
Variable-expression.Member name	Member of structures/unions
Variable-expression->Member name	Member of structures/unions that pointer designates
*Variable-expression	Value of pointer variable
CPU register name	Value of the CPU register
I/O register name [RX][V850]	I/O register value
SFR register name [R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]	SFR register value
Label, EQU symbol and immediate address	Values of label, EQU symbol and immediate address
Bit symbol	Bit symbol value

A judgment is automatically made in order of address expression, register name, IOR/SFR name, variable name by the debug tool. If a address expression is determined, it will be handled as "signed 1byte(8bits)".

Number	Color	$\alpha$ RGB value in 32 bits	Number	Color	$\alpha$ RGB value in 32 bits
1	Red	0xC0FF0A4F	9	Yellowgreen	0xC0BEE02F
2	Green	0xC05BE416	10	Blueviolet	0xC05510FF
3	Blue	0xC0056DFF	11	Pink	0xC0FF97E4
4	Orange	0xC0FF541C	12	Brown	0xC0913A37
5	Lightblue	0xC04FC1FF	13	Ocher	0xC0C68E15
6	Purple	0xC0A932FF	14	Darkgreen	0xC0317F0C
7	Yellow	0xC0FFD91C	15	Darkbrown	0xC060493E
8	Redviolet	0xC0FF30A5	16	Grey	0xC072808E

3. The relationship between channel numbers and colors is as follows:

# Remark About the specification of the color:

You can specify one of the following.

Note, however, that if you specify the alpha value indicating transparency, then it is assumed that "255(0xff)" (opaque) was specified.

- 32-bit value (assigning each 8-bit segment, from high to low, to the  $\alpha$ RGB values) Example: 0xC0FF0A4F
- 24-bit value (assigning each 8-bit segment, from high to low, to the RGB values) Example: 0xFF0A4F
- Four eight-bit values, delimited by commas (assigning values from left to right to  $\alpha$ RGB) Example: 192, 255, 10, 79
- Three eight-bit values, delimited by commas (assigning values from left to right to RGB) Example: 255, 10, 79
- Using general English color words (case insensitive) Example: Blue



#### **Function List panel**

This panel is used to display the acquired function information.

The following types of function are displayed in this panel.

- Global function
- Static function

- Member function (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)

See "2.1 Overview" for details on how to display the function information.

Caution [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0] When a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents currently being displayed in this panel will be cleared.

**Remark** This panel can be zoomed in and out by 100% in the tool bar, or by moving the mouse wheel forward or backward while holding down the [Ctrl] key.

	Function List					×
[Toolbar] -	3 🕺 🎯 🕵 🕵 🖉	<u>Unit of Time</u>	-			
(1) —	🛃 Function Nam 🔽 🗖	File Name 🖓 🛱	Attribute ⊽+	Return Type 🖓 🛱	Arguments ⊽+¤	^
Ē	🔥 🔹 AD_Init	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	
	🔪 AD_Read	CG_ad.c	-	unsigned short	unsigned short * buffer	
	💊 AD_Start	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	
	🚽 💊 AD_Stop	CG_ad.c	-	void	void	
	🚽 MD_INTAD	CG_ad_user.c	-	void	void	
	🗸 TMP0_Start	CG_timer.c	-<	void	void	
(2) —	🔰 🔪 TMP1_Start	CG_timer.c	-	void	void	
	🔰 💊 ad_receive	(No Definition)	-	-	-	
	🔰 💊 func1	CG_main.c	-	void	void	
	🔰 🖕 func1a	CG_main.c	-	void	void	4
	🔰 💊 func2	CG_main.c	-	void	void	
	🔰 🖕 func2a	CG_main.c	-	void	void	~
	<				>	

#### Figure A-6. Function List Panel

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]
- [[File] menu (Function List panel-dedicated items)]
- [[Edit] menu (Function List panel-dedicated items)]
- [Context menu]

# [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the 🔄 button.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Function List].



# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Header area

#### (a) Column name

The name of the item of the acquired function information is displayed. Marks (icons) that are displayed at the name of the item indicate as follows:

Mark (Icon)	Meaning
$ \Delta / \nabla $	Indicates whether there is a sort order setting (see "2.6.4 Sort the analysis information").
▼ / ▼	Indicates whether there is a filter display setting (see "2.6.5 Filter the analysis information").
- 부 / 무	Indicates whether display is locked (see "2.6.3 Lock the specific column to display").
<b>(i)</b>	Indicates that a message relating to information about this item has been output to the Output panel. Hover the mouse over it to display a pop-up with the last message to be output.

**Remark** Columns to display can be customized via mouse operations in this area.

- Set the columns to display
- Change the order of the columns to display
- Lock the specific column to display

#### (b) Button

P	Opens the Column Chooser dialog box in order to sort and show/hide the items (columns) dis-
_	played in the panel, and return customized settings to the defaults (see "2.6 Customize Display
	Method").

#### (2) Information area

This area displays the acquired function information.

The analyze tool acquires two types of function information: Static analysis information and Dynamic analysis information. The timing when each type of information can be displays differs (see "1.1.2 Types of analysis information").

When the active project is changed while displaying the function information, the function information of the target project is displayed. Note, however, that if the cross reference information has not been generated in the project or the analyze tool is not supported by the project, nothing is displayed on this panel.

The value of the information that has been changed because of the execution of a program is shown highlighted (the color depends on the configuration in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box). To reset the highlighting, click the solution on the toolbar.

The items and details acquired as function information are as follows:



ltem	Туре	Contents
Function Name	Static analysis	Displays the name of the global function, the file-internal static function or the member function (function that is defined with class type) that is defined/referenced in the C/C++ source file.         The maximum display characters is as follows:         - [CC-RX]:       8189 characters         - [CA850]:       1022 characters         - [CX]:       2046 characters         - [CX]:       2046 characters         - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]:       249 characters         The meanings of an icon displayed is as follows:       -         - [© :       Function         - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]:       249 characters         The meanings of an icon displayed is as follows:       -         - [CRX]       Member function [CC-RX]         - «       : Template function [CC-RX]         - «T>:       Template function [CC-RX]         If the function is a const member function/volatile member function, then "const"/" "volatile" is displayed immediately after the function name.
Class Name [CC-RX]	Static analysis	Displays the name of the class to which the function belongs. If it is a template class, then the number of template arguments are also displayed in the format of " <i>class name</i> <t: <i="">the number of template arguments&gt;". Note, however, that if the function is not a member function, or if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank.</t:>
Namespace [CC-RX]	Static analysis	Displays the name of the namespace to which the function belongs. If the namespace is nested, then it is displayed in the format of " <i>namespace name::namespace name</i> ". If it is an anonymous namespace, then " <unnamed>"is displayed. Note, however, that if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank.</unnamed>
File Name	Static analysis	Displays the file name (without path) of the C/C++ source file where the function is defined. Note, however, that if it is not defined in a C/C++ source file in project, or if analysis was not completed, then this will display "(No Definition)". If it is defined in a header file, then the name of the header file is displayed.
File Pass <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	Displays the absolute path of the C/C++ source file where the function is defined. Note, however, that if it is not defined in a C/C++ source file in project, or if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank. If it is defined in a header file, then the absolute path of the header file is displayed.
PE Information [V850E2]	Static analysis	Displays the following information about PE in which the function is executed.         - In PEn:       PEn         - In common PE:       Common         - Unknown:       -         Note that this item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.



Item	Туре	Contents	
Import <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	<ul> <li>Displays the following information about the source of the function information.</li> <li>If it was acquired from inside an active project "Original" is displayed.</li> <li>If it was acquired from an import file The names of all import files are displayed.</li> <li>If it was acquired from inside an active project and an import file "Original" and the names of all import files are displayed.</li> <li>See "2.12 Import or Export Information File" for details on the import function.</li> </ul>	
Access Specifier [CC-RX]	Static analysis	Displays the access specifier being declared to the member function. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. The following access specifiers can be displayed. public, private, protected	
Attribute	Static analysis	Displays the function's symbol attributes/symbol-modifier attributes. If there are multiple attributes, then they are displayed separated by commas (","). Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. The following attributes can be displayed. - [CC-RX] static, interrupt, inline, template, virtual, abstract - [CA850] static - [CX] static, interrupt, inline, delete - [NC30(Localised support)] static, interrupt, inline - [CA78K0R] static, callt, interrupt, near, far, rtos task, rtos interrupt - [CA78K0] static, callt, callf, noauto, norec, interrupt, bank, rtos task, rtos interrupt	
Return Type	Static analysis	Displays the return type of the function <sup>Note 2</sup> .         Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.         The maximum number of pointers that can be displayed is as follows:         - [CC-RX]:       No limit         - [CA850]:       6         - [CX]:       8         - [NC30(Localised support)]: No limit         - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]:       7	
Arguments Count <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	Displays the number of arguments of the function in decimal number notation. If the function has a variable argument parameter, then the number of arguments defined at the location where the function is defined is displayed. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.	



Item	Туре	Contents
Arguments	Static analysis	Displays the argument type and formal argument name of the function <sup>Note 2</sup> .         If there are multiple arguments, then they are displayed separated by commas (",").         If the function has a variable argument parameter, then the argument type and argument name defined at the location where the function is defined are displayed.         If there are no arguments, then "void" is displayed.         Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.         The maximum number of pointers that can be displayed is as follows (the first dimension of an array is handled as a pointer):         - [CC-RX]:       No limit         - [CX]:       8         - [NC30(Localised support)]: No limit         - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]:       8
Code Size[Bytes]	Static analysis	Displays the function's code size in decimal number notation. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.
Stack Size[Bytes] [V850] [RL78] [78K0R] [78K0]	Static analysis	Displays the function's stack size in decimal number notation. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. [CA78K0R][CA78K0] The value displayed here is stack size secured by the compiler in the first func- tion or first basic block. For this reason, it will be different from the stack size dis- played by the stack usage tracer. It also does not include the stack size used by CALL/PUSH/POP instruction inside the function.
Start Address	Static analysis	Displays the function's start address in hexadecimal number notation. The number of digits to display is equivalent to the maximum address value of the selected microcontroller. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. [NC30(Localised support)] Since the start address of a system library function cannot be acquired, this will always display "-".
End Address <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	Displays the end address of the function aligned in ROM in hexadecimal number notation. The number of digits to display is equivalent to the maximum address value of the selected microcontroller. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.



Item	Туре	Contents
Reference Count	Static analysis	Displays the number of times the function is referenced in the program, in decimal number notation. Prototype declarations are also counted as references. Code in C/C++ source files that is referenced but is eliminated by the preprocessor during compilation (e.g. via "#iff" or "#ifdef" statements) is not included in the number of references (it is also not output by the search results from [Find All References] in the context menu). Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. <b>[CA850][CA78KOR][CA78KO]</b> If a prototype declaration of function C is placed or function C is referenced via assignment to the pointer to the function somewhere between the definitions of functions A and B, function C is counted as a function referenced by function A. <b>[CA78KOR][CA78KO]</b> The function names included in "#pragma directive" are also counted as references. <b>[CC-RX][CX30(Localised support)]</b> References to functions via assignment to function pointers are not included in the reference count.
Execution Count [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [E1/E20[RL78]] [EZ Emulator[RL78]] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the number of times the function was executed (called) as a result of pro- gram execution, in decimal number notation <sup>Note 3</sup> . This function counts the number of times that the instruction located at the address allocated to the function label is executed. For this reason, an invalid value may be displayed if the measurement starts midway through the execution of a function. Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or analysis is not complete. <b>[E1/E20[RL78]][EZ Emulator[RL78]]</b> The execution count is calculated according to the following conditions, because only the branch origin address can be acquired from the trace data. For this reason, the execution count of a function whose size is unknown or a function which is being called from an interrupt processing cannot be calculated. - If the result of disassembling the branch origin instruction is a CALL/CALLT instruction, then the execution count of the function containing the branch origin address of the next trace frame is added.
Execution Time[ <i>unit</i> ] [IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the execution time of the function (the time executing the code in the func- tion body, not including subroutines) <sup>Note 3, 4</sup> . The unit of time can be changed by selecting [Unit of Time] from the [Toolbar], or from the Property panel's [Settings] tab, in the [General] category, changing the [Unit of time] property (see the [Unit of time] property in the Property panel for details on the time-display format). Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or analysis is not complete.
Execution Time(Per- centage)[%] [IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the proportion of total execution time (range that could be obtained as trace data) taken by the execution time of the target function, rounded to the nearest two decimal places, in the range 0.00 to 100.00 <sup>Note 3, 4</sup> . The level of shading of the cell's background color indicates the proportion. Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or analysis is not complete.



Item	Туре	Contents
Execution Time(Aver- age)[ <i>unit</i> ]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the average execution time of the function (" <i>execution time</i> " / " <i>number of executions</i> ") <sup>Note 3, 4</sup> .
[IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]		The results of calculation are displayed rounded to the nearest nanosecond. The unit of time can be changed by selecting [Unit of Time] from the [Toolbar], or from the Property panel's [Settings] tab, in the [General] category, changing the [Unit of time] property. The unit of time can be changed by selecting [Unit of Time] from the [Toolbar], or from the Property panel's [Settings] tab, in the [General] category, changing the [Unit of time] property (see the [Unit of time] property in the Property panel for details on the time-display format). Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or analysis is not complete.
Code Coverage[%] [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the code coverage ratio of the function (C0: " <i>number of bytes of code exe- cuted in the address range</i> " / " <i>function</i> 's <i>code size</i> " x 100) <sup>Note 5</sup> . The level of shading of the cell's background color indicates the code coverage. Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Coverage function is dis- abled, or analysis is not complete.

#### Notes 1. This item does not appear by default.

See "2.6.1 Set the columns to display" for details on how to display this item.

#### 2. [CC-RX][CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If including an alternative name by using "#define" or "typedef", then not the alternative name but the original type is displayed.

#### [NC30(Localised support)]

If including an alternative name by using "#define", then not the alternative name but the original type is displayed. If including an alternative name by using "typedef", then the alternative name is displayed. **[CX]** 

If including an alternative name by using "typedef", the following types are displayed.

Original Type of "typedef"	Type Displayed
- unsigned long	unsigned long
- unsigned int	
- signed long	long
- signed int	
- long	
- int	
- unsigned short	unsigned short
- signed short	short
- short	
- unsigned char	unsigned char
- char (when "-Xchar=unsigned" option is specified)	
- signed char	char
- char (when "-Xchar=unsigned" option is not specified)	

3. Set the [Accumulate result of analysis] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel to [Yes] to display the cumulative value for each program execution.

- 4. The execution time does not include the execution time of the runtime libraries provided by the compiler. If the current setting of the debug tool does not allow clearing of the trace memory before tracing starts, the execution time value will be incorrect.
- 5. The code coverage ratio is calculated with the cumulative value for each program execution. If you need to reset the code coverage ratio, select [Clear Coverage Information] from the context menu of the Editor panel or Disassemble panel, and then click the button. Furthermore, as the result of a build after editing the program, if the function's allocated address is different from its allocated address at the time of the previous build, the code coverage ratio for the function that has not been executed may be displayed.

In the bottom of the [Function Name] item, the following information for each file is shown as [\*Total\*]. Note that "(No Definition)" displayed in the [File Name] item is treated as one file.

Function Name 🖓 🛱	i File Name ⊽H	⊨ Code Size[Bytes] マ+	Reference Count 🛛 🖛	Execution Count 🖓 🛱
*Total*	CG_timer.c	412	12	2
*Total*	(No Definition)	0	4	1
*Total*	CG_main.c	114	8	0

Figure A-7. [\*Total\*] Display (Function List Panel)

Display	Туре	Item	Contents
*Total*	-	File Name	The target file name
		File Pass <sup>Note</sup>	File pass of the target file
		Code Size[Bytes]	Total of the function's code size in the target file
		Reference Count	Total number of times functions are referenced in the target file
		Execution Count	Total number of times functions were executed in the target file
		Execution Time[unit]	Total of the execution time of functions in the target file
		Execution Time(Percent- age)[%]	The proportion of total execution time (range that could be obtained as trace data) taken by the execution time of functions in the target file
	Code Coverage[%]		The code coverage ratio of functions in the target file

Note This item does not appear by default.

See "2.6.1 Set the columns to display" for details on how to display this item.

Cautions 1. [IECUBE[V850]][IECUBE2]

If step execution (step in and step over execution) was performed, the values output in the time tags of the trace data will be invalid. As a result, the [Execution Time[*unit*]] / [Execution Time(Percentage)[%]] / [Execution

Time(Average)[unit]] items will be invalid.

Moreover, the [Code Coverage[%]] item does not appear when the coverage board is not mounted on IECUBE to be used.

# 2. [IECUBE[RL78]][IECUBE[78K0R]]

"0" is output as the first trace-data time tag during program execution. For this reason, if the user repeatedly starts and stops execution, or performs step execution, the [Execution Time[*unit*]] / [Execution Time(Percentage)[%]] / [Execution Time(Average)[*unit*]] items will be invalid.

- [IECUBE [78K0]] The following items are not supported. [Execution Time[*unit*]] / [Execution Time(Percentage)[%]] / [Execution Time(Average)[*unit*]]
- 4. [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)] Unused static functions deleted via compiler optimization cannot be displayed in the panel.
- [CA78K0R][CA78K0]
   If a source file with the same name exists in a project, the build tool rewrites the cross reference information of them. Therefore, the information of other than the source file that has been compiled last in files with the same name cannot be acquired.
- 6. Values of the following items for the system library functions cannot be acquired. [Return Type]/[Arguments Count]/[Arguments]/[Code Size[Bytes]]/[Stack Size[Bytes]]/[End Address]/[Execution Time[*unit*]]/[Execution Time(Percentage)[%]]/[Execution Time(Average)[*unit*]]/[Code Coverage[%]]
- 7. Items of the Dynamic analysis information do not appear while disconnecting from the debug tool (default).
- **Remarks 1.** The following will be displayed if you define a static function in a header file, and include it from more than one source file.

#### - [CA850]

Information for the header file is displayed on one line, and information for all source files is displayed on another line.

- [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

Information for the header file and all source files is displayed on one line.

#### 2. [CC-RX]

The display contents of the line for the definition of a template function and the line for the function using a template function are as follows:

```
11
// Function using the template function
//
int templatet_use(void)
{
    short result = 0;
    short s = 100;
   char c = 200;
   result += template_func(s, c);
    return result;
}
11
// Definition of the template function
11
template <typename T1, typename T2> T1 template_func(T1 t1, T2 t2)
{
   T1 result = 10;
   result += t1 + t2;
    return result;
```



Examples 1. Display contents for the line for the definition of the template function

- [Return Type] :
- [Arguments]:
- -[Function Name]: Template\_func<T:2>
- 2. Display contents for the line for the function using the template function [Return Type]: short
  - [Arguments]: short t1, char t2
  - [Function Name]: Template\_func<T:2>
- The display of each type of information can be customized as follows: 3.
  - Sort the analysis information
  - Filter the analysis information
- The current row mark ( ) on the left edge of this area indicates that the column in question is the 4. current row.

The following operations can be performed on the current row:

- Jump to Defined Location
- Set Break Events
- Display List of Referencing Location

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions.

Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel.
Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops.
Note that this item is disabled when the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accordance with the setting on the Property panel).
Resets highlighting of values that have been changed by executing a program. Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.
Displays only the information for functions in a file(s)/category(s) currently selected in the Project Tree panel (see "(a) Linking with the Project Tree panel").
Displays only the information for functions starting with the word at the caret position in the Editor panel (see "(b) Linking with the Editor panel").
Displays only the information for functions in the common region and PE currently selected in the Debug Manager panel (v850E2]").
Note that this item is disabled when the selected microcontroller version does not support multi-core. or while disconnecting from the debug tool.
The following cascade menus are displayed to specify the time unit for the analyze tool.
The setting of the [Unit of time] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is specified by default.
The time unit set in this toolbar is reflected in the Property panel.
Displays the time as "hours, minutes (0 - 59), seconds (0 - 59)".
Displays the time in second units. The value is rounded to three decimal places.
Displays the time in millisecond units. The value is rounded to three decimal places.
Displays the time in microsecond units. The value is rounded to three decimal places.
Displays the time in nanosecond units. The value is rounded to integer number.



# [[File] menu (Function List panel-dedicated items)]

Save Function List Data	Overwrites the contents of this panel to the previously saved file (see "2.14 Save Analy- sis Information"). Note that when the file has never been saved or the file is write disabled, the same opera- tion is applied as the selection in [Save Function List Data As].
Save Function List Data As	Opens the Save As dialog box to newly save the contents of this panel to the specified text file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information").
Print	Opens the Windows dialog box to print the contents currently being displayed in this panel.

The [File] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

# [[Edit] menu (Function List panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Сору	Copies the contents of the selected column (multiple selections possible) to the clipboard as character strings separated by tabs. Note that the contents of the clipboard cannot be pasted to this panel.
Select All	Selects all the columns being displayed in this panel.

# [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

Find All References	Displays a list of the locations referencing the function(s) of the selected row(s), in the Out- put panel's [Find References] tab (see "2.11 Display List of Referencing Location").
Set Break to Function	Sets a breakpoint at the first line of the function at the current row (the first executable line in the target function) (see "2.9.1 Set a breakpoint to a function"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Jump to Source	Opens the Editor panel and displays the source file in which the function of the current row is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").
Jump to Disassemble	Opens the Disassemble panel (Disassemble1) and displays the disassemble data corre- sponding to the start address of the function of the current row (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Jump to Memory	Opens the Memory panel (Memory1) and displays the memory list corresponding to the start address of the function of the current row (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Сору	Copies the contents of the selected row(s) to the clipboard as character strings separated by tabs. Note that the contents of the clipboard cannot be pasted to this panel.



#### Variable List panel

This panel is used to display the acquired variable information.

The following types of variable are displayed in this panel.

- Global variable
- Static variable inside a file
- Static variable inside a function
- IOR[RX][V850]
- SFR[R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]
- Class variable (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)

See "2.1 Overview" for details on how to display the variable information.

# Caution [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

When a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents currently being displayed in this panel will be cleared.

**Remark** This panel can be zoomed in and out by 100% in the tool bar, or by moving the mouse wheel forward or backward while holding down the [Ctrl] key.

#### Figure A-8. Variable List Panel

Foolbar]			8					2
(1) -	P	Variable Name ⊽+¤	File Name 🖓 🛱	Attribute ⊽+	Туре	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	Members ⊽+₽	Address ⊽+Þ
	•	🦻 g_ad_data	CG_main.c	-	unsigned	short	-	0x03ffb116
		🖕 ø_ad_finish	CG_main.c	-	unsigned	char	-	0x03ffb114
		👽 g_count_10ms	CG_main.c	-	unsigned	int	-	0x03ffb110
		🖕 g_count_1 ms	CG_main.c	-	unsigned	int	-	0x03ffb10c
(2) —		👽 g_flag_detect	CG_main.c	-	unsigned	short	-	0x03ffb118
		Sromp	CG_systeminit.c	-	-		-	-
		*Total*	CG_main.c	-	-		-	-
		*Total*	CG_systeminit.c	-	_			_
	<		Ĵ					>

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]
- [[File] menu (Variable List panel-dedicated items)]
- [[Edit] menu (Variable List panel-dedicated items)]
- [Context menu]

#### [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the 🔛 button.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Variable List].



# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Header area

#### (a) Column name

The name of the item of the acquired variable information is displayed. Marks (icons) that are displayed at the name of the item indicate as follows:

Mark (Icon)	Meaning
$ \Delta / \nabla $	Indicates whether there is a sort order setting (see "2.6.4 Sort the analysis information").
▼ / ▼	Indicates whether there is a filter display setting (see "2.6.5 Filter the analysis information").
-ㅁ / 무	Indicates whether display is locked (see "2.6.3 Lock the specific column to display").
<b>(i)</b>	Indicates that a message relating to information about this item has been output to the Output panel. Hover the mouse over it to display a pop-up with the last message to be output.

Remark Columns to display can be customized via mouse operations in this area.

- Set the columns to display
- Change the order of the columns to display
- Lock the specific column to display

#### (b) Button

The second se	Opens the Column Chooser dialog box in order to sort and show/hide the items (columns) dis-
	played in the panel, and return customized settings to the defaults (see "2.6 Customize Dis-
	play Method").

#### (2) Information area

This area displays the acquired variable information.

The analyze tool acquires two types of function information: Static analysis information and Dynamic analysis information. The timing when each type of information can be displays differs (see "1.1.2 Types of analysis information").

When the active project is changed while displaying the variable information, the variable information of the target project is displayed. Note, however, that if the cross reference information has not been generated in the project or the analyze tool is not supported by the project, nothing is displayed on this panel.

The value of the information that has been changed because of the execution of a program is shown highlighted (the color depends on the configuration in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box). To reset the highlighting, click the solution on the toolbar.

The items and details acquired as variable information are as follows:



Item	Туре	Contents
Variable Name	Static analysis	Displays the name of the global variable, the static variable inside a file, the static variable inside a function or the class variable (static member variable of a class type) that is defined/referenced in the C/C++ source file.
		play the SFR/IOR] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes] (except for [CC-RX][NC30(Localised support)]).
		The maximum display characters is as follows:
		- [CC-RX]: 8189 characters
		- [CA850]: 1022 characters
		- [CX]: 2046 characters
		- [NC30(Localised support)]: 2046 characters
		- [CA78K0R][CA78K0]: 249 characters
		The meanings of icons displayed are as follows:
		[cu-rn]
		able name (N: A number from 1 automatically provided in appearance order).
Class Name	Static	Displays the name of the class to which the variable belongs.
[CC-RX]	analysis	If it is a template class, then the number of template arguments are also displayed
		In the format of "class name<1: the number of template arguments>".
		Note, however, that if the variable is not a member variable, or if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank.
Namespace	Static	Displays the name of the namespace to which the variable belongs.
[CC-RX]	analysis	If the namespace is nested, then it is displayed in the format of " <i>namespace name::namespace name</i> ". If it is an anonymous namespace, then " <unnamed>"is displayed.</unnamed>
		Note, however, that if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank.
File Name	Static analysis	Displays the file name (without path) of the C/C++ source file where the variable is defined <sup>Note 1</sup> .
		Note, however, that if it is not defined in a C/C++ source file in project, or if analysis was not completed, then this will display "(No Definition)".
		If it is defined in a header file, then the name of the header file is displayed. [CA78K0R][CA78K0]
		If a line with a variable described in "extern declaration" and a line with the vari- able definition exist in the same file, the information of the variable definition can- not be acquired. Consequently, in this case, this item will display "(No Definition)".
Function Name <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static	Displays the name of the function where the variable is defined.
	analysis	Note, however, this will be blank for other than a static variable inside a function.
		[CC-RX]
		In addition to the above, the argument types of the function are also displayed in parentheses "()". If the function is a const member function/volatile member function, then "const"/"volatile" is displayed immediately after the function name.



Item	Туре	Contents	
File Path <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	Displays the absolute path of the C/C++ source file where the variable is defined. Note, however, that if it is not defined in a C/C++ source file in project, or if analysis was not completed, then this will be blank. If it is defined in a header file, then the absolute path of the header file is displayed.	
PE Information [V850E2]	Static analysis	Displays the following information about PE from which the variable can be accessed.         - From PEn:       PEn         - From common PE:       Common         - Unknown:       -         Note that this item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.	
Import <sup>Note 1</sup>	Static analysis	<ul> <li>Displays the following information about the source of the variable information.</li> <li>If it was acquired from inside an active project "Original" is displayed.</li> <li>If it was acquired from an import file The names of all import files are displayed.</li> <li>If it was acquired from inside an active project and an import file "Original" and the names of all import files are displayed.</li> <li>See "2.12 Import or Export Information File" for details on the import function.</li> </ul>	
Access Specifier [CC-RX]	Static analysis	Displays the access specifier being declared to the member variable. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. The following access specifiers can be displayed. public, private, protected	
Attribute	Static analysis	Displays the variable's symbol attributes/symbol-modifier attributes. If there are multiple attributes, then they are displayed separated by commas (","). Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. The following attributes can be displayed. - [CC-RX] static, const, volatile, restrict - [CA850] static - [CX] static, ior, const, volatile, delete - [NC30(Localised support)] static, const, volatile - [CA78K0R] static, const, volatile, sreg, rwsfr, rosfr, wosfr, near, far - [CA78K0] - static, const, volatile, sreg, rwsfr, rosfr, wosfr	



Item	Туре	Contents	
Туре	Static analysis	Displays the type of the variable <sup>Note 2</sup> .         If including an alternative name by using "#define statement" or "typedef statement", then not the alternative name but the type is displayed.         Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.         The maximum number of pointers that can be displayed is as follows (up to 4 dimensions for an array can be displayed):         - [CC-RX]:       No limit         - [CA850]:       6         - [NC30(Localised support)]: No limit         - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]:       8	
Members	Static analysis	Displays the members of the structure/union. If there are multiple members, then they are displayed separated by commas (","). Note, however, that this will display "-" if other than structures/unions or analysis is not complete.	
Address	Static analysis	Displays the variable's allocated address in hexadecimal number notation. The number of digits to display is equivalent to the maximum address value of the selected microcontroller. Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete.	
Size[Bytes]	Static analysis	Displays the variable's size in decimal number notation. Note, however, that this will display "-" for bit variables or the like that cannot be dis- played in bytes, or if analysis is not complete.	
Reference Count	Static analysis	Displays the number of times the variable is referenced in the program, in decimal number notation. The location where the variable is defined is also counted. The totals for structures, unions, and arrays are displayed at the variable level (references to individual members and array elements are not shown). Code in C/C++ source files that is referenced but is eliminated by the preprocessor during compilation (e.g. via "#if" or "#ifdef" statements) is not included in the number of references (it is also not output by the search results from [Find All References] in the context menu). Note, however, that this will display "-" if analysis is not complete. [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)] In the definition of variables, a line with an assignment statement (e.g. "int variable = 10") is counted. "variable++;" is interpreted as "variable = variable + 1". Therefore, this variable is counted twice.	
Read Count [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the number of times the variable was read, in decimal number notation <sup>Note</sup> 3, 4. For structures and unions, reads are counted at the structure/union variable level (the number of reads at the individual member and element levels are not shown). Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete.	
Write Count [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the number of times the variable was written, in decimal number nota- tion <sup>Note 3, 4</sup> . For structures and unions, writes are counted at the structure/union variable level (the number of writes at the individual member and element levels are not shown). Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete.	



Item	Туре	Contents
Read/Write Count <sup>Note 1</sup> [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the number of times the variable was read/written, in decimal number notation <sup>Note 3, 4</sup> . For structures and unions, reads/writes are counted at the structure/union variable level (the number of reads/writes at the individual member and element levels are not shown). It may not be possible to analyze reads/writes of variables is segments where variables have been assigned to registers via compiler optimization. For this reason, reads/writes in such sections will not be counted. Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete.
Minimum Value [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the minimum measurement time from the results of program execution, in decimal number notation <sup>Note 3</sup> . Note, however, that this will display "-" if for bit type variables/boolean type variables/Bool type variables/structures/unions/arrays/pointer, if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete. [CC-RX][CA850][CX] Only a variable/IOR less than or equal to 4 bytes can be displayed. [CA78K0R][CA78K0] Only a variable/SFR less than or equal to 2 bytes can be displayed.
Maximum Value [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the maximum measurement time from the results of program execution, in decimal number notation <sup>Note 3</sup> . Note, however, that this will display "-" if for bit type variables/boolean type variables/Bool type variables/structures/unions/arrays/pointer, if the debug tool's Trace function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete. [CC-RX[CA850][CX] Only a variable/IOR less than or equal to 4 bytes can be displayed. [CA78K0R][CA78K0] Only a variable/SFR less than or equal to 2 bytes can be displayed.
Data Coverage[%] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE[78K0]] [Simulator]	Dynamic analysis	Displays the data coverage ratio of the variable (" <i>number of bytes accessed in the address range</i> " / " <i>variable size</i> " x 100) <sup>Note 5</sup> . The level of shading of the cell's background color indicates the data coverage. Note, however, that this will display "-" if the debug tool's Coverage function is disabled, or if analysis is not complete.

Notes 1. This item does not appear by default.

See "2.6.1 Set the columns to display" for details on how to display this item.

# 2. [CC-RX][CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If including an alternative name by using "#define" or "typedef", then not the alternative name but the original type is displayed.

#### [NC30(Localised support)]

If including an alternative name by using "#define", then not the alternative name but the original type is displayed. If including an alternative name by using "typedef", then the alternative name is displayed. **[CX]** 

If including an alternative name by using "typedef", the following types are displayed.

Original Type of "typedef"	Type Displayed
- unsigned long	unsigned long
- unsigned int	



Original Type of "typedef"	Type Displayed
- signed long	long
- signed int	
- long	
- int	
- unsigned short	unsigned short
- signed short	short
- short	
- unsigned char	unsigned char
<ul> <li>char (when "-Xchar=unsigned" option is specified)</li> </ul>	
- signed char	signed char
<ul> <li>char (when "-Xchar=unsigned" option is not specified)</li> </ul>	

- **3.** Set the [Accumulate result of analysis] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel to [Yes] to display the cumulative value for each program execution.
- 4. The calculation is based on the acquired trace data. So for example, if one write to a 4-byte area was output in the trace data as the upper 2 bytes and the lower 2 bytes, then two times will be displayed.
- 5. The data coverage ratio is calculated with the cumulative value for each program execution. If you need to reset the data coverage ratio, select [Clear Coverage Information] from the context menu of the Editor panel or Disassemble panel, and then click the button. Furthermore, as the result of a build after editing the program, if the variable's allocated address is different from its allocated address at the time of the previous build, the data coverage ratio for the variable that has not been accessed may be displayed.

In the bottom of the [Variable Name] item, the following information for each file is shown as [\*Total\*]. Note that "(No Definition)" displayed in the [File Name] item is treated as one file.

Variable Name <b>⊽</b> -⊨	File Name 😽	⊨ Size[Bytes] ⊽+	Reference Count 🖓 🕁	Read Count 🖓 🗗	Write Count 🖓 🗗
*Total*	CG_main.c	13	9	0	4
*Total*	CG_systeminit.c	0	1	0	0

# Figure A-9. [\*Total\*] Display (Variable List Panel)

Display	Туре	Item	Contents
*Total*	-	File Name	The target file name
		File Pass <sup>Note</sup>	File pass of the target file
		Size[Bytes]	Total of the variable's size in the target file
		Reference Count	Total number of times variables are referenced in the target file
		Read Count	Total number of times variables were read in the target file
		Write Count	Total number of times variables were written in the target file
		Read/Write Count	Total number of times variables were read/written in the target file
		Data Coverage[%]	The data coverage ratio of variables in the target file

**Note** This item does not appear by default.

See "2.6.1 Set the columns to display" for details on how to display this item.

- Cautions 1. The [Read Count]/[Write Count]/[Read/Write Count]/[Data Coverage[%]] item for a bit type variable/boolean type variable/\_Bool type variable/bit field structure is measured by counting the number of accesses to the address that the variable is being allocated. Consequently, if bit type variables/boolean type variables/\_Bool type variables/bit field structures are allocated to the same address, these items above will display the same value.
  - [CA850]
     If there are assembler instructions coded between "#pragma asm" and "#pragma endasm", then the registers and instructions coded in that location will be displayed as variables.
  - 3. [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]
    - Unused variables deleted via compiler optimization are not displayed.
  - 4. [CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If a source file with the same name exists in a project, the build tool rewrites the cross reference information of them. Therefore, the information of other than the source file that has been compiled last in files with the same name cannot be acquired.

- 5. Items of the Dynamic analysis information do not appear while disconnecting from the debug tool (default).
- **Remarks 1.** If static variables inside a function with the same name are declared in a function, they are handled as follows:

# [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

- [Variable Name]/[File Name]/[Function Name]/[File Path]/[Import]
- The information of the variable that is first declared in a function is displayed.
- [Reference Count]

All number of times the variable declared in a function is referenced is displayed.

- Items other than listed above
- The information of the variable that is last declared in a function is displayed.

# [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]

- [Type]/[Members]
- The information of the variable that is first declared in a function is displayed.
- Items other than listed above
- The information of the variable that is first declared in a function is displayed.
- **2.** The following will be displayed if you define a static variable in a header file, and include it from more than one source file.

# - [CA850]

Information for the header file is displayed on one line, and information for all source files is displayed on another line.

# - [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]

Information for the header file and all source files is displayed on one line. "?" will be displayed in the [Type] item.

# - [CA78K0R][CA78K0]

Information for the header file and all source files is displayed on one line. "-" will be displayed in the [Type] item.

- 3. The display of each type of information can be customized as follows:
  - Sort the analysis information
  - Filter the analysis information
- 4. The current row mark ( ▶ ) on the left edge of this area indicates that the column in question is the current row.

The following operations can be performed on the current row:

- Jump to Defined Location



- Register Watch-Expressions
- Display List of Referencing Location
- Graph transitions in values

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions.

2	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel.
Ħ	Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops. Note that this item is disabled when the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accor- dance with the setting on the Property panel).
<b></b>	Resets highlighting of values that have been changed by executing a program. Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.
<b>1</b>	Displays only the information for variables in a file(s)/category(s) currently selected in the Project Tree panel (see "(a) Linking with the Project Tree panel").
<b>M</b>	Displays only the information for variables starting with the word at the caret position in the Editor panel (see "(b) Linking with the Editor panel").
<b>逐</b> [V850E2]	Displays only the information for variables in the common region and PE currently selected in the Debug Manager panel (see "(c) Linking with the Debug Manager panel [V850E2]"). Note that this item is disabled when the selected microcontroller version does not support multi-core. or while disconnecting from the debug tool.

# [[File] menu (Variable List panel-dedicated items)]

The [File] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Save Variable List Data	Overwrites the contents of this panel to the previously saved file (see "2.14 Save Analy- sis Information").
	Note that when the file has never been saved or the file is write disabled, the same opera- tion is applied as the selection in [Save Variable List Data As].
Save Variable List Data As	Opens the Save As dialog box to newly save the contents of this panel to the specified text file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information").
Print	Opens the Windows dialog box to print the contents currently being displayed in this panel.

#### [[Edit] menu (Variable List panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Сору	Copies the contents of the selected column (multiple selections possible) to the clipboard as character strings separated by tabs. Note that the contents of the clipboard cannot be pasted to this panel.
Select All	Selects all the columns being displayed in this panel.



# [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

Find All References	Displays a list of the locations referencing the variable(s) of the selected row(s), in the Out- put panel's [Find References] tab (see "2.11 Display List of Referencing Location").
Register to Analysis Chart	Registers the variable(s) of the selected row(s) to the Analysis Chart panel (see "2.13.1 Graph transitions in values"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Access Break	The following cascade menus are displayed to set a break event <sup>Note</sup> with access condition (see "2.9.2 Set a break event to a variable"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool. [RX] This item is disabled if the combination break condition is not "OR".
Set Variable Read Break to	Sets a break event with read access condition to the variable of the current row.
Set Variable Write Break to	Sets a break event with write access condition to the variable of the current row.
Set Variable R/W Break to	Sets a break event with read/write access condition to the variable of the current row.
Register to Watch1	Registers the variable(s) of the selected row(s) to the Watch panel (Watch1) as watch- expression(s) (see "2.10 Register Watch-Expressions"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Jump to Source	Opens the Editor panel and displays the source file in which the variable of the current row is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").
Jump to Memory	Opens the Memory panel (Memory1) and displays the memory list from the start address of the variable of the current row (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Сору	Copies the contents of the selected row(s) to the clipboard as character strings separated by tabs. Note that the contents of the clipboard cannot be pasted to this panel.

#### Note [RX]

For combination break events, this item is valid only when the combination condition is "OR".



#### **Call Graph panel**

This panel is used to display the tree-structured chart (call graph) that indicates calling relationships between functions. The following types of function/variable are displayed in this panel.

- Global function
- Static function
- Member function (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)
- Global variable
- Static variable inside a file
- Static variable inside a function
- IOR [RX][V850]
- SFR [R8C(Localised support)][RL78][78K0R][78K0]
- Class variable (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)

See "2.4 Display Calling Relationships between Functions (Call Graph)" for details on how to display the call graph.

- Cautions 1. If the debug tool to use does not support the Trace function, or if the debug tool's trace function is not enabled, then the Dynamic analysis information (e.g. the execution count/read count/ write count) in the call graph cannot be displayed.
  - 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0] If a clean is executed in the build tool, the call graph currently being displayed will be erased.
  - 3. [CC-RX]

A constructor/destructor of a class type that was implicitly called in C++ source files is not shown in the call graph.

- **Remarks 1.** A function/variable whose source file does not exist in the project can be displayed in the call graph if the [Display the function/variable without definition at Call Graph panel] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes].
  - 2. This panel can be zoomed in and out (10 to 109 %) by \_\_\_\_\_\_ in the Panel control area, or by moving the mouse wheel forward or backward while holding down the [Ctrl] key.



RENESAS




- The following items are explained here.
  - [How to open]
  - [Description of each area]
  - [Toolbar]
  - [[File] menu (Call Graph panel-dedicated items)]
  - [[Edit] menu (Call Graph panel-dedicated items)]
  - [Context menu]

# [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the 🔝 button.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Call Graph].

# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Panel control area

()	Toggles whether scrolling of content is enabled by dragging the panel directly. By default, scrolling is disabled.
	Note that if scrolling is enabled, then the shape of the mouse cursor will change, and a func-
	tion/variable will be neither highlighted (shown in selected state) nor reflected in the [larget Function Name] combo box even if clicking on a Function box/Variable box with mouse.
	There will also not be a Pop-up display with information about the function.
	Changes the call graph's zoom ratio. A number between 10 and 109 can be selected (by default, 100 is specified).
	You can also change the zoom by rotating the mouse wheel forward or backward while press- ing the [Ctrl] key.
	Changes the call graph's zoom ratio. Each click of one of the buttons decrements/increments the value of the zoom slider by 1.
	Automatically changes the call graph's zoom ratio. The call graph is enlarged or shrunk in accordance with the size of the panel, so that the entire call graph can be displayed.
Q	Resets the zoom ratio of the call graph to the default value of 100.
main 🖌	Selects the parent function to target for display in the call graph (it will be at the top of the call
[Parent Function Name]	graph) from the drop-down list <sup>NUCE 1</sup> . By default, the first function to appear named "main <sup>NUCE</sup>
combo box	- or containing the word "main" is specified as the parent function (if there is no correspond-
(Left combo box)	ing function, it will be empty).



Target Func <b>P</b>	<ul> <li>Selects the function to highlight (show in selected state) on the call graph from the following drop-down list.</li> <li>If the [Parent Function Name] combo box is empty</li> <li>Whole view: The names of all functions in the program</li> <li>Details view: The names of all functions currently being shown</li> <li>If a parent function is specified with the [Parent Function Name] combo box</li> <li>Whole view: The names of functions called by that parent function (including child and grandchild functions)</li> <li>Details view: The names of all functions currently being shown</li> <li>When a function box is clicked in the call graph, the function is highlighted (unless scrolling)</li> </ul>
	via the mouse dragging is enabled by the button), and then the function's name is also reflected in this combo box.  The function box being highlighted (shown in selected state)  Switches to the details view that displays the parent functions and child functions of the function currently being selected (specified with the [Target Function Name] combo box) (tog-gle). Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.

#### Notes 1. [V850E2]

If the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core, you can select "PE*n*". In this case, the call graph will only be displayed for the functions executed in the selected PE*n*.

# main: [V850][RL78][78K0R][78K0] reset: [RX]

start: [R8C(Localised support)]

#### (2) Call graph area

This area displays a call graph indicating calling relationships between functions that have been acquired from the cross reference information.

A call graph has the following two view modes that can be toggled by clicking the 🔛 button.

#### - Whole view (default)

By default, the first function to appear named "main<sup>Note 1</sup>" or containing the word "main" is considered to be the parent function, and that function is placed on the left edge of the call graph (the corresponding parent function name will be displayed in the [Parent Function Name] combo box). If there is no corresponding function name, then the functions in the program that are not called by any other functions (reference count = 0) will be considered to be parent functions, and they will be placed on the leftmost edge (the [Parent Function Name] combo box will be empty).

Next, the child functions, grandchild functions, and so on will be placed on the call graph, from left to right (they will be arranged from top to bottom, with the functions to appear first shown topmost).

If an arbitrary parent function is specified in the [Parent Function Name] combo box<sup>Note 2</sup>, then only the functions called by that function will appear in the call graph. If the combo box is empty, then all functions in the program will appear in the call graph.

Notes 1. main: [V850][RL78][78K0R][78K0] reset: [RX] start: [R8C(Localised support)]

# 2. [V850E2]

If the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core and "PE*n*" is selected in the [Parent Function Name] combo box, the call graph will only be displayed for the functions executed in the selected PE*n*.

#### - Details view

The parent functions and child functions of the function currently being specified with the [Target Function Name] combo box are displayed.

The parent functions, the target function and the child functions are placed on the call graph, from left to right (they will be arranged from top to bottom, with the functions to appear first shown topmost).

Furthermore, if global variables, static variables inside a file or static variables inside a function accessed from the target function exist, the variables also is placed immediately below the target function, as variable boxes (when the multiple variables exist, they will be arranged from top to bottom, with the variables to appear first shown topmost).

**Remark** Any one of the following events will cause that the call graph is switched to whole view mode.

- The value of the [Parent Function Name] combo box has been changed (including the result of a build/rebuild in the build tool).
- A clean has been executed in the build tool.



Figure A-11. Call Graph Panel (Details View)

The composition of the call graph is as follows.





Figure A-12. Composition of Call Graph

# (a) Function box

The function is displayed in a box format. The following information is displayed in a function box.





Function name	<ul> <li>Indicates the name of the target function.</li> <li>[CC-RX]</li> <li>If the target function is a overloaded function or a template function, then the argument types of the function are also displayed in parentheses "()".</li> <li>If the target function is a const member function/volatile member function, then</li> </ul>
Definition	Indicates the location at which the target function is defined with " <i>File name(Line number</i> )". Note, however, that if the definition information does not exist, then this will display "(No Definition)".
Attribute	Indicates the attribute of the target function.         - Static function: <static>         - Template function:       <template> [CC-RX]         - Virtual function:       <virtual> [CC-RX]         - Pure virtual function:       <abstract> [CC-RX]         If the attribute other than the above, nothing is displayed in this area.</abstract></virtual></template></static>
Condition	The current state of the target function is shown in the following background colors.         - Light blue:       Not executed         - Purple:       Executed
PE Information [V850E2]	If the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core, PE in which the target func- tion is assigned is shown in the following shadow colors. - Gray: Common - Red: PE1 - Green: PE2



**Remark** By double-clicking a function box, you can jump to the location of the source text where the function is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").

Note, however, that this function cannot be used while scrolling via the mouse dragging is being enabled by the button. In this case, select the target function with the [Target Function Name] combo box, then select [Jump to Source] from the context menu.

# (b) Variable box

In the details view mode, a global variable, a static variable inside a file or a static variable inside a function accessed from the target function is displayed in a box format.

The following information is displayed in a variable box.



Figure A-14. Information of Variable Box

Variable name	Indicates the name of the target variable. If the target variable is a static variable inside a function, then this will be displayed in the format of " <i>Variable name#Function name</i> ".
Definition	Indicates the location at which the target variable is defined with " <i>File name(Line number</i> )". Note, however, that if the definition information does not exist, then this will display "(No Definition)".
Attribute	Indicates the attribute of the target variable. - Static variable: <static> - Static variable inside a function: <static local=""> If the attribute other than the above, nothing is displayed in this area.</static></static>
Reference count	Indicates the number of times of static references.
Read count, Write count	Indicates the number of times dynamic references (R: read accesses, W: write accesses) have been made. Note that this information appears only when the trace data exist. This information is the cumulative value for each program execution when the [Accumulate result of analysis] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes].
Condition	The current state of the target function is shown in the following background colors.         - Green:       Not referenced         - Red purple:       Referenced
PE Information [V850E2]	If the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core, PE in which the target vari- able is assigned is shown in the following shadow colors. - Gray: Common - Red: PE1 - Green: PE2

**Remark** By double-clicking a variable box, you can jump to the location of the source text where the variable is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").

RENESAS

Note, however, that this function cannot be used while scrolling via the mouse dragging is being enabled by the button. In this case, disable the scroll function temporarily, then double click the target variable.

#### (c) Connection line

If a given function is called statically by another function, then the function boxes of the two functions will be shown linked by a connection line. Connection lines are only displayed for static function calls. Connection lines are not displayed for dynamic function calls.

The following information is displayed by each connection line.

**Remarks 1.** If there are no static function calls but there are dynamic function calls (e.g. if function calls are only made using function pointers), then this information can be confirmed in the Pop-up display.

#### 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If a prototype declaration of function C is placed between the definitions of functions A and B, a connection line appears between functions A and C, indicating that function A calls function C. Also, for other than a prototype declaration of a function, a reference to a variable (assignment to a variable pointer) or a reference to a function (assignment to a function pointer variable) is the same operation as the above.



#### Figure A-15. Information of Connection Line

Reference count	Indicates the number of times of static calls.
Execution count	Indicates the number of times dynamic calls have been made, in parentheses "()". Note that this information appears only when the trace data exist. This information is the cumulative value for each program execution when the [Accumulate result of analysis] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes].
Recursive call	A connection line and reference count is displayed as follows when a function calls itself.



Circular call	As an example, say that there are functions A, B, and C. If A calls B, which calls C, which then calls A (A -> B -> C -> A), then although connection lines will be displayed for the calls of A to B and B to C, no connection line will be shown for the call of C to A. Instead, the following line segment will only be shown, to indicate a circular call.
	You can check information about functions in a circular call via the Pop-up display.

#### (d) Pop-up display

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a function box/variable box, information about that function/variable appears in a pop-up.

The display format is as follows:

# Caution This function cannot be used while scrolling via the mouse dragging is being enabled by the button.

#### <1> Function box

combination01_caller main.c (238)
Function name: combination01_caller01 Location: main.c(238) @ C) Test) sc
Recursive call count: 1 (Execution: 1) Times Dynamic call count: sub fp01#C:\Test\src\main.c: 1

Function name: Function name
Location: File name(Line number)
@ absolute path of the file
Recursive call count: Reference count(Execution: Execution count)
Circular call count
Function name: Reference count(Execution: Execution count)
Function name: Reference count(Execution: Execution count)
Dynamic call count
Function name: Count
Function name: Count



Function name	Indicates the name of the target function.
	[CC-RX]
	<ul> <li>When the target function is a grobal function or static function:</li> <li>If the target function belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anonymous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of "<i>Namespace name::Function name</i>".</li> <li>Moreover, if the target function is a overloaded function or a template function, then this will be followed by the argument types of the function in parentheses "()".</li> <li>When the target function belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anonymous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of "<i>Namespace</i>" ()".</li> <li>When the target function belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anonymous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of "<i>Namespace</i>" <i>name::Class name::Function name</i>". Otherwise this will be displayed in the format of "<i>Class name::Function name</i>".</li> <li>Moreover, if the target function is a overloaded function or a template function, then <i>Function name</i>".</li> <li>Moreover, if the target function is a overloaded function or a template function, then <i>Function name</i> will be followed by the argument types of the function in parentheses "()". If the target function is a const member function/volatile member function, then "const"/"volatile" is displayed immediately after the function name.</li> </ul>
Location	Indicates the location at which the target function is defined. Note, however, that if the definition information does not exist, then this will display "(No Definition)".
Recursive call count	This item is displayed only if the target function is a recursive call.         Reference count:       Number of recursive calls made         Execution count:       Number of executions (only if there is trace data)
Recursive call count	This item is displayed only if the target function is a recursive call.         Reference count:       Number of recursive calls made         Execution count:       Number of executions (only if there is trace data)         This item is displayed only if there are circular function calls from the target function. If there are multiple target functions, that at most 4 will be listed.         Function name:       Name of function in circular call         Reference count:       Number of circular calls made         Execution count:       Number of executions (only if there is trace data)

**Remark** The cumulative value for each program execution is displayed as the execution count when the [Accumulate result of analysis] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to [Yes].

# <2> Variable box



Variable name: Variable name Location: File name(Line number) @ absolute path of the file



Variable name	Indicates the name of the target variable.
	If the target variable is a static variable inside a function, then this will be displayed in the
	format of "Function name# Variable name".
	[CC-RX]
	- When the target variable is a grobal variable or static variable inside a file:
	If the target variable belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anony-
	mous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of "Namespace name::Vari- able name".
	- When the target variable is a class variable:
	If the target variable belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anony-
	mous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of "Namespace name::Class
	name:: Variable name". Otherwise this will be displayed in the format of "Class
	name::Variable name".
	- When the target variable is a static variable inside a function:
	If the target variable belongs to a namespace (except for a global namespace/anony- mous namespace), then this will be displayed in the format of " <i>Namespace</i>
	name::Function name#Variable name". Otherwise this will be displayed in the format of "Function name#Variable name"
	If the target variable is a class variable, then this will be displayed in the format of "Class
	name::Function name#Variable name".
Location	Indicates the location at which the target variable is defined.
	Note, however, that if the definition information does not exist, then this will display "(No
	Definition)".

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions.

22	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel. Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.
T	Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops.
	Note that this item is disabled if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accordance with the setting on the Property panel).
器	Opens the Call Graph Search dialog box to search for a function/variable existing on this panel.

# [[File] menu (Call Graph panel-dedicated items)]

The [File] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Save Call Graph Data	Overwrites the contents of this panel to the previously saved file (see "2.14 Save Analy- sis Information").
	Note that when the file has never been saved or the file is write disabled, the same opera- tion is applied as the selection in [Save Call Graph Data As].
Save Call Graph Data As	Opens the Save As dialog box to newly save the contents of this panel to the specified text file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information").



# [[Edit] menu (Call Graph panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Find	Opens the Call Graph Search dialog box to search for a function/variable currently existing
	on this panel.

# [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

Jump to Source	Opens the Editor panel and displays the source file in which the function/variable currently being selected is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").
Jump to Disassemble	Opens the Disassemble panel (Disassemble1) and displays the disassemble data corre- sponding to the start address of the function/variable currently being selected (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Jump to Memory	Opens the Memory panel (Memory1) and displays the memory list corresponding to the start address of the function/variable currently being selected (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool.
Jump to Function/Variable List	Opens the Function List panel/Variable List panel and selects the function/variable currently being selected.
Detail View	Switches to the details view that displays the parent functions and child functions of the function currently being selected (specified with the [Target Function Name] combo box). Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.



#### **Class/Member panel**

This panel is used to display the class information [CC-RX], function information and variable information in a tree structure.

The following types of function/variable are displayed in this panel.

- Global function
- Static function
- Member function (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)
- Global variable
- Static variable inside a file
- Class variable (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)
- Instance variable (only when C++ source files are subject to analysis)

See "2.5 Display Class/Function/Variable Information" for details on how to display the class information [CC-RX], function information and variable information.

#### Cautions 1. [CC-RX]

The class information is provided only when C++ source files are subject to analysis. 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If a clean is executed in the build tool, the contents of this panel being displayed will be erased.



Figure A-16. Class/Member Panel



# CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]
- [[Edit] menu (Class/Member panel-dedicated items)]
- [Context menu]

# [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the 🔗 button.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Class/Member].

#### [Description of each area]

(1) Panel control area

Category group 💙	Selects a classification method for the tree from the drop-down list.
[View Setting] combo box	- Category group (default)
(Left combo box)	- Access group
· · · ·	- Namespace group
	- File group
	- Alphabet group
0	Selects the last node that was selected.
	Note that this item is disabled if there are no node selections in the history, or during exe-
	cution of a program.
	Selects the node that was selected before the 🔇 button was clicked.
	Note that this item is disabled if there are no node selections in the history that were
	selected via 🔇 button, or during execution of a program.
(Input a target name.) 💌	Specifies the character strings to search via the $\int \sqrt{3}$ button (case-insensitive).
[Target Name] combo box	You can either type character strings directly from the key board (up to 512 characters),
(Left combo box)	or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).
· · · ·	Note that this item is disabled during execution of a program.
	Searches up in the last tree to have focus for nodes containing the string specified in the
	[Target Name] combo box, and selects the node that is found.
	Note that this button is disabled if the [Target Name] combo box is left blank, or during
	execution of a program.
	Searches down in the last tree to have focus for nodes containing the string specified in
L.	[Target Name] combo box, and selects the node that is found.
	Note that this button is disabled if the [Target Name] combo box is left blank, or during
	execution of a program.

#### Remark

After typing character strings to search, to press the [Enter] key is the same function as clicking the  $\bigcirc$  button, and to press the [Shift] + [Enter] key is the same function as clicking the  $\bigcirc$  button.

#### (2) Classes/Categories tree area

This area used to display the class and other information defined by the program in tree format. Information about the node being selected in this tree appears in the Functions/Variables list area. You can use the [View Setting] combo box to classify the display into the following five groups.



- Category group (default)
- Access group
- Namespace group
- File group
- Alphabet group

The node name and their order in the tree are as follows.

Note however, that if information could not be obtained, or there are no child nodes to display, then that node will not appear in the tree.

You can expand/shrink the node with a child node by double-clicking it.

#### (a) Category group (default)

This classifies and displays classes, interfaces and other types.

Node	Note
Typedefs	
av Global Functions and Variables	
Define Macros and Constants	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]
🗁 Namespaces	[CC-RX]
{} Namespace name	
Class Class name <sup>Note 1</sup> Base Types	[CC-RX]
Base type (Class/Interface/Struct type) name	
Derived Types	
Derived type (Class/Interface/Struct type) name	
Inner Types	
Inner type (Class/Interface/Struct type/Union type/Enum type) name	
Interfaces	[CC-RX]
✓ Interface name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Base Types	
Base type (Class/Interfaces/Struct type) name	
Derived Types	
Derived type (Class/Interface/Struct type) name	
Inner Types	
Inner type (Class/Interface/Struct type/Union type/Enum type) name	
Struct Types	Except [CA850]
Struct type name <sup>Note 1,2</sup>	
📴 Union Types	
↔ Union type name <sup>Note 3</sup>	
Enum Types	
Enum type name	

#### Notes 1. [CC-RX]

These are displayed in the following access specifier order, together with icons denoting the access specifier (nodes with the same access specifier are displayed in alphabetical order).



Access Specifier	lcon
public	None
protected	9
private	9

# 2. [CC-RX]

Base Types node, Derived Types node and Inner Types node are displayed as necessary.

#### 3. [CC-RX]

Inner Types node is displayed as necessary.

#### (b) Access group

This classifies and displays nodes by their access specifiers specified in their classes, etc.. Nodes of the same type are displayed in alphabetical order.

Node	Note
Typedefs	
Blobal Functions and Variables	
Define Macros and Constants	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]
Dia public	[CC-RX]
Class name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Interface name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Struct type name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
↔ Union type name <sup>Note 2</sup>	
Enum type name	
protected	[CC-RX]
Class name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
✓ Interface name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
℅ Struct type name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
↔ Union type name <sup>Note 2</sup>	
🖆 Enum type name	
private	[CC-RX]
Class name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Interface name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
℅ Struct type name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
↔ Union type name <sup>Note 2</sup>	
Enum type name	

#### Notes 1. [CC-RX]

Base Types node, Derived Types node and Inner Types node are displayed as necessary.

#### 2. [CC-RX]

Inner Types node is displayed as necessary.

#### (c) Namespace group

This classifies and displays nodes by the namespaces in which the class or other elements are defined. Nodes of the same type are displayed in the access specifier order (see "(a) Category group (default)"), and nodes with the same access specifier are displayed in alphabetical order.



Node	Note
Namespace name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Typedefs	
and a straight of the stra	
Jefine Macros and Constants	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]
Class name <sup>Note 2</sup>	[CC-RX]
∽ Interface name <sup>Note 2</sup>	
Struct type name <sup>Note 2</sup>	Except [CA850]
✤ Union type name <sup>Note 3</sup>	
🚅 Enum type name	

- Notes 1. Function, classes, and other elements that do not belong to any namespace (including when they are in C source file) are displayed in the same manner, in the "(Global)" instead of "Namespace name". If an element is defined in an anonymous namespace, its "Namespace name" will be "(Anonymous:<*File name*>)", and it will be displayed in the same way.
  - 2. [CC-RX]
    - Base Types node, Derived Types node and Inner Types node are displayed as necessary.
  - 3. [CC-RX]

Inner Types node is displayed as necessary.

# (d) File group

This classifies and displays the files in which the class or other elements are defined.

Nodes of the same type are displayed in the access specifier order (see "(a) Category group (default)"), and nodes with the same access specifier are displayed in alphabetical order.

Node	Note
File name <sup>Note 1</sup>	
Typedefs	
B Global Functions and Variables	
Define Macros and Constants	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]
Class name <sup>Note 2</sup>	[CC-RX]
<sup>▶▶</sup> Interface name <sup>Note 2</sup>	
Struct type name <sup>Note 2</sup>	Except [CA850]
↔ Union type name <sup>Note 3</sup>	
Prime The Second	

Notes 1. The icon displayed differs depending on the type of the file.

#### 2. [CC-RX]

Base Types node, Derived Types node and Inner Types node are displayed as necessary.

3. [CC-RX]

Inner Types node is displayed as necessary.



#### (e) Alphabet group

This displays nodes in alphabetical order, regardless of their classes or access specifiers.

Node	No	e
Typedefs		
and Variables		
Jefine Macros and Constants	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]	
Class name <sup>Note 1</sup>	[CC-RX]	These are displayed in
✓ Interface name <sup>Note 1</sup>		alphabetical order.
Struct type name <sup>Note 1</sup>	Except [CA850]	
✤ Union type name <sup>Note 2</sup>		
🧬 Enum type name		

#### Notes 1. [CC-RX]

Base Types node, Derived Types node and Inner Types node are displayed as necessary.

2. [CC-RX]

Inner Types node is displayed as necessary.

# Cautions 1. Typedefs node/Global Functions and Variables node/Define Macros and Constants node is not displayed if no information displayed in the Functions/Variables list area exist.

- [CC-RX] When C++ source files are subject to analysis, the alternative name of a namespace is not displayed.
- [CX] The bit field structure type and union type cannot be displayed.
   [CA850][NC30(Localised support)]

Define Macros and Constants node is not displayed because constants (i.e. variables with a const declaration) cannot be distinguished (these are treated as variables).

# Remarks 1. When the mouse cursor is hovered over a xxx name node (except for a file name node), the namespace name to which it belongs appears in a pop-up. However, if it belongs to a global namespace or an anonymous namespace, then "-" or "<unnamed>" will appear. If the mouse cursor is hovered over a namespace name node, the namespace name to which it belongs (upper namespace name) will appear.

- About Namespace name node: If an element contains an internal namespace, it is displayed in the form "enveloping Namespace name::internal Namespace name". Example namespace Name: Name
  - internal namespace: Name::SubName
- 3. About Class name node:
  If it is a template class, then the type information is added.
  If an element is an internal class, it is displayed in the form "enveloping Class name::internal Class name".
  - Example
     class Sub:
     Sub

     template<class T> class List:
     List<T>

     internal class:
     Main::SubInMain



4. About Class/Interface/Struct type:

Base Types, Derived Types, and Inner Types are only shown for classes/interfaces that are direct descendants (if there are multiple such types, they are all shown).

- 5. If *Class name/Interface name/Struct type name/Union type name/Enum type name* is an anonymous (i.e. it has no tag name), then it will be displayed in the format of "<unnamed\_*N*>" (*N*: A number from 1 automatically provided in appearance order).
- 6. You can jump to the corresponding node (*Class name* node, *Interface name* node, etc. in the same tree) by double-clicking a node displayed under the Base Types node/Derived Types node/Inner Types node.
- 7. You can jump to the location where the node currently being selected is defined or declared (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"/"2.8 Jump to Declared Location").

#### (3) Functions/Variables list area

This area displays the information of the node currently being selected in the Classes/Categories tree area (e.g. function names/variable names that are defined in the node).

The relationship between the selection in the Classes/Categories tree area and the display contents of this area is as follows:

Node Selection	Display Contents of This area	Note
Typedefs	La Alternative name	
a Global Functions and Variables	Slobal function name	
	₹₩ Static function name	
	💟 Global variable name	
	V Static variable inside a file name	
Jefine Macros and Constants	🧮 Macro name	[CA78K0R][CA78K0]
	Constant	
쓗 Class name	La Alternative name	[CC-RX]
Interface name	<i>≡ ♦ Member function name</i>	
Struct type name (C++ source file)	Class variable name	
	Instance variable name	
	Constant	
✤ Union type name (C++ source file)	Liternative name	[CC-RX]
	■ Member function name	
	Instance variable name	
	Constant	
Struct type name (C source file)	Member variable name	Except [CA850]
↔ Union type name (C source file)	Member variable name	
🗐 Enum type name	Enum member name <sup>Note</sup>	
{} Namespace name	None	
🛀 File name		
Other than above		



#### Note [CX][NC30(Localised support)]

Members of enumeration cannot be displayed.

# Caution Nothing is displayed in this area if functions/variables to be displayed do not exist or nothing is being selected in the Classes/Categories tree area.

- Remarks 1. When the mouse cursor is hovered over a xxx name node (except for a file name node), the namespace name to which it belongs appears in a pop-up. However, if it belongs to a global namespace or an anonymous namespace, then "-" or "<unnamed>" will appear. If the mouse cursor is hovered over a namespace name node, the namespace name to which it belongs (upper namespace name) will appear.
  - [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]
     Argument types are added to function names.
     Example int main(void): main(void)
     void main\_sub01(int local\_a, int local\_b, int local\_c): main\_sub01(int, int, int)
     template<class T> T max(T a, T b): max<T>(T, T)

# 3. [CC-RX]

These are displayed in the following access specifier order, together with icons denoting the access specifier type (nodes with the same access specifier are displayed in alphabetical order). However, if the tree is classified by File group, then they are all displayed in alphabetical order.

Access Specifier	lcon
public	None
protected	9
private	X

#### 4. [CC-RX]

For template functions, the line for the definition of a template function and the line for the function using a template function are displayed individually.

# 5. [CA78K0][CA78K0R]

If "only a type-definition (structure/union/enumeration), without a variable-declaration" and "an anonymous type (structure/union/enumeration)" is described consecutively, "a member of the anonymous type" is treated as a member of "only a type-definition, without a variable-declaration". In the case of the following example, mem01, mem02, num01, and num02 are displayed in this area as the members of the structure "def\_only\_str".

struct def_only_str {
char mem01;
<pre>short mem02;</pre>
};
struct {
<pre>short num01;</pre>
<pre>int num02;</pre>
} anonymous_struct

# 6. [CA78K0][CA78K0R]

If a structure/union/enumeration is defined in a structure/union/enumeration, a member described after the definition line is treated as a member of the structure/union/enumeration defined in the



structure/union/enumeration.

In the case of the following example, mem01 (as the member of the structure "SType") and inn01, mem02, and mem03 (as the member of the structure "InnerType") are displayed in this area.

```
struct SType {
    char mem01;
    struct InnerType {
        char inn01;
    } mem02;
    int mem03;
} struct01;
```

 You can jump to the location where the node currently being selected is defined or declared (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"/"2.8 Jump to Declared Location").

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions

	2	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel.
--	---	---

# [[Edit] menu (Class/Member panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Сору	Copies the contents of the selected node to the clipboard as character strings.
Select All	Selects all the nodes being displayed in the Functions/Variables list area.

# [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

Jump to Source	Opens the Editor panel and displays the source file in which the node currently being selected is defined (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location").
Jump to Declaration of Source	Opens the Editor panel and displays the source file in which the node currently being selected is declared (see "2.8 Jump to Declared Location").
Jump to Disassemble	Opens the Disassemble panel (Disassemble1) and displays the disassemble data corre- sponding to the start address of the node currently being selected in the Functions/Vari- ables list area (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool. [CC-RX] This item is disabled if a node that indicates a instance variable is selected.
Jump to Memory	Opens the Memory panel (Memory1) and displays the memory list corresponding to the start address of the node currently being selected in the Functions/Variables list area (see "2.7 Jump to Defined Location"). Note that this item is disabled while disconnecting from the debug tool. [CC-RX] This item is disabled if a node that indicates a instance variable is selected.



Jump to Function/Variable List	Opens the Function List panel/ Variable List panel and selects the function/variable of the node currently being selected.
	<b>[CC-RX]</b> This item is disabled if a node that indicates a instance variable is selected.
Сору	Copies the contents of the selected node to the clipboard as character strings.



#### Analysis Chart panel

This panel is used to display charts of the acquired function information and variable information (including the data information for Smart Analog<sup>Note</sup>).

See "2.13 Display Analysis Information in Chart" for details on how to display the chart in this panel.

#### Note [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

This feature is supported only when the selected microcontroller incorporates Smart Analog IC.



Figure A-17. Analysis Chart Panel

#### The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]
- [[File] menu (Analysis Chart panel-dedicated items)]

#### [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the www button.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Analysis Chart]

#### [Description of each area]

(1) Chart area

This area displays a chart relating to the acquired function information/variable information.



#### (2) Tab selection area

The type of chart is switched when a tab is selected.

In this panel, a following tab is contained (see the section explaining the tab for details on the display/setting).

- [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab
- [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab
- **Remark** A (i) mark is displayed on the tab if a message relating to the chart information has been output to the Output panel.

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions.

2	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel. Note that this item is disabled if no registered variables exist.
<u>द</u> '	Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops.
	Note that this item is disabled if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accordance with the setting on the Property panel).

# [[File] menu (Analysis Chart panel-dedicated items)]

The [File] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Save Analysis Chart Data	Overwrites the contents that are displayed on the currently selected tab to the previously saved file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information"). Note that when the file has never been saved or the file is write disabled, the same operation is applied as the selection in [Save Analysis Chart Data As].
Save Analysis Chart Data As	Opens the Save As dialog box to newly save the contents that are displayed on the cur- rently selected tab to the specified file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information").



# [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab

Use this tab to display the relationship between registered variable/register/address/other values and time by a graph (line chart).

Furthermore, when the selected microcontroller incorporates Smart Analog IC, by enabling Data collection mode on the debug tool, it is possible to display the collected data for Smart Analog by a graph [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]].

You can zoom in on the range specified in this panel, using the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel. See "2.13.1 Graph transitions in values" for details on how to display graphs on this tab.

# Caution [IECUBE[V850E1][V850ES]][E20[RX]]

If [Stop Trace]/[Start Trace] of the context menu on the Trace panel is selected during a program execution, an invalid chart may be displayed.

Remarks 1. See "(4) Display graphs" for details on when graphs on this tab are updated.

- 2. You can restore graphs currently being displayed on this tab by loading the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) which saves the data of the graphs (see "(6) Save the graph data to restore the graph").
- **3.** The Channel information area and Cursor information area can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of their splitter.



# Figure A-18. Analysis Chart Panel: [Variable Value Changing Chart] Tab

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]

# [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the witton, and then select the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.



- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Analysis Chart], and then select the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.

# [Description of each area]

#### (1) Graph control area





#### (a) [Analysis method]

Displays the analysis method currently being specified with the [Analysis method] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel (see "(2) Select the method for acquiring the graph data").

Display Contents	Description
Sampling	Indicates that [Real-time sampling] is selected.
Trace	Indicates that [Analysis of trace data] is selected.
File	Indicates that [Load from file] is selected.

#### (b) [Sampling] button

Manually controls (toggles) the start/stop of the real-time sampling.

Note, however, that this button is available only when the following conditions are being satisfie:

- The debug tool is connected to CubeSuite+.
- Real-time sampling analysis is selected as the analysis method.
- [Manual] is selected in the [Start/stop real-time sampling] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

# Caution If sampling is restarted, the stored graph data will be deleted (the graph being displayed will be erased).

#### (c) [Reflect] button

Automatically registers watch-expressions currently being registered in the Watch panel (Watch1) as graphing target.

Up to 16 watch-expressions in the Watch panel (Watch1), from top to bottom are registered (see "<3> Reflecting the Watch panel (auto registration)").

Note, however, that this button is available only when the following conditions are being satisfied:

- The debug tool is connected to CubeSuite+.
- The program is halted.
- Real-time sampling analysis or Trace data analysis is selected as the analysis method.
- [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

Data collection mode is invalid on the debug tool.

# Caution If this button is clicked, the information on the registered graphing targets will be deleted (the graph being displayed will be erased).

#### (d) [Zoom] combo box

When selecting the zoom range, select the number of the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel (Zoom 1 - 4) (see "(c) Zoom").

Note, however, that this combo box is disabled during execution of a program.

#### (e) Zoom 1 - 4 check box

Specifies the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel to be displayed. Select the check box of the corresponding number to open the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel (Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) *1 - 4*) (multiple selections possible). In the default condition, no check boxes are selected.

#### (2) Chart area



#### Figure A-20. Chart Area

This area displays the relationship between values (Y axis) and time (X axis) in the registered graphing target, in a line chart.

The function of each item displayed in this area is as follows.

# Caution If Trace data analysis is selected, the changes to variables are not displayed when they occur while the variable is assigned to a register due to compiler optimization.

**Remark** If the acquired graph data exceeds the buffer capacity (10000 plots), then the oldest graph data is overwritten by the new graph data (ring buffer system). In this case, part of the graph rendering will be blank.



# (a) Graph

The graph shows how the value of a target registered for each channel changes as the program execution proceeds. If acquisition of graph data through Real-time sampling analysis fails, however, only time information is provided with no connection lines. Such period is called a lost section and appears in the graph after the program has stopped as shown below (the background color of graphs depends on the configuration of the [Lost] item in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box).

If the debug tool has failed to acquire any single unit of data regardless of the current display range of graphs, the following message appears in the Output panel.

"RRM lost or buffer overflow has occurred, during data sampling."



Figure A-21. View of Section Where Acquisition of Graph Data Has Failed

Remarks 1. Acquisition of graph data may fail for the following reasons.

- The target variable without a scope definition is outside the current scope at the time of sampling because it is a static variable inside a file or function.
- [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]
- Some data has been lost while the debug tool is in the Data collection mode.
- Other than the above (see "3.3 Trace Data Analysis")
- 2. The rendering color of the graph for each channel can be changed individually via the [Color 1-16] property in the [Channel 1-16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.
- 3. If Real-time sampling analysis is selected, the format of the line chart can be changed via the [Chart type] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel (see "(b) Selection of the chart type").

# (b) X axis (Time)

Displays the passage of time.

Grid lines divided in ten are displayed. The time per unit grid (Time/Div) for all channels can be specified with the [Time per grid[Time/Div] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel. The time display range depends on the method for acquiring the graph data (see "Table 2-11. Differences Depending on Method for Acquiring Graph Data").

# (c) Y axis (Value)

Displays the values of the registered graphing target.

Grid lines divided in ten are displayed. The value per unit grid (Val/Div) for each channel can be specified with the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] property in the [Channel 1 - 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

While the program is stopped, the axis line representing the origin (Value = 0) will be displayed as a dotted line in the rendering color of each channel.

- Caution The display range of Y axis (Value) depends on the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 16] property and [Offset 1 - 16] property setting, but if the obtained value is greater than the maximum or less than the minimum, nothing is displayed on the graph for that segment. Regardless of a range of current graph display, if a channel whose obtained values are always outside of the display range exists, then the message will be displayed on the Output panel.
- **Remark** The offset value for each channel can be specified in unit grids of Y axis with the [Offset 1 16] property in the [Channel 1 16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### (d) Trigger information

Displays the contents currently being set in the [Trigger] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel if the trigger function is used (see "Use the trigger function").

"-" will be displayed in this area if the trigger function is not used.

- **Remark** If Windows XP (English edition) is used for a host machine, the arrow mark indicating the direction of trigger edge may be displayed incorrectly in this area. In this case, follow the procedure described below to avoid this problem.
  - Select the [Start] menu of Windows >> [Control Panel] >> [Regional and Language Options].
  - On the [Regional and Language Options] dialog box displayed, select the [Language] tab.
  - On the [Language] tab, select the [Install files for East Asian languages] check box in the [Supplemental language support] field, and then click the [OK] button.

#### (e) Trigger level

Indicates the trigger level when the trigger function is used (see "Use the trigger function"). The value of the trigger level can be changed by dragging this trigger mark with the mouse. Note, however, that this operation is disabled during execution of a program.

#### (f) Trigger position

Indicates the trigger position when the trigger function is used (see "Use the trigger function"). The value of the trigger position can be changed by dragging this trigger mark with the mouse. Note, however, that this operation is disabled during execution of a program.

#### (g) Pop-up display

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a transition location on the graph, the information about that location appears in a pop-up.

The display format is as follows:

[Real-time sampling analysis]

ch1 - 16: Value name Value: Data value Time: Data value



[Trace data analysis]





#### Caution This function is disabled during execution of a program.

- Remarks 1. The [Location] information is only displayed both when the graph data is acquired via Trace data analysis and when the transition location information exists in the graph data (if the information does not exist, "-" will be displayed). In this case, furthermore, you can display the applicable location in the Editor panel by double-clicking the transition point (except for a graph that was restored by loading the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac)). Note, however, that the [Location] information may be invalid value when the graph data is acquired by simultaneously using a Trace event and a Point Trace event in the debug tool.
  - 2. The [Time] information is displayed in the following format:
    - Real-time sampling analysis: XXXsXXXms
      - Trace data analysis: XXXsXXmsXXXµsXXXns

#### (h) Cursor

These two cursors (Cursor-A and Cursor-B) are used to check the time and value on the X axis (Time) or Y axis (Value).

Under Cursor selection buttons, select the [X Axis (Time)] button to perform a cursor measurement for the X axis (Time), and the [Y Axis (Value)] button to perform it for the Y axis (Value).

The measurement results are listed in the Cursor information area.

Use the following operations to show or hide the cursors (the cursors are hidden by default).

Cursor	Setting (Show)	Clear Setting (Hide)
Cursor-A	[Ctrl] key + mouse click	[Ctrl] key + mouse double-click
Cursor-B	[Ctrl] key + mouse right-click	[Ctrl] key + mouse right-double-click

Cautions 1. Cursor-A and Cursor-B are not displayed during execution of a program.

- 2. When the [X Axis (Time)] button is selected for the target axis, you cannot set the cursors in the area on the left of "0s", regardless of whether the graph data exists.
- **Remark** The color of each cursor can be changed via the [Cursor-A color]/[Cursor-B color] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.



# (i) Zoom frame

Indicates the zoom range displayed in the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel (see "(c) Zoom").

You can specify different zoom ranges for four different Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panels by selecting the panel numbers in the [Zoom] combo box.

**Remark** The color of each zoom frame can be changed via the [Zoom-1 - 4 color] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### (3) Channel information area

The display range of this area can be changed by moving the splitter with the mouse. In addition, this area can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of the splitter.

Figure A-22.	Channel	Information Area
🛃 ch1: 🔺	(a)	Channel number
🔽 global_char_val	<b>←</b> (b)	Variable name check box
Val/Div: 100	<b>(c)</b>	Val/Div

#### (a) Channel number

Displays the channel number (ch1 to ch16).

#### Remark [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

If the debug tool is in Data collection mode, the icon displayed here changes to \$ from  $\blacksquare$ .

#### (b) Variable name check box

Displays the name of a variable (including register name/address expression) currently being registered in the channel as a graphing target, in a check box format ("none" will be displayed if no graphing target is registered).

The character color of the variable name is the same as the rendering color of the graph. Select the check box to display the graph corresponding to the variable (multiple selections possible). In the default condition, all check boxes where the graphing target is being registered are selected.

#### Caution [E1[RL78]][E20[RL78]]

When the debug tool is in Data collection mode, the variable name displayed here is not target for graphing.

Remarks 1. See "(1) Register graphing targets" for details on how to register the graphing target.

2. The color of the graph for each channel can be changed individually via the [Color 1-16] property in the [Channel 1-16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

#### (c) Val/Div

Displays "*the value per unit grid*" currently being specified with the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] property in the [Channel 1-16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

When the program is not running, double-clicking this label automatically adjusts the values of the [Value per grid[Val/Div] *1* - *16*] and [Offset *1-16*] properties so that the graph for the selected channel will be shown in the entire rendering area (the upper and lower limits of the display area indicate the maximum and minimum values of the graph data, respectively).



# (4) Cursor information area

The display range of this area can be changed by moving the splitter with the mouse. In addition, this area can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of the splitter.

Cursor:	Time)
◯ Y axis ( Target	Value) (a) Cursor selection buttons (b) Measurement result Cursor-A Cursor-B Δ (A-B)
Time: !	9s991ms973us34ns 19s992ms44us548ns 10s71us514ns (0.1Hz)
ch1:	548 1001 -453
ch2: !	54 100 -46
ch3: 1	1 1 0
<u></u>	<u></u> - /

Figure A-23. Cursor Information Area

#### (a) Cursor selection buttons

Select the target axis to perform a Cursor measurement.

Note, however, that this button is disabled during execution of a program.

X Axis (Time)	Set the cursor measurement target to the X axis (Time) (default).
Y Axis (Value)	Set the cursor measurement target to the Y axis (Value).

#### (b) Measurement result

This area displays the following measurement result from the cursor-A and cursor-B positions. Note, however, that the information below disappears during execution of a program.

Time	<ul> <li>When the target is the X axis (Time)</li> <li>Shows the time indicated by cursor-A, the time indicated by cursor-B, and the difference between the two (the cycle [Hz] calculated from the difference).</li> <li>When the target is the Y axis (Value)</li> <li>Shows "-"</li> </ul>
ch1-16	<ul> <li>When the target is the X axis (Time)</li> <li>Shows the value at the time when cursor-A indicates, the value at the time when cursor-B indicates, and the difference between the two.</li> <li>When the target is the Y axis (Value)</li> <li>Shows the value indicated by cursor-A, the value indicated by cursor-B, and the difference between the two.</li> <li>If no value can be obtained, "-" will be displayed.</li> </ul>

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions. Note that all these items are disabled during execution of a program.

23	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel. Note that this item is disabled if no registered variables exist.
A	Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops. Note that this item is disabled if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Set- tings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accordance with the setting on the Property panel).



#### [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab

Use this tab to display the acquired function information in a pie chart of the function execution times. See "2.13.2 Chart the function execution time ratios" for details on how to display graphs on this tab.

- Cautions 1. If the debug tool used does not support the Trace function, or if the debug tool's trace function is not enabled, then this chart cannot be displayed. Even if the trace function is enabled-condition, if there is no trace data in the trace memory, no chart is displayed on this tab, and then the following message will be displayed on the Output panel: "There is no execution time information."
  - 2. [IECUBE [78K0]] Because the trace time tag function is not supported, this chart cannot be displayed.





The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Toolbar]

# [How to open]

- On the toolbar in the Main window, click the witten and then select the [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab.
- From the [View] menu, select [Program Analyzer] >> [Analysis Chart], and then select the [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab.

# [Description of each area]

# (1) Chart area

This area displays a pie chart indicating function execution time ratios.



You can change the number of functions to display by setting from the [The number of functions displaying in the Execution Time(Percentage) Chart 1-4] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel (set to [10] by default).

The targets are charted in ranking order of highest proportion of execution time taken. Functions exceeding the number specified here are displayed together under "Others".

- Remarks 1. The colors of labels and background of a chart depend on the settings of "font color" and "background color" for the [Default] item in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box.
  - 2. You can expand or shrink the graph display from 10 to 100 % by rotating the mouse wheel forward or backward while pressing the [Ctrl] key (note that this does not apply to the font size of each label).

#### (a) Label display

Each function label is displayed in the format "*Function-name*[*proportion of execution time (%)*]". For static files, the file name is also included inside the parentheses ().

# (b) Pop-up display

When the mouse cursor is hovered over the chart, information about that function appears in a pop-up. The display format is as follows:

Function name	
Execution time [unit]	

Function name	Indicates the name of the target function. [CC-RX]	
	If the target function is a member function, then this will be displayed in the format of "Class name::Function name".	
Execution time [unit]	Indicates the execution time of the target function (this is the same value as the [Execu- tion Time[unit]] in the Function List panel). The [Unit] can be changed by the [Unit of time] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel.	





**Remark** The proportion of execution time is the same as the [Execution Time(Percentage)[%]] in the Function List panel.

# [Toolbar]

The toolbar provides the following items and functions.

Note that all these items are disabled during execution of a program.

	Acquires the latest data from the debug tool, and updates the contents of this panel. Note that this item is disabled if no registered variables exist.
Ч	Displays the latest information automatically by acquiring the information each time program execution stops.
	Note that this item is disabled if the [Refresh at program stop] property in the [General] category on the [Settings] tab of the Property panel is set to other than [Specify Individually] (this button is locked in accordance with the setting on the Property panel).



#### Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel

This panel is used to zoom in on the specified range on the chart displayed in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel.

Up to a maximum of four of these panels can be opened. Each panel is identified by the names "Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) 1 - 4" on the title bar. From these panels, you can zoom in on the specified range individually.

See "(c) Zoom" for details on how to display the chart on this panel.

#### Cautions 1. The graph on this panel cannot be updated during execution of a program.

#### 2. The graphing target cannot be registered/deleted on this panel.

**Remarks 1.** The display contents of this panel are updated when:

- Each time the graph displayed in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel is updated (except for the real-time display update)
- The zoom range is set or cleared
- The analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) is loaded
- 2. You can restore graphs currently being displayed on this panel by loading the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) which saves the data of the graphs (see "(6) Save the graph data to restore the graph").

#### Figure A-25. Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) Panel (Default)



You can display/hide the Channel information area and the Cursor information area by clicking the mark on the center of the splitter on this panel.





#### Figure A-26. Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) Panel

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]

# [How to open]

- On the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel, select the zoom 1 - 4 check box.

# [Description of each area]

(1) Graph control area

Figure A-27. Graph Control Area



#### (a) [Data source]

Displays the data source of the graph currently being displayed.

From chart data (online)	Indicates that the data source is the graph currently being displayed in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab.
From file (offline)	Indicates that the data source is the information form the loaded analysis chart data file (*.mtac).



# (b) [Zoom]

Indicates the color of the zoom frame currently being specified with the [Zoom-1 - 4 color] property in the [General] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

# (c) [Save] button

Opens the Save As dialog box to save the contents currently being displayed on this panel to the specified file (see "2.14 Save Analysis Information").

# (2) Chart area

Frigger: Auto,	ch1:440↑[Rising]	Position: 9060ms ┥	(c) Trigger infor	mation
				-
Time/Div: 121 (b) Y axis (Val	8ms T ue) (e) Curs	or-A	(e) Cursor-B	14s77ms

Figure A-28. Chart Area

This area displays a zoomed view of the range selected on the graph in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel.

The function of each item displayed in this area is as follows.

# (a) X axis (Time)

Displays the passage of time.

The time per grid unit (Time/Div) is 10% of the total time for the zoom range set in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel (cannot be changed).

# (b) Y axis (Value)

Displays the values of the registered graphing target.

The value per grid unit (Val/Div) is 10% of the value (difference between maximum and minimum) for the zoom range set in the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel for each channel (cannot be changed).

If the origin (value = 0) exists in the zoom range, the axis line represented it will be displayed as a dotted line in the rendering color of each channel.

Caution If the graph data obtained from the data source exceeds the minimum/maximum of the display range above, then nothing will be displayed on the graph for that segment.
### (c) Trigger information

Displays the contents currently being set in the [Trigger] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel if the trigger function is used (see "Use the trigger function"). "-" will be displayed in this area if the trigger function is not used.

#### (d) Pop-up display

When the mouse cursor is hovered over a transition location on the graph, the information about that location appears in a pop-up.

See "(g) Pop-up display" for details on its display format.

#### Caution This function is disabled during execution of a program.

#### (e) Cursor

These two cursors (Cursor-A and Cursor-B) are used to check the time and value on the X axis (Time) or Y axis (Value).

Under Cursor selection button, select the [X Axis (Time)] button to perform a cursor measurement for the X axis (Time), and the [Y Axis (Value)] button to perform it for the Y axis (Value).

The measurement results are listed in the Cursor information area.

Use the following operations to show or hide the cursors (the cursors are hidden by default).

Cursor	Setting (Show)	Clear Setting (Hide)
Cursor-A	[Ctrl] key + mouse click	[Ctrl] key + mouse double-click
Cursor-B	[Ctrl] key + mouse right-click	[Ctrl] key + mouse right-double-click

#### Caution Cursor-A and Cursor-B are not displayed during execution of a program.

#### (3) Channel information area

The display range of this area can be changed by moving the splitter with the mouse.

In addition, this area can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of the splitter (by default, this area is hidden).





#### (a) Variable name check box

Displays the name of a variable (including register name/address expression) currently being registered in a channel as a graphing target, in a check box format ("none" will be displayed if no graphing target is registered).

The character color of the variable name is the same as the rendering color of the graph. Select the check box to display the graph corresponding to the variable (multiple selections possible). In the default condition, the settings of the data source are reflected to these check boxes. Note, however, that this operation is disabled during execution of a program.



#### (b) Val/Div

Displays "*the value per unit grid*" currently being specified with the [Value per grid[Val/Div] 1 - 16] property in the [Channel 1-16] category on the [Variable Value Changing] tab of the Property panel.

## (4) Cursor information area

The display range of this area can be changed by moving the splitter with the mouse.

In addition, this area can be shown/hidden by clicking the mark on the center of the splitter (by default, this area is hidden).

Cursor: X axis Y axis	(Time) (Value) (a) Cur	sor selection button	(b) Measurement result
Target	Cursor-A	Cursor-B	∆ (A-B)
Time:	9s991 ms973µs34ns	19s992ms44µs548ns	10s71µs514ns (0.1Hz)
ch1:	548	1001	-453
ch2:	54	100	-46
ch3:	1	1	0
ch4:		-	-

Figure A-30. Cursor Information Area

### (a) Cursor selection button

Select the target axis to perform a Cursor measurement.

Note, however, that this button is disabled during execution of a program.

X Axis (Time)	Set the cursor measurement target to the X axis (Time) (default).
Y Axis (Value)	Set the cursor measurement target to the Y axis (Value).

#### (b) Measurement result

This area displays the following measurement result from the cursor-A and cursor-B positions. Note, however, that the information below disappears during execution of a program.

Time	<ul> <li>When the target is the X axis (Time)</li> <li>Shows the time indicated by cursor-A, the time indicated by cursor-B, and the difference between the two (the cycle [Hz] calculated from the difference).</li> <li>When the target is the Y axis (Value)</li> <li>Shows "-"</li> </ul>
ch1 - 16	<ul> <li>When the target is the X axis (Time)</li> <li>Shows the value at the time when cursor-A indicates, the value at the time when cursor-B indicates, and the difference between the two.</li> <li>When the target is the Y axis (Value)</li> <li>Shows the value indicated by cursor-A, the value indicated by cursor-B, and the difference between the two.</li> </ul>
	If no value can be obtained, "-" will be displayed.



#### **Output panel**

This panel is used to display operation logs for various components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+ and a list of locations that refer to the specified function/variable.

See "2.11 Display List of Referencing Location" for details on how to output lists of locations referencing a function or variable.

**Remark** This panel can be zoomed in and out by 100% in the tool bar, or by moving the mouse wheel forward or backward while holding down the [Ctrl] key.





The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [[File] menu (Output panel-dedicated items)]
- [[Edit] menu (Output panel-dedicated items)]
- [Context menu]

#### [How to open]

- From the [View] menu, select [Output].

#### [Description of each area]

#### (1) Message area

This area displays operation logs for various components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+ and a list of places that refer to the specified function/variable.

For details on the contents displayed in this area, see the section explaining the corresponding tab.

#### (2) Tab selection area

The origin of messages is changed when each tab is selected. The following tabs are available for the analyze tool.

- [All Messages] tab
- [Program Analyzer] tab
- [Find References] tab

**Remark** When the new message is output, "\*" mark is displayed to the left of the tab name.



## [[File] menu (Output panel-dedicated items)]

Save Output-Tab Name	Overwrites the contents that are displayed on the currently selected tab to the preciously saved text file (*.txt).	
	Note that when the file has never been saved or the file is write disabled, the same opera- tion is applied as the selection in [Save Output- <i>Tab Name</i> As].	
Save Output-Tab Name As	Opens the Save As dialog box to newly save the contents that are displayed on the cur- rently selected tab to the specified text file (*.txt).	

The [File] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

## [[Edit] menu (Output panel-dedicated items)]

The [Edit] menu for this panel provides the following items and functions.

Сору	Copies the contents of the selected range to the clipboard as character string(s).
Select All	Selects all the messages displayed on the currently selected tab.
Find	Opens the Find and Replace dialog box.
Replace	Opens the Find and Replace dialog box.

#### [Context menu]

The context menu displayed by right-clicking on this panel provides the following items and functions.

Сору	Copies the contents of the selected range to the clipboard as character string(s).	
Select All	Selects all the messages displayed on the currently selected tab.	
Clear	Deletes all the messages displayed on the currently selected tab.	
Tag Jump	Opens the Editor panel and jumps to the number of the corresponding line in the corre- sponding file of the message at the caret position.	
Stop Searching	Cancels the current search operation. This item is in valid when is not being executed.	
Help for Message	Displays help for the message on the current caret position. This item only applies to warning messages and error messages.	



### [All Messages] tab

This tab is used to display operation logs for all components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+.





The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]

#### [How to open]

- From the [View] menu, select [Output].

## [Description of each area]

#### (1) Message area

This area displays operation logs for all components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+. Note that messages that the analysis tool output during analysis are not displayed on this tab (these messages are displayed only on the [Program Analyzer] tab).

The colors of message display differ with the type of message as shown below (character colors and background colors depend on the configuration in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box).

Message Type	Display Example (Default)		ault)	Description
Normal message	AaBbCc	Character color	Black	Displayed with information notices
		Background color	White	
Warning message	AaBbCc	Character color	Blue	Displayed with warnings about operations
		Background color	Standard color	
Error message	AaBbCc	Character color	Red	Displayed when there is a critical error, or
		Background color	Light gray	when execution is not possible due to a opera- tional mistake

**Remarks 1.** When the output message is double-clicked, or the [Enter] key is pressed with the caret over the message, the Editor panel appears and the destination line number of the file is displayed.



- 2. Help with regard to the message in the line is shown by selecting [Help for Message] in the context menu or pressing the [F1] key while the caret is in the line where the warning message or the error message is displayed.
- **3.** You can save the contents displayed on this tab to a text file (\*.txt) by selecting [Save Output-All Messages As...] from the [File] menu.



## [Program Analyzer] tab

This tab is used to display only operation logs for the analyze tool out of those for various components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+.





The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]

## [How to open]

- From the [View] menu, select [Output].

## [Description of each area]

#### (1) Message area

This area displays only operation logs for the analyze tool out of those for various components (analyze tool, design tool, build tool, debug tool, etc.) provided by CubeSuite+.

The colors of message display differ with the type of message as shown below (character colors and background colors depend on the configuration in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box).

Message Type	Display Example (Default)		fault)	Description
Normal message	AaBbCc	Character color	Black	Displayed with information notices
		Background color	White	
Warning message	AaBbCc	Character color	Blue	Displayed with warnings about operations
		Background color	Standard color	
Error message	AaBbCc	Character color	Red	Displayed when there is a critical error, or
		Background color	Light gray	when execution is not possible due to a opera- tional mistake

**Remarks 1.** When the output message is double-clicked, or the [Enter] key is pressed with the caret over the message, the Editor panel appears and the destination line number of the file is displayed.

- 2. Help with regard to the message in the line is shown by selecting [Help for Message] in the context menu or pressing the [F1] key while the caret is in the line where the warning message or the error message is displayed.
- **3.** You can save the contents displayed on this tab to a text file (\*.txt) by selecting [Save Output-Program Analyzer As...] from the [File] menu.

#### [Find References] tab

Use this tab to display a list of locations referencing the specified function/variable.

See "2.11 Display List of Referencing Location" for details on how to output lists of locations referencing a function or variable.

- Cautions 1. This tab does not appear if the Display List of Referencing Location operation is never performed.
  - 2. Code in C/C++ source files that is referenced but is eliminated by the preprocessor during compilation (e.g. via "#if" or "#ifdef" statements) is not output as referenced locations.
  - [CX][NC30(Localised support)] Reference of a function that is assignment to function pointers is not output as referenced locations.
  - 4. Each time a search is made for referencing locations, the output list of referencing locations is cleared.



Figure A-34. Output Panel: [Find References] Tab

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]

## [How to open]

- From the [View] menu, select [Output].

## [Description of each area]

#### (1) Message area

This area displays the following list of locations referencing a function/variable on the Function List panel/Variable List panel (see "2.11 Display List of Referencing Location").

- **Remarks 1.** When the function name/variable name on this tab is double-clicked, the Editor panel appears and the caret moves to the line where the function/variable is defined.
  - 2. The color of the highlighted target function name and target variable name depends on the [Highlight] item in the [General - Font and Color] category of the Option dialog box.

**3.** You can save the contents displayed on this tab to a text file (\*.txt) by selecting [Save Output-Find References As...] from the [File] menu.

#### (a) Output format of list of locations referencing a function

The contents of the search results consist of the following parts:

#### Figure A-35. Output Format of List of Locations Referencing Function

	Start of finding all references
Γ	Target: Target function name
Δ -	Definition: File name (Number of lines): Line 1 of the location
	Reference(Execution Count: Number): File name (Number of lines): Line 1of the location:
	:
Г	A list of the functions which are being called by function Target function name:
в-	Colling function nome
U	
<u> </u>	
Г	A list of the variables doing a reference (read / write) by function Target function name:
c-	Reference variable name
L	:
	End of finding all references

	The location at which	the target function is defined and a list of locations referencing the target function		
	Target	Indicates the name of the target function.		
	Definition	Indicates the location at which the target function is defined. Note that if the information cannot be acquired from the cross reference file, then "None" is dis- played.		
		File name (Number of lines)	Indicates the file name <sup>Note 1</sup> at which the location in question exists. The number in parentheses indicates the number of lines (line number) in the file.	
A		Line 1 of the location	Displays a 1-line excerpt from the file at the location. At this time, the target function name is highlighted.	
	Reference	Lists the locations referencing the target function. If there is the Dynamic analysis information, then the number of times the target function is executed is included in parentheses (). Note that if the information cannot be acquired from the cross reference file, then "None" is displayed.		
		File name (Number of lines)	Indicates the file name <sup>Note 1</sup> at which the location in question exists. The number in parentheses indicates the number of lines (line number) in the file.	
		Line 1 of the location	Displays a 1-line excerpt from the file at the location. At this time, the target function name is highlighted.	
	A list of functions called within the target function         B       Calling function name         If no functions are called, then "None" is displayed.		tion	
В			ions called within the target function. I, then "None" is displayed.	
	A list of variables referenced (read/written) inside the target function			
C Reference vari- able name Lists the names of variables referenced (read/written) inside the target function If no variables are referenced, then "None" is displayed.		bles referenced (read/written) inside the target function <sup>Note 2</sup> .		

**Notes 1.** When the [File path] item is being displayed on the Function List panel (this item is not displayed by default), the absolute path of the file appears.

#### 2. [CA850][CA78K0R][CA78K0]

If a reference to variable C is placed between the definitions of functions A and B, variable C is output as a function referenced by function A. Also, for other than a reference to a variable, a prototype declaration of a function or a reference to a function (assignment to a function pointer variable) is the same operation as the above.

Figure A-36. Example of List of Locations Referencing Function (without Dynamic Analysis Information)



#### Figure A-37. Example of List of Locations Referencing Function (with Dynamic Analysis Information)



#### (b) Output format of list of locations referencing a variable

The output search results consist of the location where the target variable is defined, and a list of locations referencing the target variable.

Figure A-38.	<b>Output Format of List of Locations</b>	<b>Referencing Variable</b>
--------------	---	-----------------------------

Start of finding all references Target: *Target variable name* Definition: *File name (Number of lines)*: *Line 1of the location* Reference (Read/Write Count:*Number*): *File name (Number of lines)*: *Line 1of the location* : End of finding all references

Target

Indicates the name of the target variable.



Definition	Indicates the location at which the target variable is defined. Note that if the information cannot be acquired from the cross reference file, then "None" is displayed.			
	File name (Number of lines)	Indicates the file name <sup>Note</sup> at which the location in question exists. The number in parentheses indicates the number of lines (line number) in the file.		
	Line 1 of the location	Displays a 1-line excerpt from the file at the location. At this time, the target variable name is highlighted.		
Reference	Lists the locations refere ber of times the target va Note that if the informa	ncing the target variable. If there is the Dynamic analysis information, then the num- ariable has been read/written is included in parentheses (). ation cannot be acquired from the cross reference file, then "None" is displayed.		
	File name (Number of lines)	Indicates the file name <sup>Note</sup> at which the location in question exists. The number in parentheses indicates the number of lines (line number) in the file.		
	Line 1 of the location	Displays a 1-line excerpt from the file at the location. At this time, the target variable name is highlighted.		

- **Note** When the [File path] item is being displayed on the Variable List panel (this item is not displayed by default), the absolute path of the file appears.
- **Remarks 1.** How lines with variables described in "extern declaration" are handled depending on the compiler currently used is as follows:
  - [CC-RX][CX][NC30(Localised support)]

A line with a variable described in "extern declaration" is handled as "Reference".

- [CA850]

A line with a variable described in "extern declaration" is handled as "Definition".

- [CA78K0R][CA78K0]

A line with a variable described in "extern declaration" is handled as "Reference". Furthermore, if a line with a variable described in "extern declaration" and a line with the variable definition exist in the same file, then "None" is displayed in "Definition".

2. [CX]

In the definition of variables, a line with an assignment statement (e.g. "int variable = 10") is handled as "Reference".

Figure A-39. Example of List of Locations Referencing Variable (without Dynamic Analysis Information)

Target: global_a_
لوfinition: main.h(3): extern int <mark>global ه</mark> ; الم
لر;Definition: main.c(10): int <u>global a = 10</u>
Refrence: main.c(95): →global_pointer = & <mark>global_a;</mark> J
Refrence: main.c(112): >global a = 0; ]
Refrence: main.c(125): → →عامه العظم المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية المعالية ال
Refrence: main.c(129): →
Refrence: sub01.c(15): >result = tmp + <mark>global a</mark>

```
Figure A-40. Example of List of Locations Referencing Variable (with Dynamic Analysis Information)
```

```
Target: global_a,

Definition: main.h(3): extern int global_a;,

Definition: main.c(10): int global_a = 10;,

Refrence(Read/Write Count 0): main.c(95): —>global_pointer = &global_a;,

Refrence(Read/Write Count 0): main.c(125): —>global_a = 0;,

Refrence(Read/Write Count 0): main.c(125): —>global_a = 0;,

Refrence(Read/Write Count 0): main.c(125): —>result = sub01(global_a, global_b, global_c);

J

Refrence(Read/Write Count 0): sub01.c(15): —>result = tmp + global_a;,
```



#### Path Edit dialog box

This dialog box is used to specify the file when importing an information file (function list file (\*.mtfl)/variable list file (\*.mtvl)).

See "2.12 Import or Export Information File" for details on the import function.

Figure A-41. Path Edit Dialog Box

	Path Edit			
Г	Path(One path per on	ie line): 😱		
	%ActiveProjectDir%\F	<sup>-</sup> uncList_Sub2.mtfl		~
(1) —	Browse			<u>&gt;</u>
	P <u>l</u> aceholder:			
	Placeholder	Value	Description	^
(2) —	ActiveProjectDir ActiveProjectName MainProjectDir MainProjectName	C:\Test\Sample 78KOR_LH3 us C:\Test\Sample 78KOR_LH3 us	Absolute path of the Active project name Absolute path of the Main project name	e active pi e main prc
L	<	100	]	>
[Function buttons] -		ОК	Cancel	<u>H</u> elp

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Function buttons]

## [How to open]

- On the [Settings] tab in the Property panel, select the [Import files] property in the [Import / Export] category, and then click the [...] button.

## [Description of each area]

#### (1) Path edit area

This area is used to edit or add the file name including the path.

#### (a) [Path(One path per one line)]

Specify each function list file (\*.mtfl)/variable list file (\*.mtvl) to be imported, one to a line, including the path (up to 259 characters per line, and up to 64 lines can be specified). If you specify a relative path, specify the project folder as the base.

The file names including the path can be added by one of the following methods.

- Click the [Browse...] button, and then select a file.
- Drag and drop a file using such as Explorer.

### (b) [Browse...] button

Opens a dialog box to specify files to be imported. The selected file name is added to [Path(One path per one line)].

# Caution If an extremely long absolute path is specified as a relative path, an error could occur when clicking the [OK] button. In this case, designate the absolute path.

### (2) [Placeholder] area

This area is used to list the placeholders that can be specified to the calling property of this dialog box (ascending order). Double-click a line to display the placeholder adding "%" as a pre-fix/post-fix in the path edit area.

#### (a) [Placeholder]

Displays the placeholder.

#### (b) [Value]

Displays the character strings that is replaced by the placeholder.

#### (c) [Description]

Displays the description of the placeholder.

- Caution This area appears only when the calling property of this dialog box supports the placeholder function.
- **Remark** The available placeholders depend on the calling property of this dialog box. See the explanation of the calling property for details on the available placeholders.

## [Function buttons]

Button	Function
ОК	Sets the specified file(s) to the [Import files] property then closes the dialog box.
Cancel	Ignores the setting and closes this dialog box.
Help	Displays the help of this dialog box.



### Open File dialog box

This dialog box is used to select the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac) to restore graphs.

	Open File							2 🛛
(1)-	Look jn:	🚞 sample			~	0 🕫	P	•
(2)	My Recent Documents Desktop	⊠ sample.mtac						
_2) —	My Documents My Computer							
(3) <u> </u> (4) <del> </del>	My Network	<ul> <li>File <u>n</u>ame:</li> <li>Files of <u>type</u>:</li> </ul>	Analysis Cha	art Data(*.mtac)		~		<u>O</u> pen Cancel

## Figure A-42. Open File Dialog Box

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Function buttons]

## [How to open]

- On the [Variable Value Changing] tab in the Property panel, select the [Analysis chart data file] property in the [General] category, and then click the [...] button.

## [Description of each area]

(1) [Look in] area

Select the folder which contains the file you want to open.

#### (2) List of files area

This area shows the list of files that meet the conditions specified in [Look in] and [Files of type] areas.

#### (3) [File name] area

Specify the name of the file to be opened.



## (4) [Files of type] area

Select the type of the file to be opened.

Analysis Chart Data(*.mtac)	Analysis chart data file
-----------------------------	--------------------------

## [Function buttons]

Button	Function	
Open	Loads the specified file, and then restores graphs.	
Cancel	Closes this dialog box.	



#### Column Chooser dialog box

This dialog box is used to sort, show/hide the items (columns) displayed on the Function List panel/Variable List panel. If the Customize Display Method operation has been performed on one of the panels, then this dialog can also be used to reset these customizations to the default settings.





Figure A-44. Column Chooser Dialog Box (For Variable List Panel)

	Column Chooser	
	Variable Name	
	File Name	
	Function Name	
	File Path	
	Import	
	Attribute	
	Type	
	Members	
(1) —	Address	
	Size[Bytes]	
	Reference Count	
	🔽 🔃 Read Count	
	🔽 🕡 Write Count	
	🔲 🚯 Read/Write Count	
	🔽 🤨 Minimum Value	
	🔽 🛈 Maximum Value	
	Data Coverage [%]	
[Function buttons] -	Default Close	



- The following items are explained here.
  - [How to open]
  - [Description of each area]
  - [Function buttons]

## [How to open]

- On the Function List panel, click the 🛃 button.
- On the Variable List panel, click the 🛃 button.

## [Description of each area]

(1) Item list area

This area displays a list of all items (columns) that can be displayed in the Function List panel/Variable List panel (the items (columns) that can be displayed differ according to the microcontroller and the debug tool used). The display order of the items in this list, and the state of checkboxes, are the same as the current sort order and visible/hidden status in the corresponding panel.

Specify the checkboxes of each item to show or hide that item on the panel.

>	Displays this item on the panel.
	Does not display this item on the panel.
i.	Indicates that a message relating to information about this item has been output to the Output panel. Hover the mouse over it to display a pop-up with the last message to be output.

## [Function buttons]

Button	Function	
Default	Resets the display order and visible/hidden settings for each item in the Function List panel/Variable List panel to their default values.	
Close	Closes this dialog box.	

Remark The default display status for each item is as follows.

The order of [Item] in the table corresponds to the display order of items (columns) on each panel. Note that all display locking, display filtering, and other customization will be cleared. The available items are also limited depending on the microcontroller and debug tool used.

Table A-2.	Default Display	Status (Function List	Panel)

ltem	Status			
	While Disconnecting from Debug Tool	While Connecting to Debug Tool		
Function Name	Display	Display		
Class Name [CC-RX]	Display	Display		
Namespace [CC-RX]	Non-display	Non-display		
File Name	Display	Display		



Item	:	Status
	While Disconnecting from Debug Tool	While Connecting to Debug Tool
File Path	Non-display	Non-display
PE Information <sup>Note</sup> [V850E2]	Display	Display
Import	Non-display	Non-display
Access Specifier [CC-RX]	Display	Display
Attribute	Display	Display
Return Type	Display	Display
Arguments Count	Non-display	Non-display
Arguments	Display	Display
Code Size[Bytes]	Display	Display
Stack Size[Bytes] [V850] [RL78] [78K0R] [78K0]	Display	Display
Start Address	Display	Display
End Address	Non-display	Non-display
Reference Count	Display	Display
Execution Count [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display
Execution Time[ <i>unit</i> ] [IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display
Execution Time(Percentage)[%] [IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display
Execution Time(Average)[ <i>unit</i> ] [IECUBE[V850]] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display
Code Coverage[%] [IECUBE] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display



#### Note [V850E2]

This item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.

Item	Status	
	While Disconnecting from	While Connecting to
	Debug Tool	Debug Tool
Variable Name	Display	Display
Class Name	Display	Display
[CC-RX]		
Namespace	Non-display	Non-display
[CC-RX]		
File Name	Display	Display
Function Name	Non-display	Non-display
File Path	Non-display	Non-display
PE Information <sup>Note</sup>	Non-display	Display
[V850E2]		
Import	Non-display	Non-display
Access Specifier	Display	Display
[CC-RX]		
Attribute	Display	Display
Туре	Display	Display
Members	Display	Display
Address	Display	Display
Size[Bytes]	Display	Display
Reference Count	Display	Display
Read Count	Non-display	Display
[IECUBE2] [Simulator]		
Write Count	Non-display	Display
[IECUBE]		
[IECUBE2]		
[Simulator]		
Read/Write Count	Non-display	Non-display
[IECUBE] [IECUBE2]		
[Simulator]		
Minimum Value	Non-display	Display
[IECUBE]		
[IECUBE2]		
		<b>.</b>
	Non-display	Display
[IECUBE2]		
[Simulator]		

## Table A-3. Default Display Status (Variable List Panel)



Item	Status	
	While Disconnecting from Debug Tool	While Connecting to Debug Tool
Data Coverage[%] [IECUBE[RL78]] [IECUBE[78K0R]] [IECUBE[78K0]] [IECUBE2] [Simulator]	Non-display	Display

## Note [V850E2]

This item appears only when the selected microcontroller version supports multi-core.



#### Call Graph Search dialog box

This dialog box is used to search for a function/variable existing in the call graph displayed in the Call Graph panel.

Caution Searches can be performed only for functions/variables (function boxes/variable boxes) that appear in a call graph.



Figure A-45. Call Graph Search Dialog Box

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Function buttons]

### [How to open]

- On the toolbar of the Call Graph panel, click the 🔛 button.
- Focus the Call Graph panel, and then select [Find...] from the [Edit] menu.

## [Description of each area]

#### (1) [Search condition] area

Configure the search conditions.

If multiple search conditions are specified, then only a function/variable meeting all conditions will be searched.

#### (a) [Function/Variable Name]

Specify a function name/variable name to search.

You can either type character strings directly into the text box (up to 2046 characters), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

The previous specified function name/variable name is displayed by default (if it does not exist, then this is left blank).



#### <1> [Condition]

From the following drop-down list, select the condition for the character strings specified with [Function/ Variable Name].

equals	Searches for the function names/variable names that exactly matches the specified string.
begins with	Searches for function names/variable names starting with the specified string.
ends with	Searches for function names/variable names ending with the specified string.
contains	Searches for function names/variable names containing the specified string (default).

**Remark** You can also specify the function name/variable name with any one of the following methods.

- Drag and drop an arbitrary row of the Function List panel/Variable List panel to this area.
- Drag and drop an arbitrary character strings to this area.

#### (b) [Class Name] [CC-RX]

If required as a search parameter for a function/variable, you can specify the class name to which a member function/member variable to search belongs.

You can either type character strings directly into the text box (up to 2046 characters), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

The previous specified class name is displayed by default (if it does not exist, then this is left blank).

#### <1> [Condition]

From the following drop-down list, select the condition for the character strings specified with [Class Name].

equals	Searches for the function names/variable names that belong to the class exactly matching the specified string.
begins with	Searches for function names/variable names that belong to the class starting with the spec- ified string.
ends with	Searches for function names/variable names that belong to the class ending with the spec- ified string.
contains	Searches for function names/variable names that belong to the class containing the speci- fied string (default).

**Remark** You can also specify the class name with any one of the following methods.

- Drag and drop an arbitrary character strings to this area.

#### (c) [Case-sensitive]

Specify whether to search for characters specified in [Function/Variable Name]/[Class Name] [CC-RX] in casesensitive.

K	Searches with the specified characters in case-sensitive.
	Searches with the specified characters in not case-sensitive (default).

#### (d) [Parent Count]

If required as a search parameter for a function, you can specify the number of parent functions to search. You can either type a value directly into the text box (settable range: 0 to 65535), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).



The previous specified value is displayed by default (if it does not exist, then this is left blank).

#### <1> [Condition]

From the following drop-down list, select the condition for the numeric value specified with [Parent Count].

is greater than	Searches for the names of functions with more (greater than) the specified number of par- ent functions.
is greater than or equals to	Searches for the names of functions with at least as many (greater than or equal to) the specified number of parent functions.
equals to	Searches for the names of functions with the same number of (equal to) the specified num- ber of parent functions (default).
is less than or equals to	Searches for the names of functions with at least as less (greater than or equal to) the specified number of parent functions.
is less than	Searches for the names of functions with less (greater than) the specified number of parent functions.

#### (e) [Child Count]

If required as a search parameter for a function, you can specify the number of child functions to search. You can either type a value directly into the text box (settable range: 0 to 65535), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (up to 10 items).

The previous specified value is displayed by default (if it does not exist, then this is left blank).

#### <1> [Condition]

From the following drop-down list, select the condition for the numeric value specified with [Child Count].

is greater than	Searches for the names of functions with more (greater than) the specified number of child functions.
is greater than or equals to	Searches for the names of functions with at least as many (greater than or equal to) the specified number of child functions.
equals to	Searches for the names of functions with the same number of (equal to) the specified num- ber of child functions (default).
is less than or equals to	Searches for the names of functions with at least as less (greater than or equal to) the specified number of child functions.
is less than	Searches for the names of functions with less (greater than) the specified number of child functions.

#### (2) [Preview] area

This area displays all part of the call graph.

If the area currently displayed in the Call Graph panel is a portion of the entire call graph, then that area is shown in a red frame.



## [Function buttons]

Button	Function
Search Backward	The search uses the specified conditions, starting from the function name/variable name at the bottom of the call graph, and proceeding upward. The corresponding function box/variable box is highlighted.
	If a function box/variable box has been selected on the Call Graph panel, then the search starts from the corresponding function/variable, moving upward.
	Note that if an illegal value is specified, or the program is executing, then a message will appear, and the function/variable search will not be performed. If focus moves to this dialog box from a panel other than the Call Graph panel or the Call Graph panel is hidden, then this button will be disabled.
Search Forward	The search uses the specified conditions, starting from the function name/variable name at the top of the call graph, and proceeding downward. The corresponding function box/variable box is highlighted.
	If a function box/variable box has been selected on the Call Graph panel, then the search starts from the corresponding function/variable, moving downward.
	Note that if an illegal value is specified, or the program is executing, then a message will appear, and the function/variable search will not be performed. If focus moves to this dialog box from a panel other than the Call Graph panel or the Call Graph panel is hidden, then this button will be disabled.
Cancel	Cancels the function search and closes this dialog box.
Help	Displays the help for this dialog box.



#### Filter Settings dialog box

This dialog box is used to set the filter conditions when filtering the display of analysis information on the Function List panel/Variable List panel.

Caution The filtering configured via this dialog box and the Filtering results linked to panel are mutually exclusive functions.

For this reason, the two filtering functions here cannot be enabled simultaneously (when one of the filters is active, setting the other filter will disable all filters set to date).

See "2.6.5 Filter the analysis information" for details on the display-filter.

Figure A-46. Filter Settings Dialog Box

	Filter Settings		X
_	Filter conditions:		
(1) —	×	no condition	-
(2) —	→ <u>A</u> ND <u>O</u> R		
(1)	(Input the comparison value h	no condition	•
[Function buttons] -		)K Cancel <u>H</u> elp	]

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Function buttons]

#### [How to open]

- On the Function List panel/Variable List panel, click the filter icon ( \(\nabla / \nabla)), and then select the [(Custom)].

#### [Description of each area]

Configure the filter conditions.

In the First condition setting area (top)/Second condition setting area (bottom), you can specify up to two conditions. Use the Logical operator buttons ([AND]/[OR]) to set the two conditions as a single filter condition.

#### (1) First condition setting area (top)/Second condition setting area (bottom)

#### (a) Comparison value (left combo box)

You can either type the comparison value of for the filter (number or string) directly via the keyboard (up to 2048 characters), or select one from the input history via the drop-down list (maximum 10 items). By default, the comparison value set in the current target item is displayed.

#### (b) Condition (right combo box)

Select the condition for the comparison value specified in (a) above, from the drop-down list. By default, the condition set in the current target item is selected.



Item	Comparison Value	
	Numerical Value	Character String
no condition <sup>Note</sup>	Compared as numerical value	Compared as character string
equals		
does not equal		
is greater than		
is greater than or equal to		
is less than		
is less than or equal to		
begins with	Compared as character string	
does not begin with		
ends with		
does not end with		
contains		
does not contain		

Note If [no condition] is selected, then the comparison value will be ignored (not set as a condition).

#### Caution Use the top condition-specification area if you only wish to specify one filtering condition.

#### (2) Logical operator buttons

Select the logical relationship holding between the conditions specified in the First condition setting area (top)/Second condition setting area (bottom) via the following option button.

AND	Only information meeting both condition 1 and condition 2 is displayed. This is mutually exclusive to the [OR] button.
OR	Only information meeting either condition 1 or condition 2 is displayed. This is mutually exclusive to the [AND] button.

## [Function buttons]

Button	Function	
ОК	Displays the analysis information in the Function List panel/Variable List panel under the specified filtering conditions. If the Filtering results linked to panel was performed, then all display-filters linked to the panel conducted prior to this are deleted.	
Cancel	Ignores the setting and closes this dialog box.	
Help	Displays the help of this dialog box.	



#### Save As dialog box

This dialog box is used to save the contents of the Function List panel/Variable List panel/Call Graph panel/Analysis Chart panel/Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel/Output panel to a specified file.

	Save As						? 🔀
(1) -	Save jn:	🚞 sample		~	00	• 🖽 🏷	
(2)	My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents						
(3)	My Computer	► File <u>n</u> ame:			*	Sav	e
(4) —	My Notwork	Save as type:	Text file (*.txt)		~	Cano	:el

Figure A-47. Save As Dialog Box

The following items are explained here.

- [How to open]
- [Description of each area]
- [Function buttons]

#### [How to open]

- Focus the Function List panel, and then select [Save Function List Data As...] from the [File] menu.
- Focus the Variable List panel, and then select [Save Variable List Data As...] from the [File] menu.
- Focus the Call Graph panel, and then select [Save Call Graph Data As...] from the [File] menu.
- Focus the Analysis Chart panel, and then select [Save Analysis Chart Data As...] from the [File] menu.
- Focus the Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel, and then select the [Save] button.
- Focus the Output panel, and then select [Save Output Tab Name As...] from the [File] menu.

#### [Description of each area]

#### (1) [Save in] area

Select the folder to save the panel contents in the file.

#### (2) List of files area

This area displays a list of files matching the conditions selected in [Save in] and [Save as type].

#### (3) [File name] area

Specify the file name to save.



### (4) [Save as type] area

The following file types are displayed. Select the type of file to save.

Note that when the CSV format is selected, the data is saved with entries separated by commas (,). If the data contains commas, each entry is surrounded by double quotes (" ") in order to avoid illegal formatting.

#### (a) From the Function List panel

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format
Function List file (*.mtfl)	File format to import the function information (see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".)

# Caution Only items (column) and analysis information (rows) currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.

#### (b) From the Variable List panel

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format
Variable List file (*.mtvl)	File format to import the variable information (see "2.12 Import or Export Information File".)

## Caution Only items (column) and analysis information (rows) currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.

#### (c) From the Call Graph panel

Bitmap(Only the visible part) (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)
JPEG(Only the visible part) (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)
PNG(Only the visible part) (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)
Bitmap (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)
JPEG (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)
PNG (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)
EMF (*.emf)	EMF format (graphic file format)

# Caution All part of the call graph may not successfully be saved as a graphic file format if the project is too big.

- **Remarks 1.** When "(Only the visible part)" is selected, only the part currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.
  - 2. If the zoom function has been applied, then the image will be saved at the current zoom ratio (except for EMF format).



#### (d) From the Analysis Chart panel/Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
CSV(Comma-Separated Variables) (*.csv)	CSV format
Microsoft Office Excel Workbook (*.xls)	Microsoft Office Excel book format
Analysis Chart Data (*.mtac) <sup>Note 1</sup>	Analysis chart data file
Bitmap (*.bmp)	Bitmap format (32-bit) (graphic file format)
JPEG (*.jpg)	JPEG format (graphic file format)
PNG (*.png)	PNG format (graphic file format)
EMF (*.emf) <sup>Note 2</sup>	EMF format (Graphic file format)

- Notes 1. This format is only applied to the [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab of the Analysis Chart panel.
  - 2. Only the area of graph rendering is saved (trigger marks, channel information, etc. cannot be saved).
- Cautions 1. For the Analysis Chart panel, only the contents of the currently displayed tab will be saved.
  - 2. When the graphic file format is selected, only the part currently being displayed in the panel will be saved.

The items to be saved in the format other than the graphic file are as follows (except for the analysis chart data file (\*.mtac), see "(6) Save the graph data to restore the graph"):

#### - [Variable Value Changing Chart] tab

- Real-time sampling analysis				
[Items]:	Time	Value(Variable name)	Value(Variable name)	

- **Remark** Value(*Variable name*): Outputs always the value of the variable (if the value designates an unknown, this field is left blank).
- Trace data analysis [Items]: Time Value(Variable name) Value(Variable name) ... Location
  - Remark Value(*Variable name*): Outputs only the variable whose value has been changed (if the value designates an unknown, this field is left blank). Location: If the information does not exist, this field is left blank.
- [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab [Items]: Function Name Percentage[%] Time

### (e) For the Output panel

Text file (*.txt)	Text format
-------------------	-------------



## [Function buttons]

Button	Function	
Save	Saves the file with the specified name.	
Cancel	Closes this dialog box.	



## APPENDIX B INDEX

## A

Active project ... 41 Analysis Chart panel ... 129 [Execution Time(Percentage) Chart] tab ... 139 [Variable Valu Changing Chart] tab ... 131 Analysis method ... 49 Ascending order ... 31

## В

Break event ... 37 Breakpoint ... 37

### С

Call Graph panel ... 108 Call Graph Search dialog box ... 165 Circular call ... 115 Class/Member panel ... 119 Code coverage ratio ... 93 Column Chooser dialog box ... 160 Coverage function ... 9 Cross reference information ... 7, 72 Current row mark ... 37, 96, 105

## D

Data collection mode ... 46 Data coverage ratio ... 103 Defined location ... 34, 36 Descending order ... 31 Details view ... 111 Display range ... 55 Dynamic analysis information ... 8

#### Е

Export ... 41

#### F

Features ... 10 Filter icon ... 32 Filter Settings dialog box ... 169 Filters for displaying information ... 31 Function execution time ratios ... 59 Function list file ... 156 Function List panel ... 87

## G

Graphing target ... 46

#### L

Import ... 41, 156 Information file ... 41

#### J

Jump to the defined location ... 34, 36

## L

List of referencing location ... 40, 152 Lock display icon ... 31

#### Μ

Main window ... 66 Menubar ... 67 Method for acquiring graph data ... 50

## 0

Open File dialog box ... 158 Output panel ... 147 [All Messages] tab ... 149 [Find References] tab ... 152 [Program Analyzer] tab ... 151

## Ρ

Path Edit dialog box ... 156 Pie chart ... 59, 139 Pop-up display ... 55 Project Tree panel ... 68 Property panel ... 70 [Settings] tab ... 72 [Variable Value Changing] tab ... 78



## CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

## R

Real-time sampling analysis ... 50 Recursive call ... 114 RRM function ... 50 RRM function/pseudo RRM function ... 9 Runtime library ... 94

## S

Save As dialog box ... 171 Smart Analog ... 45 Static analysis information ... 7 Structure ... 102

## Т

Toolbar ... 67 Trace data analysis ... 50 Trace function ... 8, 50 Trigger edge ... 53 Trigger function ... 51 Trigger level ... 52 Trigger mark ... 53, 135 Trigger mode ... 52 Trigger position ... 53 Trigger source ... 52

## U

Union ... 102

## ۷

Variable list file ... 156 Variable List panel ... 98 Variable Value Changing Chart (zoomed in) panel ... 142

## W

Watch-expression ... 39 Whole view ... 110 Window reference ... 65



## **Revision Record**

Pov	Date	Description	
Rev. Dale	Page	Summary	
1.00	Sep 01, 2012	-	First Edition issued

CubeSuite+ V1.03.00 User's Manual: Analysis Publication Date: Rev.1.00 Sep 01, 2012 Published by: Renesas Electronics Corporation



#### SALES OFFICES

**Renesas Electronics Corporation** 

http://www.renesas.com

Refer to "http://www.renesas.com/" for the latest and detailed information.
Renesas Electronics America Inc.
2809 Socti Devlevard Santa Clara, CA 95050-2554, U.S.A.
Tel: +1-408-588-6000, Fax: +1-408-588-6130
Renesas Electronics Canaa Limited
1101 Nicholson Road, Newmarket. Ontario L3Y 9C3, Canada
Tel: +1-905-898-5441, Fax: +1-905-898-5220
Renesas Electronics Europe Limited
Dukes Meadow, Milboard Road, Bourne End, Buckinghamshire, SL8 5FH, U.K
Tel: +44-162-861-700, Fax: +44-1628-681-804
Renesas Electronics Europe Imited
Arcadiastrasse 10, 40472 Disseldorf, Germany
Tel: +49-211-65030, Fax: +49-211-6503-1327
Renesas Electronics Chring Co., Ltd.
The Floor, Quantum Plaza, No.27 ZhiChunLu Haidian District, Beijing 100083, P.R.China
Tel: +86-12-887-1801, Fax: +86-10-8235-7679
Renesas Electronics Hong Mong Limited
Unit 8001-1613, 16/F, Tower 2, Grand Century Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: +862-2866-9318, Fax: +862-10827-7889, 7-7890
Renesas Electronics Taiwan Co., Ltd.
This 1.467, 1.57, Fax: +862-10827-7889, 7-7890
Renesas Electronics Canage Century Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: +862-2866-9318, Fax: +862-0229/044
Renesas Electronics Taiwan Co., Ltd.
37, No. 38, Fu Shing North Road, Taipei, Taiwan
Tel: +862-2480-90279/04
Renesas Electronics Mangapore Pie. Ltd.
80 Bendemeer Road, Unit 806-162, Hylfux Innovation Centre Singapore 339949
Tel: +862-10200, Fax: +866-218300
Renesas Electronics Malaysia Sdn.Bhd.
Nut 906, Boko B, Menara Amoorp, Amoorp Trade Centre, No. 18, JIn Persiaran Barat, 46050 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Tel: +862-2583-3737, Fax: +82-2585-5141

© 2012 Renesas Electronics Corporation. All rights reserved. Colophon 1.3

CubeSuite+ V1.03.00

